Epilepsy, antiepileptic drugs and aggression: An evidencebased review

Martin J. Brodie, Frank Besag, Alan B. Ettinger, Marco Mula, Gabriella Gobbi, Stefano Comai, Albert P. Aldenkamp, Bernhard J. Steinhoff

Epilepsy Unit, Western Infirmary, Glasgow, Scotland (M.J.B.); East London NHS Foundation Trust, Bedford, United Kingdom (F.B.); UCL School of Pharmacy, London, United Kingdom (F.B.); Winthrop University Hospital, Mineola, NY (A.B.E.); Epilepsy Group, Atkinson Morley Regional Neuroscience Centre, St George's University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, London, United Kingdom (M.M.); Institute of Medical and Biomedical Sciences, St George's, University of London, London, United Kingdom (M.M.); Neurobiological Psychiatry Unit, Department of Psychiatry, McGill University, Montreal, Canada (G.G., S.C.); McGill University Health Center, McGill University, Montreal, Canada (G.G., S.C.); Division of Neuroscience, San Raffaele Scientific Institute and Vita-Salute University, Milan, Italy (S.C.); Epilepsy Centre Kempenhaeghe, Heeze, The Netherlands (A.P.A.); Maastricht University Medical Centre, Maasttricht, The Netherlands (A.P.A.); Kork Epilepsy Centre, Kehl-Kork, Germany (B.J.S.) Running title: Epilepsy, antiepileptic drugs and aggression

Corresponding author:

Professor Martin J Brodie

Professor of Medicine and Clinical Pharmacology

Director, Epilepsy Unit

Western Infirmary, Glasgow, G11 6NT, Scotland

Tel: (+44 141) 211 2534; Fax: (+44 141) 211 2072; Email: Martin.Brodie@glasgow.ac.uk

Number of text pages: <u>90</u>

Number of tables: <u>3</u>

Number of figures: 2

Number of references: <u>374</u>

Number of words in abstract: 235

ABBREVIATIONS:

AE, Adverse event; AED, Antiepileptic drug; AKT, protein kinase BAMPA, α-amino-3hydroxyl-5-methyl-4-isoxazole-propionate; AMPA-R, AMPA receptor; BAQ, Buss-Perry aggression questionnaire; CBCL, Achenbach child behaviour checklist; CHQ-PF50, child health questionnaire–parent form 50; CI, confidence interval; DA, dopamine; EEG, electroencephalogram; ERK, extracellular-signal-regulated protein kinase; FBC, focal brain cooling; GABA-R, GABA receptor; GAT, GABA transporter; 5-HT, serotonin; LGS, Lennox– Gastaut syndrome; MAO, monoamine oxidase; MedDRA, medical dictionary for regulatory activities; mTOR, mammalian target of rapamycin; NA, noradrenaline; NMDA, N-methyl-Daspartate; NMDA-R, NMDA receptor; PCP, phencyclidine; PK/PD, pharmacokinetic– pharmacodynamic; POMS, Profile of mood states; RCT, randomised controlled trial; SMQ, standardised MedDRA query; TLE, temporal lobe epilepsy; VGLUT, vesicular glutamate transporter.

Abstract

Antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) bring with them many benefits, but also many side effects, including aggression, agitation and irritability, in some patients with epilepsy. This review offers a comprehensive summary of current understanding of aggressive behaviours in patients with epilepsy, including an evidence-based review of aggression during AED treatment. Aggression is seen in a minority of people with epilepsy. It is rarely seizure-related, but inter-ictal, sometimes occurring as a part of complex psychiatric and behavioural comorbidities, and sometimes associated with AED treatment. We review the common neurotransmitter systems and brain regions implicated in both epilepsy and aggression, including the GABA, glutamate, serotonin, dopamine and noradrenaline systems, and the hippocampus, amygdala, prefrontal cortex, anterior cingulate cortex, and temporal lobes. Few controlled clinical studies have used behavioural measures to specifically examine aggression with AEDs, and most evidence comes from adverse event reporting from clinical and observational studies. A systematic approach was used to identify relevant publications, and a comprehensive, evidence-based summary is presented of available data surrounding aggression-related behaviours with each of the currently available AEDs in both adults and in children/adolescents with epilepsy. A psychiatric history and history of a propensity towards aggression/anger should routinely be sought from patients, family and carers; its presence does not preclude the use of any specific AEDs, but those most likely to be implicated in these behaviours should be used with caution in such cases.

Table of Contents

| I. Introduction | 11 |
|--|----|
| II. Aggressive behaviour in epilepsy: definitions | 13 |
| A. Aggression | 15 |
| B. Agitation: | 16 |
| C. Anger | 16 |
| D. Hostility | 17 |
| E. Impulsivity | 17 |
| F. Irritability | |
| III. Aggressive behaviour in epilepsy: clinical aspects | |
| IV. Neurobiology and psychopharmacology of epilepsy and aggression | 23 |
| A Epilepsy and aggression: neurobiological and neuropharmacological correlates | 23 |
| B. Neuropharmacology of epilepsy | 24 |
| C. Neurobiology and neuropharmacology of aggression | |
| D. Networks and neurotransmitters common to epilepsy and aggression | 27 |
| 1. Temporal lobes and hippocampus | |
| 2. Amygdala | |
| 3. Frontal lobes | 29 |
| 4. Hypothalamus | 29 |
| 5. GABA | |

| 6. Glutamate | 31 |
|---|-------------|
| 7. Serotonin | |
| 8. Dopamine | 35 |
| 9. Noradrenaline | |
| 10. Intracellular signalling cascades, genes and epigenetic gene regulation in ep | pilepsy and |
| aggression | 37 |
| E. Pharmacological targets of AEDs for epilepsy and for aggression | 40 |
| F. Conclusions: Why might AEDs induce aggressive behaviour in epilepsy? | 41 |
| V. Antiepileptic drugs and aggression in adult patients with epilepsy | 45 |
| A. Introduction | 45 |
| B. Review of data for each AED | 46 |
| 1. Brivaracetam | 46 |
| 2. Carbamazepine | 47 |
| 3. Clobazam | 48 |
| 4. Clonazepam | 48 |
| 5. Eslicarbazepine acetate | 49 |
| 6. Ethosuximide | 49 |
| 7. Felbamate | 49 |
| 8. Gabapentin | 50 |
| 9. Lacosamide | 50 |

| 10. Lamotrigine |
|---|
| 11. Levetiracetam |
| RCTs with behaviour-specific endpoints (n=1)51 |
| Observational studies with behaviour-specific endpoints or designed to explore |
| aggression/behaviour (n=10) |
| RCTs with aggression data extracted from overall AE reporting54 |
| Observational/open-label studies with aggression data extracted from side-effect |
| reporting |
| 12. Oxcarbazepine |
| 13. Perampanel |
| RCTs with behaviour-specific endpoints (n=0) |
| Observational studies with behaviour-specific endpoints or designed to explore |
| aggression/behaviour (n=0) |
| RCTs with aggression data extracted from overall AE reporting (n=13 publications)58 |
| Observational/open-label studies with aggression data extracted from side-effect |
| reporting (n=13)60 |
| Case studies (n=1)61 |
| 14. Phenobarbital61 |
| 15. Phenytoin |
| 16. Pregabalin |
| 17. Retigabine |

| 18. Stiripentol | 62 |
|---|----|
| 19. Tiagabine | 63 |
| 20. Topiramate | 63 |
| 21. Valproic acid | 64 |
| 22. Vigabatrin | 65 |
| 23. Zonisamide | 66 |
| C. Conclusions | 66 |
| VI. Aggression with antiepileptic drugs in children and teenagers with epilepsy | 69 |
| A. Introduction | 69 |
| B. Review of data for each AED | 69 |
| 1. Acetazolamide | 70 |
| 2. Carbamazepine | 70 |
| 3. Clobazam | 70 |
| 4. Clonazepam | 72 |
| 5. Eslicarbazepine acetate | 73 |
| 6. Ethosuximide | 73 |
| 7. Gabapentin | 74 |
| 8. Lacosamide | 76 |
| 9. Lamotrigine | 76 |
| 10. Levetiracetam | 77 |

| 11. Oxcarbazepine | 80 |
|---|----|
| 12. Perampanel | 80 |
| 13. Phenobarbital | 81 |
| 14. Phenytoin | |
| 15. Pregabalin | |
| 16. Primidone | 83 |
| 17. Retigabine | |
| 18. Rufinamide | |
| 19. Stiripentol | 84 |
| 20. Tiagabine | 84 |
| 21. Topiramate | 84 |
| 22. Valproic acid | 85 |
| 23. Vigabatrin | 85 |
| 24. Zonisamide | 87 |
| C. Conclusions | 89 |
| VII. Avoidance and management of AED-induced aggression | 89 |
| VIII. Overall summary | 93 |

I. Introduction

The past twenty years have seen the introduction of over 15 antiepileptic drugs (AEDs), many with unique mechanisms of action (Löscher *et al.*, 2013). Nevertheless, more than 30% of adolescent and adult patients with the common epilepsies continue to have seizures, despite receiving treatment with many of these drugs used either singly or in combination (Brodie et al., 2012). Outcomes in childhood epilepsies, excluding the genetic encephalopathies of infancy, are equally disappointing (Geerts et al., 2010). In parallel with these pharmacological developments has come an increasing awareness that people with epilepsy, possibly as many as 30% of the newly diagnosed population and up to 50% of patients with pharmacoresistant epilepsy, have complex psychiatric, behavioural, cognitive and social problems (Lin et al., 2012). Indeed, these problems often precede the onset of the epilepsy (Hesdorffer et al., 2012). The presence of psychiatric comorbidities contributes to the likelihood that seizures will prove resistant to both AEDs and to epilepsy surgery (Hitiris et al., 2007; Kanner et al., 2009; Petrovski et al., 2010). The situation is further complicated by the beneficial psychotropic effects of some AEDs and the adverse properties of others (Piedad *et al.*, 2012). Behavioural side effects that have been associated with AEDs include depression, aberrant behaviours, and the development or worsening of irritability, impulsivity, anger, hostility and aggression. While prior reviews have focused on the associations between AEDs and depression or aberrant behaviours, the specific topic of aggression in response to AEDs has been largely neglected. We have endeavoured in this evidence-based review to explore the neurobiology, epidemiology, presentation, clinical

relevance and management of issues relating to aggression in children, adolescents and adults with newly-diagnosed and chronic epilepsy exposed to a range of established and modern AEDs.

II. Aggressive behaviour in epilepsy: definitions

Aggressive behaviour in epilepsy has been the subject of many misconceptions and controversies (Schachter, 2007). In the context of seizures, aggressive behaviours have been observed in the pre-ictal, ictal, and post-ictal states (before, during, and after the seizure, respectively), although directed and purposeful ictal aggression has only rarely been observed (Delgado-Escueta *et al.*, 1981). Inter-ictal aggressive behaviours (during periods between seizures) have sometimes been attributed to the irritability described in what some have termed an "inter-ictal dysphoric disorder" of epilepsy (Blumer, 1997).

Medications, including some antiepileptic drugs (AEDs), have been associated with the induction or exacerbation of adverse psychotropic effects including aggression (Ettinger, 2006). Our knowledge of aggression and related effects such as irritability is based on reviews of predominantly spontaneous reporting of psychiatric symptoms in clinical case experience or in premarketing drug trials. One challenge in determining the rate and nature of AED-induced aggression is the fact that most studies are focused on the anti-seizure efficacy of AEDs, and on the capture of more traditional potential adverse events (AEs) such as fatigue or rash, and do not rigorously assess psychiatric symptoms. Furthermore, the terminology for aggression and related terms is not well-defined and not universally accepted even among experts in the field of psychiatry.

Some measures have been developed to detect or rate aggression-related behaviours, but these are rarely used in the context of premarketing trials of AEDs. Instead, psychiatric symptoms are typically reported by patients using informal terms that do not adhere to strict diagnostic criteria. These informal terms are usually standardised and categorised using the Medical Dictionary for

Regulatory Activities (MedDRA), an internationally-endorsed dictionary and thesaurus for medical terminology. For example, when a patient reports "feeling queasy" and this is entered into the study database, this is categorised into a more specific Preferred Term (nausea), to which other related symptom descriptors are also linked. Related Preferred Terms are grouped into High Level Terms (nausea and vomiting), which are in turn grouped into High Level Group Terms and ultimately System Organ Classes (gastrointestinal disorders). Standardised MedDRA queries (SMQs) have been developed (and extensively reviewed and tested) that can look across these groupings for terms that are related to the condition of interest. SMQs can be narrow (terms that are highly likely to represent the condition of interest), and thus have high specificity but low sensitivity; or broad, with higher sensitivity at the expense of more false positives (i.e. will select some AEs that will, on inspection, not be related to the event in question). Thus the narrow SMQ for hostility/aggression identifies AE terms that are very likely to be related (e.g. 'anger' and 'physical assault'). The broad SMQ also includes broadly related terms like "skin laceration" that will often not be related to hostility or aggression, but will be a direct result in some cases.

We considered agitation, anger, hostility, impulsivity and irritability as the most important terms that are related to and encompass aggression and related behaviours. We therefore used these terms to direct our searches for evidence of aggression associated with AEDs, and we review the terms here, in the way they are traditionally used in the psychiatric literature. None of these terms themselves are individual diagnoses in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 5th edition (DSM-5), but some (particularly irritability, impulsivity, and aggression) are used to describe important components and symptoms of psychiatric diagnoses (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

A. Aggression

Even in the fields of psychology or psychiatry, terms like aggression, anger, hostility or irritability have been used loosely and interchangeably. Proposed definitions have gone through numerous iterations. Dollard and colleagues defined aggression as "*the affectively driven attack on another with the intent to do harm*" (Dollard *et al.*, 1939). Feshbach proposed a distinction between anger-motivated hostile aggression and instrumental aggression (in which anger and intent to harm could be absent but harm does result) (Feshbach, 1964). DiGiuseppe and Tafrate returned to the concept of intent to harm, defining aggression as "*overt motor behaviour enacted with the intent to do harm or injury to a person or object, with the expectation that harm will occur*" (DiGiuseppe and Tafrate, 2007). Associated affective states may include irritation, frustration, fear and even pleasure (Campbell, 2009).

Aggression may appear as "hostile, threatening, and violent behaviors" (Onyike and Lyketsos, 2011). And it has been noted that "behaviors range from assertiveness to coercion (including the use of force) and from hostile attitudes and verbal abuse to threats, belligerence, and violence" (Campbell, 2009). There may be no, trivial or minimal provocation (Onyike and Lyketsos, 2011).

Aggression may be a symptom of diverse psychiatric conditions including "*delusional psychoses, dementia, agitated delirium, intoxication, conduct disorder in children or personality disorders (particularly antisocial, borderline, paranoid, and narcissistic types) in adults, and even adjustment disorder*" (Onyike and Lyketsos, 2011). Aggression also may complicate non-psychiatric illnesses because it can develop when patients feel disregarded or "*angered by perceived unfairness or mistreatment, or as a 'primary' symptom of the illness*" (Onyike and Lyketsos, 2011). Aggressive behaviours have also been described as an adverse psychotropic

effect of medications such as AEDs (Dinkelacker *et al.*, 2003). Indeed, Gollan and colleagues distinguished medically-related aggression from premeditated or impulsive types (Gollan *et al.*, 2005).

From an evolutionary perspective, aggression may have developed in humans for selfpreservation (e.g. protecting offspring), but also for "*retaliation, material advantage, and power*" (Onyike and Lyketsos, 2011). It can serve as a behaviour designed to attain a goal or defend against threats (Miczek *et al.*, 2002; Takahashi *et al.*, 2011). Aggression in some situations is a manifestation of "*appetitive drives*" while in others, it is a defensive behaviour (Onyike and Lyketsos, 2011).

B. Agitation:

Agitation is "*a state of pathologically intense emotional arousal and motor restlessness*" (Onyike and Lyketsos, 2011), typically associated with hyperactive behaviours such as handwringing or aimlessly pacing (Campbell, 2009), "*cursing, screaming, biting, and fighting, and it may evolve through a verbally or physically aggressive behavior*" (Comai, Tau, and Gobbi, 2012; Comai, Tau, Pavlovic, *et al.*, 2012). It is characterised by "*inappropriate verbal, vocal, or motor activity that is not explained by apparent needs or confusion* per se" (Comai, Tau, and Gobbi, 2012; Comai, Tau, Pavlovic, *et al.*, 2012).

C. Anger

Anger was defined by Spielberger as "*an emotional state, varying in intensity from mild annoyance to rage, that is accompanied by arousal of the autonomic nervous system*" (Spielberger, 1996). Spielberger distinguished the anger state (the experience of these emotions) from trait (a tendency toward recurrently experiencing these emotions). DiGiuseppe and Tafrate

proposed a more multi-dimensional construct defining anger as "*a constellation of specific uncomfortable subjective experiences and associated cognitions (e.g. thoughts, beliefs, images) that have variously associated verbal, facial, bodily, and automatic reactions*" (DiGiuseppe and Tafrate, 2007). They further emphasise that anger is experienced in "*people's conscious awareness and is communicated through verbalizations and bodily reactions*" (DiGiuseppe and Tafrate, 2007).

D. Hostility

An older literature describes hostility in the context of personality traits; i.e., "an attitude of resentment, suspiciousness, and bitterness coupled with the desire to get revenge or to have destructive goals for one's anger" (Endler and Hunt, 1968). Spielberger defined it as "the disposition to perceive a wide range of situations as annoying or frustrating, and the tendency to respond to such situations with more frequent elevations in state anger" (Spielberger, 1988). Both Spielberger and Barefoot divide hostility into cognitive components (e.g. negative beliefs, cynicism, mistrust), an affective or emotional component (i.e. varying degrees of anger) and the behavioural component (verbal or physical assault with intent to cause harm) (Barefoot, 1992), while others contend that the term hostility should be reserved for the cognitive component (Vollrath, 2006).

E. Impulsivity

Impulsivity may be described as "*acting without control or premeditation*" (Comai, Tau, and Gobbi, 2012), or "*behaving recklessly without regard to consequences*" (Hollander *et al.*, 2000). In less formal terms, it may be conceptualised as "*acting without thinking*" (Barratt, 2000) or without self-restraint, with a tendency toward 'hair-trigger' actions (Onyike and Lyketsos, 2011).

Campbell's Psychiatric Dictionary defines impulsivity as "*a predisposition toward rapid*, *unplanned reactions to internal or external stimuli with diminished regard to the negative consequences of these reactions to the impulsive individual or others*." They further note it to be "*a pattern of behavior consisting of rapid, unplanned actions which occur unexpectedly, without reflection or conscious judgment, and without regard for possible consequences*" (Campbell, 2009).

F. Irritability

Irritability is a term that is commonly used in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM) (American Psychiatric Association, 2013) as a component of psychiatric diagnoses such as Major Depressive Disorder or Generalised Anxiety Disorder (DiGiuseppe and Tafrate, 2007), but the term itself is not defined there. Irritability also accompanies many neurologic disorders such as dementia and is a component of the controversial interictal dysphoric disorder of epilepsy (Blumer *et al.*, 2004; Amiri and Hansen, 2015).

Born and Steiner's work (Born and Steiner, 1999) as summarised by DiGiuseppe, described five components of irritability:

"(1) a heightened or excessive sensitivity to external stimuli, (2) a negative affective state, (3) a state of physical and psychological tension that may suddenly and rapidly escalate, (4) reduced control over temper, proneness to anger, annoyance, or impatience, and (5) irascible verbal behavior outbursts, or even explosive behavior" (DiGiuseppe and Tafrate, 2007).

Piazzini emphasised the extreme sensitivity to stimulation of any kind and excessive response to "environmental, situational and emotional stimuli" (Caprara et al., 1992; Piazzini et al., 2011).

Coccaro defines irritability succinctly as "*a tendency to respond with negative affect in reaction to aversive stimuli or with hypersensitivity to aversive stimuli*" (Coccaro *et al.*, 1991, 2000).

To summarise, although there is a diversity of terms that relate to the concept of aggressive behaviours, in this review article we use the phrases "aggression" and "aggressive behaviours" to express the broad range of associated concepts including agitation, anger, hostility, impulsivity and irritability.

III. Aggressive behaviour in epilepsy: clinical aspects

There is clear evidence that psychiatric disorders are more frequently encountered in patients with epilepsy than in the general population with prevalence rates in the region of 20%–30% for mood and anxiety disorders and 2%–7% for psychoses (Lin *et al.*, 2012).

In general terms, the wide range of manifestations of aggression described earlier have been reported in people with epilepsy, by many different authors (Bach-y-Rita *et al.*, 1971; Maletzky, 1973; Maletzky and Klotter, 1974; Ratner and Shapiro, 1979; Leicester, 1982; Elliott, 1984, 1990; Stone *et al.*, 1986; van Elst *et al.*, 2000). However, in several cases, it was a general impression of aggression, not supported by scientific evidence, and possibly influenced by old-fashioned prejudices about epilepsy (de Boer *et al.*, 2008; Monaco and Mula, 2011). In fact, studies on the true prevalence of aggressive behaviours in people with epilepsy are scarce.

As stated earlier, psychiatric symptoms in epilepsy have been historically classified according to their temporal relation with seizures as peri-ictal, ictal, and inter-ictal. Ictal symptoms are the clinical expression of an epileptic seizure. Peri-ictal refers to symptoms preceding (pre-ictal) or following (post-ictal) the seizure while inter-ictal symptoms are those that occur in no clear time relationship to the seizures (Table 1).

Peri-ictal aggression is often associated with confusion or psychosis. Although pre-ictal (prodromal) aggressive behaviour has been described (Hughes et al., 1993; Devinsky, 2003) very little detail has been published. Aggressive behaviour has been reported in 22.8% of cases of post-ictal psychoses (Kanemoto et al., 2010). Aggressive behaviour as an ictal phenomenon is extremely rare. A large survey of several thousand seizures documented on video electroencephalogram (EEG) reported an incidence rate of 1 in 1000 for aggressive conduct during seizure (Delgado-Escueta et al., 1981). However, in all these cases, violent motor automatisms during seizures were misinterpreted as threatening or assaultive. In fact, although the aggressive act may appear orchestrated, it is poorly directed and does not involve intricate skills or purposeful and detailed behaviours (Marsh and Krauss, 2000). The aggressive conduct is directed towards nearby objects or persons, involving mainly pushing and shoving. Typical epileptic phenomena such as staring, oral and motor automatisms, may be present. The patient is usually amnestic for these episodes, expressing subsequent profound remorse (Devinsky and Bear, 1984; Herzberg and Fenwick, 1988; Fenwick, 1989). In the few cases reported from a series in monitoring units, aggressive automatisms were shown to be related to epileptic activity rising from the amygdala and spreading through the diencephalic regions (Lee *et al.*, 1998). No clear lateralising features were described, although associated symptoms point to the nondominant hemisphere (Marsh and Krauss, 2000). The attribution of violent behaviours to an ictal

event is not always simple and video-EEG monitoring always elucidates. Treiman recommended five criteria to determine whether a specific violent act was the result of an epileptic seizure: (a) an established diagnosis of epilepsy; (b) the video-EEG documentation of epileptic automatisms; (c) the video-EEG documentation of the aggressive behaviour; (d) the aggressive act should be characteristic of the patient's habitual seizures; (e) a clinical judgment should be made by the neurologist as to the possibility that the violent act was part of a seizure (Treiman, 1986; Marsh and Krauss, 2000). These video EEG studies also revealed that aggressive behaviour tended to occur as "resistive" violence, typically when an attendant went to assist the patient during ictal or postictal confusional states; the implication is that the patient may have misinterpreted the attendant's actions in their confusional state and may consequently have resisted aggressively (Treiman, 1986).

The available data, therefore, clearly indicate that aggressive behaviour in epilepsy is most commonly unrelated to seizures themselves. A recent paper focusing on homicide identified 30 articles and 176 cases (published up to 2013) involving alleged perpetrators with epilepsy (Pandya *et al.*, 2013). In 78% of cases, there was no temporal relationship of the homicide with seizures. In the remaining 22%, the violent episode occurred as a post-ictal event in the majority of cases (82%). Patients were usually young males, with low average intelligence and a history of behavioural problems starting during childhood. Alcohol abuse and stressful situations were precipitating factors. This is of interest when we consider psychiatric disorders associated with aggressive behaviour. DSM-5 states that aggressive behaviour can occur in association with disruptive, impulse-control or conduct disorders or antisocial personality disorder (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). These disorders are all characterised by problems in emotional and behavioural self-control and often start during childhood. Data from the Epidemiology

Catchment Area survey reported a 1-year prevalence of violent behaviours of 2.05% (2.7% for males and 1.1% for females) among respondents without any psychiatric disorder (Swanson et al., 1990). In the large DSM-5 chapter on impulse control disorders, intermittent explosive disorder is the most pertinent in this discussion. It is characterised by aggressive outbursts that should be impulse- and/or anger-based in nature and must cause marked distress, cause impairment in occupational or interpersonal functioning or be associated with negative financial or legal consequences. According to the DSM criteria (American Psychiatric Association, 2013), antisocial personality disorder is defined by a pervasive pattern of disregard for the rights of other people that often manifests as hostility and/or aggression. It also starts during childhood. Conduct disorder is often considered the precursor of the antisocial personality disorder. As for impulse control disorders, patients with antisocial personality disorder frequently act on impulsive urges without considering the consequences. This difficulty with impulse control can result in loss of employment, accidents, legal difficulties, and incarceration. Remorse is quite common after behaviours that are the result of poor impulse control. In contrast, a typical and distinguishing feature for antisocial personality disorder is the lack of genuine remorse for the harm they cause others, although these patients can become adept at feigning remorse when it is in their best interest to do so.

The lack of data about prevalence of these disorders in patients with epilepsy is quite striking. Despite the huge volume of publications on the controversial issue of personality changes in epilepsy, we could find no studies that have investigated antisocial personality disorder or impulse control disorders in adults with epilepsy, although it is of interest to note that in childhood epilepsy the prevalence of ADHD (in which impulsivity is a core feature) is common, around 20-30% (Hermann *et al.*, 2007). Studies investigating inter-ictal aggressive symptoms are

also limited. In the 1970s, Rodin reported the prevalence of aggressive behaviour as 4.3% in unselected samples of patients with epilepsy (Rodin, 1973), while Currie et al. reported up to 7% (Currie *et al.*, 1971). More recently, a multicentre study using a newly developed questionnaire suggested that people with epilepsy have slightly less aggressive behaviours than the general population, and that cognitive impairment and polytherapy are the major associated variables (Piazzini *et al.*, 2011). However, significantly more aggressive behaviour was presented in patients without comorbid psychiatric disorders than patients with psychiatric comorbidities. Prevalence rates for aggression were not reported, as aggressive symptoms were reported as a dimension. One research group has investigated the neuroanatomical correlates of aggressive behaviour in temporal lobe epilepsy, showing a reduction in neocortical grey matter in the frontal areas and amygdala atrophy, but no association with hippocampal pathology (van Elst *et al.*, 2000; Woermann *et al.*, 2000).

IV. Neurobiology and psychopharmacology of epilepsy and aggression

A. Epilepsy and aggression: neurobiological and neuropharmacological correlates

Aggressive behaviour is one of the psychiatric disorders that has long been described in people with epilepsy (Kligman and Goldberg, 1975; van Elst *et al.*, 2000; Sumer *et al.*, 2007). Both the epilepsy itself (Marsh and Krauss, 2000), and AED use, have been suggested as factors that can increase the risk of aggressive behaviour in epilepsy patients. In this section, we will examine this topic from a neurobiological and psychopharmacological perspective.

The underpinnings of aggression (Siever, 2008; Comai, Tau, and Gobbi, 2012) and epilepsy (Engel *et al.*, 2007; Scharfman, 2007; Moshé *et al.*, 2015) are clearly multifaceted, and some forms of pathological aggression associated with epilepsy have an underlying neurobiology that we are only beginning to understand. While well-characterised and approved pharmacological strategies are currently available for the treatment of the different forms of epilepsy (Kwan *et al.*, 2001; Moshé *et al.*, 2015), national and international guidelines for the pharmacotherapy of aggression are still controversial and regulatory drug agencies do not presently consider aggressive behaviour as a distinct disease (Comai, Tau, Pavlovic, *et al.*, 2012). Consequently, no medication is specifically approved for the treatment of aggression. One of the main reasons behind this lack of guidelines is that the complex neurobiological basis of aggressive behaviour has not yet been elucidated by fundamental and clinical research.

B. Neuropharmacology of epilepsy

Seizures, at a basic level, originate from an imbalance between excitatory and inhibitory inputs to cells, i.e. increased excitation or decreased inhibition. The result is an abnormal synchronisation of electrical activity in a group of active neurones and, depending on the site of origin and the subsequent brain structures and networks affected, seizures may produce a variety of clinical features and symptoms, and may remain localised or generalise across the entire brain. Epilepsy is a network disorder in which the normal physiological connections between cortical and subcortical pathways/regions are interrupted or disturbed.

The terminology and classification of seizures in epilepsy is currently under revision. Seizures are broadly defined as either focal – which originate within networks in one hemisphere – or

generalised – which originate and rapidly engage bilaterally distributed networks (Berg *et al.*, 2010). The older term 'partial onset' is no longer preferred, and the distinctions between primary and secondarily generalised (i.e. affecting both hemispheres from the outset, or progressing to both hemispheres after a focal onset) are not preserved in the new classification, but are still in widespread use. Seizures can then be described in terms of their type (for example, generalised tonic–clonic, absence, myoclonic, clonic, tonic, or atonic) and by their underlying cause (genetic *vs* structural/metabolic *vs* unknown). Many syndromes are also defined – such as juvenile myoclonic epilepsy (JME) and Lennox–Gastaut syndrome (LGS) – which are characterised by complex and specific clinical features, signs, and symptoms that frequently cluster together (Berg *et al.*, 2010).

At a cellular level, the electrical activity of neurons is under the control of ion transporters, pumps and ion channels which allow amounts of positively or negatively charged ions to flow in and out of cells. In turn, these pumps and ions channels are regulated by factors such as voltage or the binding of ligands either directly or via G-protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) (Kandel *et al.*, 2000; Dascal, 2001; Bean, 2007). The pivotal channels in these processes are Na⁺, K⁺, Ca²⁺ and Cl⁻ channels, which are also the target of many of the current available antiepileptic drugs (Table 1).

The major excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmitters are, respectively, glutamate and γaminobutyric acid (GABA) (Kandel *et al.*, 2000), and these neurotransmitter systems are also targeted by many other AEDs (Table 1). Monoamines including serotonin (5-HT), dopamine (DA) and noradrenaline (NA) represent another group of neuroactive compounds that regulate neural activity and thus could influence the initiation and spread of seizure activity (Starr, 1996; Giorgi *et al.*, 2004; Stefulj *et al.*, 2010); however these are not primarily targeted by any current AEDs.

C. Neurobiology and neuropharmacology of aggression

Aggression is a complex behaviour governed by several cortical and subcortical brain networks which are modulated by neurotransmitter systems including monoamines, glutamate, GABA, and by ion channels (Gedye, 1989; Sumer et al., 2007). The neurobiological impairments observed in aggression occur at genomic and transcriptional levels as well as at the level of the synthesis and the metabolism of various neurotransmitters and their receptors. The main receptors and enzymes involved in the neurobiology of aggression, and which are also targeted by anti-aggressive medications, include those involved in monoamine neurotransmission – serotonin 5-HT_{1A} and 5-HT_{2A} receptors, serotonin transporters, dopamine D₁ and D₂ receptors, dopamine transporters, α_{1-} and α_{2-} adrenoceptors, and the enzyme monoamine oxidase A (MAO-A) – the GABA system (GABA_A, and GABA_B, receptors, and GABA transaminase), the glutamate NMDA and AMPA receptors, and voltage-gated Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ channels (Siever, 2008; Comai, Tau, and Gobbi, 2012) (Figure 1). Genetic and epigenetic regulation of these neurotransmitters, channels and enzymes as well as the intracellular events following their cell activation/deactivation are also involved in aggressive behaviour (Comai, Tau, and Gobbi, 2012). For example, polymorphic variation in the gene for MAO-A (Manuck et al., 2000), and MAO-A gene promoter hypermethylation, which causes a downregulation of MAO-A activity (Checknita et al., 2015), have been associated with aggressive behaviour.

At a structural level, the study of brain lesions, brain injury, and imaging techniques have identified several regions as important in the pathophysiology aggression, particularly the amygdala, hippocampus, and frontal lobes (Bannon et al., 2015). Functional imaging techniques such as PET and SPECT provided further evidence for the contribution of the ventromedial cortex, limbic system, amygdala, and thalamus in impulsivity and aggression; in particular, a general reduction of activity in the medial temporal subcortical lobe was demonstrated (reviewed by Soyka, 2014, Perez-Rodriguez et al., 2012) in aggressive behaviour. In the search for possible imaging biomarkers of aggression, a reduced grey matter volume at the level of the orbitoprefrontal cortex and low amygdala volume have both been linked with predisposition to violence (Matthies et al., 2012; Pardini et al., 2014; Bannon et al., 2015). Collectively, although brain imaging studies have detailed important neuroanatomical information underlying aggressive and impulsive behavior, this knowledge cannot yet be used to predict aggression in humans. However, future imaging studies specifically designed to examine epileptic patients who display enhanced aggression or develop aggression following AEDs treatment, may help disentangling brain imaging abnormalities due to epilepsy or to aggression, and possibly to find a prognostic/clinical imaging marker of aggression in epilepsy. (Razafsha et al., 2015).

D. Networks and neurotransmitters common to epilepsy and aggression

EEG changes during seizures and their clinical manifestation reflect the localisation of the seizure activity (Engel *et al.*, 2007); subcortical structures (including thalamus and brain stem), may play a crucial role in the propagation and behavioural manifestations of epileptic seizures rather than just being a site of seizure origin (Norden and Blumenfeld, 2002).

1. Temporal lobes and hippocampus

One of the most common and studied forms of focal epilepsy is temporal lobe epilepsy (TLE). Seizures originate in the temporal lobes (either the inner surface/structures or more rarely the neocortex), and can be associated with psychiatric symptoms, including mood changes and aggressivity (Zhao *et al.*, 2014). The temporal lobe is also important in aggression: in milestone research by Klüver and Bucy, bilateral temporal lobectomy in rhesus monkeys reduced aggression (Klüver and Bucy, 1937). The temporal lobe is part of the limbic system that controls emotions and memory, and subjects with histories of extremely violent behaviour have shown metabolic abnormalities in the temporal lobes (Seidenwurm *et al.*, 1997); functional and/or structural abnormalities in neural networks regulating emotions have been related to an increased susceptibility for impulsive aggression and violence (Davidson *et al.*, 2000). TLE is often associated with an extensive loss of dentate hilar neurons and hippocampal pyramidal cells – the so called "hippocampal sclerosis" (Sloviter, 1994) – and interestingly, hippocampal pathology has been identified in pathological aggression (see later).

2. Amygdala

The amygdala has been implicated in epilepsy, particularly in TLE and in epileptogenesis, since the landmark studies by Penfield in the early 1950s (Feindel and Penfield, 1954) and later by Goddard (Goddard *et al.*, 1969). Since this early work, many studies have shown that different forms of epilepsy are associated with damage to the amygdaloid complex (23 distinct subnuclei in humans) and to its connectivity to the surrounding brain regions and to the cortex (Pitkänen *et al.*, 1998; Elst *et al.*, 2002; Takaya *et al.*, 2014). The amygdala is also implicated in aggressive behaviour: amygdalectomy in both animals and humans can stop aggressive behaviour (Terzian and Ore, 1955), and stereotactic amygdalotomy of specific amygdaloid nuclei (e.g. the lateral or

the anteromedial group) has been shown to control behaviour in highly aggressive, treatmentrefractory individuals (Mpakopoulou *et al.*, 2008).

3. Frontal lobes

Frontal lobe epilepsy, the second most common type of focal epilepsy, is also associated with aggressive behaviour during and after seizures (Gedye, 1989; Sumer *et al.*, 2007). Damage to the frontal lobes is implicated in violent and aggressive behaviour – patients with frontal ventromedial lesions consistently demonstrated higher rates of aggression/violence (especially verbal confrontations) than patients with lesions in other brain areas (Grafman *et al.*, 1996). Motor agitation and aggressive behaviour have also been shown in patients with orbitofrontal seizures (Tharp, 1972), further supporting the role of dysfunction in this brain region in aggression (Giancola, 1995).

4. Hypothalamus

Other brain areas implicated in the pathophysiology of aggressive behaviour and which are components of emotional regulation circuits include the anterior cingulate cortex, the amygdala, hypothalamus, septal nuclei, and periaqueductal grey matter of the midbrain (Figure 2). The hypothalamus is an important part of the diencephalon that is implicated in both epilepsy and aggression. Studies in cats have shown that the hypothalamus, in particular the anterior medial hypothalamus, is involved in the modulation of defensive rage behaviour (Gregg and Siegel, 2001). A positron emission tomography study in humans found low hypothalamic activity in male perpetrators of domestic violence and decreased correlations between cortical and subcortical brain structures (George *et al.*, 2004). Anterior hippocampal asymmetries have been demonstrated in antisocial and violent subjects (Raine *et al.*, 2004), and an inverse correlation

between hippocampal grey matter volume and lifetime aggression in borderline personality disorder (Zetzsche *et al.*, 2007).

Considered together, it is clear that neurobiological networks that are important in epilepsy are also common neural substrates implicated in aggressive behaviour. A summary of the networks and brain regions that are important in both epilepsy and aggression is shown in Figure 2.

Within these brain regions and networks, the receptors and ion channels that are implicated in both epilepsy and aggression are also the targets of AEDs and mood stabilisers. In addition, alterations at the level of intracellular signalling cascades, gene sequence or gene expression have been shown in both epilepsy and aggression in these areas.

5. GABA

Clinical and preclinical studies have shown that seizures are liable to occur with an increase in glutamate and/or decrease in GABA neurotransmission in the brain. However, the changes in glutamate and/or GABA levels are different in different types of epilepsy, animal models and brain regions (Engel *et al.*, 2007). GABA_A receptors are ligand-gated chloride ion channels and are the major inhibitory receptors in the central nervous system (Olsen and Tobin, 1990). GABA_A receptor expression, subunit composition, and function in epilepsy has been extensively reviewed recently (Houser *et al.*, 2012). Changes in GABA_A receptor expression and function have been reported in animal models of TLE (Peng *et al.*, 2004), and the composition and function of GABA_A receptors changes not only in epilepsy, but also after prolonged exposure to GABA_A allosteric modulators such as the AEDs diazepam and phenobarbital (Raol *et al.*, 2005).

GABA neurotransmission has been also been investigated in the pharmacology and pathophysiology of aggression (Comai, Tau, and Gobbi, 2012). The situation is complex, and

there is no clear agreement on whether GABA levels are decreased or increased in aggression, or whether enhancing GABA is anti- or pro-aggressive. For example, while Bjork *et al.* found a negative correlation between plasma GABA levels and aggressiveness in psychiatrically healthy people with a family history of depression (Bjork *et al.*, 2001), Lee *et al.* reported a positive correlation between GABA levels in the cerebrospinal fluid and impulsivity (but not aggression) in both non-medicated normal controls and personality disordered subjects (Lee *et al.*, 2009). Allosteric modulators of GABA_A receptors, including barbiturates and benzodiazepines, have been shown to influence aggression levels in rodents with an inverted U-shaped dose–response curve: moderate doses induce aggression whereas low or high doses reduce aggressive behaviour (Miczek *et al.*, 2002).

6. Glutamate

Glutamate is the principal excitatory neurotransmitter in the brain. It acts through ionotropic (NMDA, AMPA and kainite) and metabotropic receptors and plays a significant role in the initiation, spread, and maintenance of epileptic activity. Research has demonstrated that epilepsy is linked to dysfunction of the glutamate system at different levels: genetic, neurotransmitter release, and receptor expression (Bradford, 1995; Barker-Haliski and White, 2015). Studies have reported increased plasma levels of glutamate in epilepsy (van Gelder *et al.*, 1980; Janjua *et al.*, 1992), and sustained increases in extracellular glutamate levels during seizures in the epileptogenic hippocampus (During and Spencer, 1993). Focal brain cooling (FBC), which can suppress epileptic seizures in refractory epilepsy, has been shown to significantly decrease glutamate levels in patients who have elevated glutamate in the cortex and/or hippocampus during seizures (Nomura *et al.*, 2014). Glutamate is cleared from synapses by the membrane glutamate transporters (GLUT), and loaded into synaptic vesicles by the vesicular glutamate

transporters VGLUT1, VGLUT2, and VGLUT3 (El Mestikawy *et al.*, 2011). A recent postmortem study comparing VGLUT expression in the hippocampus, found significantly decreased VGLUT2 expression and significantly increased VGLUT3 expression in patients with TLE with hippocampal sclerosis, compared with autopsy controls (Van Liefferinge *et al.*, 2015). Glutamate receptors, both ionotropic and metabotropic have been extensively studied for their role in epilepsy in both human and animal studies (Moldrich *et al.*, 2003; Ghasemi and Schachter, 2011; Szczurowska and Mareš, 2013). Glutamate receptors are targeted selectively and non-selectively by several AEDs (Table 1), and novel glutamate receptor ligands are also under development as potential AEDs (Löscher *et al.*, 2013; Nicoletti *et al.*, 2015).

Attention was initially directed towards antagonists of NMDA receptors, but they failed in several clinical trials (Rogawski, 2011). Interestingly, the NMDA antagonists phencyclidine (PCP) and ketamine have pro-convulsant action at very high doses while at low doses they have anticonvulsant properties (Leccese *et al.*, 1986). Research then moved to AMPA receptors (Rogawski, 2011), and 2012 saw the approval of the first selective AMPA receptor antagonist, perampanel, for the treatment of focal seizures. The role of kainate receptors in the pathophysiology of epilepsy is becoming better understood, particularly in temporal lobe epilepsy, and this has been recently reviewed (Crépel and Mulle, 2015). Kainate receptors are located either presynaptically at both GABAergic and glutamatergic synapses where they control neurotransmitter release and are involved in presynaptic plasticity (Schmitz *et al.*, 2001), or postsynaptically in several regions deeply involved in epilepsy including the cortex, the hippocampus and the amygdala (Crépel and Mulle, 2015).

Few studies have so far investigated the role of glutamate in aggression (Comai, Tau, and Gobbi, 2012); however, there is strong evidence of the involvement of glutamate in the pathophysiology

and treatment of mood disorders such as depression (Kugaya and Sanacora, 2005; Niciu et al., 2014) that often co-exist with aggressive behaviour. Support for the glutamate hypothesis of aggression includes the demonstration of a positive relationship between CSF glutamate levels and measures of impulsive aggression in both healthy human subjects and subjects with personality disorders (Coccaro et al., 2013). Studies in mice with genetic modifications at the levels of the genes encoding for the NMDA and AMPA receptors have shown altered levels of aggression in the resident intruder test (Brodkin et al., 2002; Duncan et al., 2004; Vekovischeva et al., 2004), an animal paradigm of aggressive behaviour, suggesting a role for glutamate ionotropic receptors in aggression in rodents. In mice, the NMDA receptor channel blocker phencyclidine (PCP) produces a non-significant trend toward increased aggressiveness at low doses, while at high (near ataxic) doses, it seems to reduce aggression (Belozertseva and Bespalov, 1999). The fact that medications that can decrease aggression, such as valproic acid and topiramate, have inhibitory effects at NMDA and AMPA receptors (Comai, Tau, Pavlovic, et al., 2012) provides further supportive evidence for the involvement of glutamate in aggression; however, the association of these same AEDs with aggression in some patients with epilepsy shows that the mechanisms are complex.

7. Serotonin

Bonnycastle *et al.* were the first to demonstrate a link between anticonvulsant activity and serotonin (5-HT), showing that several AEDs, including phenytoin, significantly increased 5-HT levels (Bonnycastle *et al.*, 1957). Pharmacological agents that elevate 5-HT levels such as the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor (SSRI) fluoxetine and 5-hydroxytryptophan have anticonvulsant effects in several animal models of epilepsy (Pasini *et al.*, 1992), whereas agents

that reduce and/or deplete 5-HT such as parachlorophenylalanine, a selective and irreversible inhibitor of tryptophan 5-hydroxylase, increase susceptibility to sound-induced seizures (Schlesinger *et al.*, 1968). 5-HT receptors are expressed in almost all networks involved in epilepsy. With the exception of 5-HT₅ receptors, for which there is no evidence yet of involvement in epilepsy, Gharedaghi *et al.* have recently reviewed and commented on the role of each 5-HT receptor subtype in epilepsy and seizure susceptibility (Gharedaghi *et al.*, 2014).

Activation of 5-HT_{1A} receptors is anticonvulsant in various experimental seizure models. A study administering a 5-HT_{1A} agonist in lithium-pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus in mice, showed that hippocampal 5-HT_{1A} receptors are involved in reducing seizure severity while those located in extra-hippocampal areas contribute to delayed seizure propagation (Yang *et al.*, 2014). In patients with TLE, decreased 5-HT_{1A} receptor binding has been observed in the midbrain raphe, ipsilateral thalamus and the inferior region of the epileptogenic temporal lobe (Toczek *et al.*, 2003). Genetic inactivation of 5-HT_{2C} receptors in mice produces rare spontaneous seizures that are occasionally fatal (Heisler *et al.*, 1998).

In aggression, 5-HT has a central role, and hundreds of papers have examined this topic since the early 1960s. It was believed that 5-HT generally inhibits aggression, but recent findings challenge this hypothesis, showing that this may be limited to certain types of aggression, such as impulsive aggression, or perhaps instead to factors such as impulse control and emotion regulation (Krakowski, 2003). For example, the main metabolite of 5-HT, 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid (5-HIAA), is reduced in the cerebrospinal fluid of people with demonstrated auto- or hetero-aggressive behaviour, compared with people who have never shown such behaviour. These observations were made in suicidal individuals (Asberg *et al.*, 1976), in non-depressed men with a history with aggressive behaviour (Brown *et al.*, 1979), violent men in prison (Linnoila *et al.*,

1983), in impulsive arsonists (Virkkunen *et al.*, 1987), and in patients with a personality disorder (Coccaro EF *et al.*, 1989). The 5-HT_{1A/1B} agonist eltoprazine is considered a potent anti-aggressive agent (Comai, Tau, and Gobbi, 2012).

8. Dopamine

The role of dopamine (DA) in epilepsy is still debated, although there is evidence of dopaminergic system involvement in certain animal models of epilepsy and in various forms of epilepsy in humans (Starr, 1996). In particular, alterations of subcortical dopaminergic pathways may be specifically related to the motor manifestations of certain types of seizures (Norden and Blumenfeld, 2002).

In general, DA seems to exert an antiepileptic action, as demonstrated by the fact that the nonselective D_1/D_2 agonist apomorphine, with certain limitations, has anticonvulsant properties, while neuroleptic drugs which act as D_1 and/or D_2 antagonists have predominantly proconvulsant actions. This is important, as some medications used to control aggression are D_1 and/or D_2 antagonists (Comai, Tau, Pavlovic, *et al.*, 2012). Looking at the role of specific DA receptors in epilepsy, evidence from both animal (Turski *et al.*, 1988; al-Tajir *et al.*, 1990) and human (Ring *et al.*, 1994) studies has implicated D_2 receptors.

The dopaminergic system is mainly implicated in behavioural activation, motivated behaviour, and reward processing (Ikemoto and Panksepp, 1999), but evidence suggests it also modulates aggressive behaviour. CSF levels of homovanillic acid, the final metabolite of DA, are lower in impulsively aggressive violent offenders with antisocial personality disorder than in non-impulsively aggressive offenders with paranoid or passive-aggressive personality disorder (Linnoila *et al.*, 1983). DA receptor antagonists, particularly conventional antipsychotics such as

haloperidol which target D_2 receptors, have been used effectively for decades to treat aggression in psychotic patients. Even though DA has been hypothesised to be necessary for aggressive behaviour to occur, reflecting the motivational aspect of violence (Nelson and Chiavegatto, 2001; de Almeida *et al.*, 2005), the exact role of DA in aggression is still unclear (Comai, Tau, and Gobbi, 2012).

9. Noradrenaline

Endogenous noradrenaline (NA) seems to be generally antiepileptic: NA levels are decreased after seizures, depending on seizure type and brain region (Giorgi *et al.*, 2004), and AEDs such as valproic acid increase NA levels in the rat (Baf *et al.*, 1994). The antiepileptic actions of NA are very likely mediated by both α_1 - and α_2 -adrenoceptors; indeed, α_2 -adrenoreceptor agonists have been shown to suppress, and α_2 -adrenoreceptor antagonists to promote seizures in kittens (Shouse *et al.*, 2007).

In aggression, NA seems to play a permissive role, helping to determine whether an individual elects to fight or flee in response to a challenge (Miczek and Fish, 2005). Studies have explored the impact on aggression of experimental depletion or increase of NA levels, and of activation or inhibition of NA receptors. However, research is still limited and no clear positive or negative correlation has yet been demonstrated. Some studies report *reduced* fighting tendency after depletion of brain NA – in male mice with isolation-induced fighting, and intraventricular injection of 6-hydroxydopamine (Crawley and Contrera, 1976). Some studies, in contrast, report increased aggression (shock-induced fighting) after NA depletion in rats (Thoa *et al.*, 1972). The role of α_2 -adrenoceptors is important in mediating the effects of NA manipulations on aggression. For example, increasing NA levels with desipramine (a NA reuptake blocker), increases isolation-induced aggression in mice in a dose-dependent manner, and the α_2 -

adrenoceptor blocker yohimbine dose-dependently counters this increase (Matsumoto *et al.*, 1991). In addition, the α_2 -adrenoceptor agonist clonidine, which decreases NA neuronal activity by activating NA autoreceptors, has been shown to decrease pathological aggression in humans and is used largely in clinical settings in irritable autistic children, children with conduct disorder (Fava, 1997), and also in adults with aggression (Comai, Tau, Pavlovic, *et al.*, 2012). Clonidine is also of value in treating ADHD in children, particularly those with conduct or oppositional defiant disorder (Connor *et al.*, 1999, 2000).

10. Intracellular signalling cascades, genes and epigenetic gene regulation in epilepsy and aggression

Another important framework in which to consider in the neurobiology of epilepsy and AED development is the role of intracellular events – for example, intracellular proteins and signalling cascades, genes and epigenetic modifications (Löscher *et al.*, 2013).

The study of intracellular cascade events following receptor activation has been actively researched in epilepsy. In the pilocarpine-induced status epilepticus model, for example, increased phosphorylation of the mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs) extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK)-1, ERK2, and p38^{MAPK} has been demonstrated in the acute period (up to 12 hours after status epilepticus) and protein kinase B (AKT) in the latent period (5 days after pilocarpine induced status epilepticus) (Lopes *et al.*, 2012). These biochemical changes in the serine-threonine kinases which are implicated in neuronal survival and differentiation as well as neuroplasticity may, in turn, alter gene expression and produce long-lasting neuronal changes. However, ERK signalling has multiple roles during epilepsy-related processes; its activation can

contribute to acute seizure activity and might be necessary for epileptiform synchronization (Houser *et al.*, 2008). The mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) is a regulator of mRNA translation that is itself regulated by ERK and AKT (Li *et al.*, 2010). As reviewed by Cho, there is evidence to implicate abnormal activity of signalling molecules in the mTOR pathway in epilepsy (Cho, 2011).

There has been less research on the intracellular signalling cascades underlying aggressive behaviour, but as these cascades (and the GPCRs that activate them) are targeted by medications used to treat aggression (Beaulieu, 2012), it is reasonable to hypothesise their active involvement in the pathophysiology of aggression (Comai, Tau, and Gobbi, 2012). Aggressive behaviours are common among abusers of methamphetamine, and repeated injections of methamphetamine in mice have also been shown to increase aggressive behaviour (Sokolov and Cadet, 2006). In these animals, there were significant alterations in the expression of proteins involved in MAP kinase-related pathways in the striatum and frontal cortex (Sokolov and Cadet, 2006).

Regarding the specific involvement of genes in both epilepsy/seizure susceptibility and aggressive behaviour, studies have been very limited in number. Two genes that have been implicated in both seizures and aggression are the gene encoding the monoamine oxidase A (MAO-A) enzyme and that encoding the 5HT_{1B} receptor. In MAO-A knockout mice, which have high levels of 5-HT and NA, complex changes in seizure susceptibility are seen. After pentylenetetrazol kindling, the latency to seizure development is shorter in knock-out mice than wild type; however, the knock-out mice then have fewer seizures per day and shorter duration seizures compared with wild type, suggesting some protective effect despite the increased susceptibility to the kindling (Teskey *et al.*, 2004). Regarding aggressive behaviours, MAO-A knockout mice are more aggressive than wild-type mice, displaying decreased latency to attack

in the resident intruder test (Cases *et al.*, 1995). The only study in humans that explored links between epilepsy and polymorphisms in the gene encoding MAO-A was negative, but underpowered to detect minor differences (Stefulj *et al.*, 2010). The same study instead found a modest association between the G861C polymorphism in the 5-HT_{1B} receptor gene and temporal lobe epilepsy. Notably, a 5-HT_{1B} polymorphism has been associated with suicide history and personality disorder in humans (New *et al.*, 2001) and 5-HT_{1B} knock-out mice display increased levels of aggression in the resident intruder test (Bouwknecht *et al.*, 2001).

Epigenetic factors, including seizures themselves and AEDs, can alter neural network dynamics by interfering with signalling pathways, enzyme and receptor expression. Epilepsy can be influenced not only by alterations in genetic and environmental factors but also by a spectrum of dysfunctional epigenetic factors and processes (Qureshi and Mehler, 2010; Kobow and Blümcke, 2014). Indeed, hundreds of misregulated genes have been identified in human and experimental models of epilepsy following epigenetic chromatin modifications and DNA methylation. Modifications, such as DNA methylation, may accumulate over time following an initial injury, and a methylation hypothesis of epilepsy has been proposed (Kobow and Blümcke, 2012); such epigenetic changes may explain inter-individual differences in the emergence of epilepsy, for example following brain trauma (Machnes *et al.*, 2013). Interestingly, the AED valproic acid has been shown to inhibit histone deacetylases (HDACs) and thereby normalise expression of HDAC-dependent genes within the epileptic dentate area in rats with kainic-acid-induced seizures (Jessberger *et al.*, 2007).

The epigenetic modifications involved in aggressive behaviour have not been well studied. Evidence so far demonstrates a relationship between epigenetic modifications in the 5-HT system and aggression. In a recent study we found decreased MAO-A activity in antisocial

offenders, resulting from epigenetic modifications in MAO-A gene methylation levels (Checknita *et al.*, 2015). Methylation levels of the serotonin transporter gene promoter (SLC6A4) have also been shown to be altered in individuals displaying physical aggression during childhood (Wang *et al.*, 2012).

E. Pharmacological targets of AEDs for epilepsy and for aggression.

The pathophysiology of epilepsy is multifaceted, involving several neurotransmitter systems and many receptors, ion channels, intracellular signalling cascades, genes and epigenetic modifications (Engel *et al.*, 2007; Scharfman, 2007; Moshé *et al.*, 2015). Several of these possible mechanisms are targeted by current AEDs and are being targeted by new drug development. As shown in Table 1, the majority of current AEDs target primarily either the classical voltage-gated ion channels (Na⁺, K⁺ and Ca²⁺), or the GABA system, while many AEDs have mixed mechanisms, and others selectively inhibit other targets (e.g. neurotransmitter release by levetiracetam, AMPA receptors by perampanel) (Rogawski and Löscher, 2004; Brodie, 2010; Comai, Tau, Pavlovic, *et al.*, 2012).

Modulation of genes and epigenetic mechanisms by AEDs has also been reported in recent years (Comai, Tau, and Gobbi, 2012; Comai, Tau, Pavlovic, *et al.*, 2012). Levetiracetam has a clear and distinct mechanism of action; it acts on the SV2A integral membrane glycoprotein present on all synaptic vesicles (Lynch *et al.*, 2004). Very recent work by Vogl *et al.* in superior cervical ganglion neurons demonstrated that SV2A maintained normal neurotransmission by regulating readily releasable pool size, had a facilitatory role in recovery from synaptic depression, and impaired presynaptic voltage-dependent Ca²⁺ channel current density (Vogl *et al.*, 2015).

Specific details on the mechanisms of action of AEDs at the level of receptors and ion channels have been extensively reviewed (Kwan *et al.*, 2001; Löscher *et al.*, 2013; Moshé *et al.*, 2015).

Many AEDs are also used to treat aggression in psychiatric populations; for example, in patients with schizophrenia, schizoaffective disorders, bipolar disorders, and autism spectrum disorders (Comai, Tau, Pavlovic, *et al.*, 2012). AEDs such as valproic acid, topiramate, gabapentin and lamotrigine are frequently used, as are those targeting ion channels, including carbamazepine, oxcarbazepine, lamotrigine and phenytoin (Comai, Tau, Pavlovic, *et al.*, 2012) (Table 1).

The atypical antipsychotics clozapine, olanzapine, quetiapine and risperidone, and also the conventional antipsychotic haloperidol, which are high-affinity antagonists at 5-HT_{2A} and/or 5-HT_{1A} receptors, and D₂ receptor antagonists, are also widely used "off-label" to attenuate aggressive behaviour (Gobbi *et al.*, 1999; Comai, Tau, Pavlovic, *et al.*, 2012). The rationale derives from the abnormalities of 5-HT and DA systems in the pathophysiology of aggressive behaviour (Comai, Tau, and Gobbi, 2012). Clozapine has been demonstrated to be superior to olanzapine and haloperidol in the control of aggression (Volavka *et al.*, 2004). In more resistant cases, the combination of clozapine and an AED such as valproic acid remains the most effective treatment (Gobbi and Debonnel, 2003).

F. Conclusions: Why might AEDs induce aggressive behaviour in epilepsy?

There is a complex comorbidity between aggression and epilepsy, and in this section we have shown that they also have complex and overlapping pathophysiology. In the following sections, the evidence for a link between aggressive behaviour and AEDs in people with epilepsy is reviewed. A critical question is, therefore, how can an AED apparently precipitate aggression in some people with epilepsy but improve aggressive behaviours in other people. Here, we propose some speculations and hypotheses and speculation on this topic, based on common neurobiological correlates between epilepsy and aggression.

i) Paradoxical pro-aggressive effects of enhancing GABA neurotransmission. The GABA system has the potential for both inhibitory and excitatory actions. In the neonatal brain, GABA is excitatory and not inhibitory, due to the high intracellular concentration of chloride (Ben-Ari and Holmes, 2006). In the mature brain, rhythmic afterdischarge of pyramidal CA1 cells after cessation of the stimulus relies on a powerful GABA_A-mediated excitation mechanism (Fujiwara-Tsukamoto et al., 2003). In adults with TLE, the morphology, the hippocampal expression and subcellular distribution of GABAA receptor subunits is markedly altered (Loup et al., 2000) and, in mature neurons, recurrent and prolonged seizures may trigger a pathological reemergence of immature excitatory features of GABA_A receptors (Galanopoulou, 2008). Moreover, TLE is often characterised by hippocampal sclerosis and thus depletion of GABAergic interneurons and glutamatergic hilar mossy cells, by mossy-fibre (with colocalization of GABA and glutamate receptors) sprouting and synaptic reorganization in the dentate gyrus (Jinde *et al.*, 2013). We hypothesise that in the epileptic brain, many modifications in GABA receptors and GABA-ergic neurons can occur, such that agents enhancing GABA neurotransmission (which decrease aggressive behaviours in subjects without epilepsy) can, depending on the brain region, have the opposite impact of triggering, rather than decreasing, aggression.

ii) Dose-dependent and opposite effects of NMDA receptor antagonists on epilepsy and *aggression*. The glutamatergic system, like the GABA system, may have dose-dependent opposite effects. Depending on the dose, NMDA receptor blockers such as PCP appear to have

both pro- and anti-epileptic as well as pro- and anti-aggressive properties (Leccese *et al.*, 1986; Belozertseva and Bespalov, 1999). In particular, PCP at low doses is antiepileptic but proaggressive, while the opposite is observed at high doses. Increased aggression might consequently occur when AEDs that have an NMDA receptor-inhibitory component to their action are used at doses that have minimal NMDA receptor antagonism. Some subtypes of epilepsy, such as temporal lobe epilepsy, can be associated with a reshaping of glutamatergic neurons and receptors in the hippocampus; consequently, drugs blocking glutamatergic receptors may have different or opposing effect in the epileptic brain than in non-epileptic brains.

iii) Genetic predisposition and decreased dopaminergic activity. A recent association study set out to explore whether there was a genetic basis that predisposes some patients to develop behavioural AEs during levetiracetam treatment. They identified several polymorphisms, all of which were associated with reduced dopaminergic activity (variations in dopamine-βhydroxylase, catechol-O-methyltransferase, and an intracellular D₂-receptor binding protein), which seem to predispose epilepsy patients treated with levetiracetam to develop aggression (Helmstaedter *et al.*, 2013). It is not yet known whether this result is specific to levetiracetam, or whether reduced dopaminergic activity will predispose epilepsy patients to behavioural AEs with other AEDs

iv) Forced normalisation. Finally, the sometimes controversial forced normalisation theory is an attempt to explain the occasional observation of a paradoxical inverse relationship between epileptiform abnormality in the EEG and psychiatric symptoms. It was first described in 1953 by Heinrich Landolt who observed that EEGs paradoxically normalised and seizure activity was inhibited during psychotic episodes (Landolt, 1953). The "forced-normalisation" phenomenon is similar to but distinct from the concept of the "alternative psychosis" or "reciprocal psychosis"

(that psychosis is better when seizures are worse and psychosis is worse when seizures are better/controlled – also see later). This hypothesis was supported by epidemiological studies that found lower seizure frequency in epilepsy patients with psychosis, and studies reporting relatively few cases involving comorbid schizophrenia and epilepsy (Schmitz and Trimble, 1992). This observation can be extended to psychiatric phenomena other than psychosis, such as hypomania/mania, aggression, depression, and anxiety (Trimble and Schmitz, 1998). Therefore, the psychiatric adverse effects seen during AED treatment may not be a direct adverse psychotropic effect of the AED but rather a consequence of the suppression of seizures. This inverse link between seizure control and psychiatric symptoms (Flor-Henry, 1983), deserves further research, as it has far-reaching implications. Studies are needed to determine whether psychiatric symptoms seen with AEDs in epilepsy patients are side effects with no prognostic or clinical value, a necessary consequence of seizure control, or whether they could be a stage of a complex and progressive phenomenon leading to a chronic psychiatric disorder (Mula et al., 2007). This is an important distinction, and future research should focus on clarifying the complex relationships between seizures and aggressive behaviour.

V. Antiepileptic drugs and aggression in adult patients with epilepsy

A. Introduction

We screened the literature for articles containing references to AED treatment and aggressionrelated behaviour (aggression, agitation, anger, assault, homicide/homicidality, hostility, impulsivity, irritability), and selected relevant reports in epilepsy populations (see Supplemental information A for search strategy and evaluation). The full listing of relevant studies retrieved for each AED, and brief data summary, are in Supplemental table S-1. Relevant information from previous systematic reviews, of individual drugs or of AEDs as a class, has been included where relevant. We also reviewed product labels for information about aggression-related behaviours, as an up-to-date source of relevant adverse reactions in both clinical studies and post-marketing experience (Table 3).

Our literature search and analysis captures only formally reported events of aggressive behaviour, and aims to identify large-scale, consistent patterns. As clinicians, we all have anecdotal experience of aberrant behaviours that appear in an individual patient after the addition of an AED, and which resolve on its removal. We have experienced this with all AEDs, including those which have no formal reports of aggression. Every patient is an individual, and each subtype of epilepsy is different, so while we have identified some broad trends we acknowledge that aberrant aggressive behaviour may develop in the occasional individual with an AED that is not usually associated with such behaviour. Additional confounding factors that may result in incorrect attribution of behavioural disturbance to a specific AED are discussed elsewhere in this paper and in previous publications (Besag, 2001b).

B. Review of data for each AED

The majority of studies we retrieved focused on one AED. Those that included a number of AEDs are discussed separately under each AED heading. One study included sufficient patients and AEDs to allow some comparisons of psychiatric side effects between the AEDs and merits discussion here. A retrospective chart review was conducted of adult outpatients seen between 2000 and 2005 at a US epilepsy centre; this included 1394 patients who had taken one of the newer AEDs (at the time): gabapentin, lamotrigine, levetiracetam, topiramate, tiagabine, vigabatrin, and zonisamide (Weintraub et al., 2007). Overall, 16% of patients experienced psychiatric/behavioural side effects. The highest rates were seen with levetiracetam (16% incidence and 8% discontinuations, significantly higher than average, p<0.001) and tiagabine (not significant, probably due to low patient numbers); intermediate rates with topiramate and zonisamide; and low rates with gabapentin (0.6% incidence, significantly lower than average, p<0.001), lamotrigine (4.8% incidence, p<0.001), and vigabatrin, felbamate, and oxcarbazepine (not significant, probably due to low patient numbers). A past psychiatric history was the most significant predictor of AED-related behavioural/psychiatric side effects (Weintraub et al., 2007).

1. Brivaracetam

Brivaracetam is included in this paper because it is currently under review for approval as adjunctive treatment of focal epilepsy with or without secondary generaliseation. Our searches retrieved no published studies with brivaracetam that included any of our key search terms.

Manual searches for brivaracetam RCTs identified three Phase III studies (Victor Biton *et al.*, 2014; Kwan *et al.*, 2014; Ryvlin *et al.*, 2014) and two Phase IIb studies (French *et al.*, 2010; Van Paesschen *et al.*, 2013) which reported AEs (Supplemental table S-1). Irritability was seen in ~5% of patients with 50 mg/day (*vs* 2–4% with placebo) in three of the four studies (Van Paesschen *et al.*, 2013; Biton *et al.*, 2014a; Ryvlin *et al.*, 2014). Discontinuation of brivaracetam was most often prompted by psychiatric AEs (including aggression and irritability) in two studies (Biton *et al.*, 2014a; Ryvlin *et al.*, 2014). A *post-hoc* meta-analysis across these Phase II/III studies reported that 6.8% of brivaracetam patients had non-psychotic behavioural AEs, compared with 4.2% in the placebo group. This incidence is lower than across the Phase III studies with levetiracetam (10.9% *vs* 4.8% with placebo) (D'Souza *et al.*, 2012).

2. Carbamazepine

One RCT with behaviour-specific measures was found. This study used a withdrawal design to show that in seizure-free epilepsy patients treated with AEDs (both overall, and in the carbamazepine subgroup), there was a small improvement in depression and in 'brooding' after withdrawal of AED, compared to the group that continued AEDs (Hessen et al., 2007), suggesting carbamazepine may negatively affect mood. No measures directly related to aggression, e.g. irritability, anger, were reported. However, anecdotal experience of this review's authors suggests that carbamazepine may have mood-stabilising properties in some epilepsy patients; we have observed deterioration in mood after withdrawal of carbamazepine.

No carbamazepine RCTs that reported aggression-related behavioural AEs were retrieved by our searches.

Four observational studies were retrieved: two showed slight evidence of aggression-related behaviours with carbamazepine in epilepsy patients (Shehata et al., 2009; Wieshmann et al., 2011), one showed positive behavioural effects (Pulliainen and Jokelainen, 1994), and one showed no behavioural worsening (Friedman et al., 1992) (Supplemental table S-1). Using the Liverpool Adverse Event Profile to assess patient-reported AEs, one study reported that 16% of the 36 patients taking carbamazepine had feelings of anger (compared with 33% for levetiracetam, 19% for valproic acid, and 15% for lamotrigine) (Wieshmann et al., 2011). One study showed that epilepsy patients performed worse on several behavioural-specific measures compared with healthy controls, and that behaviour worsened in relation to dose and duration of AED treatment (with carbamazepine or valproic acid) (Shehata et al., 2009). A partially blinded, prospective, observational study which focused mainly on cognitive outcomes showed a slight improvement from baseline in negative mood after 6 months of phenytoin or carbamazepine (Pulliainen and Jokelainen, 1994). A small observational study in patients with developmental delay showed no increase in behavioural problems in patients receiving carbamazepine as an AED only, but worsening behaviour in patients receiving carbamazepine for either comorbid seizures and behavioural/psychiatric disorder, or for psychiatric disorders alone (Friedman et al., 1992).

3. Clobazam

No relevant studies in adult populations were retrieved.

4. Clonazepam

Our searches identified no RCTs for clonazepam in adults, either using behaviour-specific endpoints or AE reporting.

One observational study (published in 1979) with clonazepam in 40 patients aged 8–60 years with generalised or focal seizures, reported irritability as an AE in seven patients (17%) (Lander *et al.*, 1979). A 1974 review article reports "irritability or aggressiveness" in 5–20% of patients in previous studies, and "frank aggressiveness" requiring dose reduction in 20% of patients in that author's personal experience (Edwards, 1974).

5. Eslicarbazepine acetate

Our searches (including abstracts at key epilepsy congresses, See Supplemental Information A) identified no RCTs or observational studies with eslicarbazepine acetate in patients with epilepsy, which reported aggression-related data. One conference abstract on the incidence of psychiatric AEs with eslicarbazepine acetate did not mention any aggression-related AEs (Biton *et al.*, 2014b).

6. Ethosuximide

Our searches found no studies reporting aggression-related behaviours in adults with epilepsy treated with ethosuximide; however, psychosis has been reported. For example, Fischer et al. reported five episodes of psychosis in three adults treated with ethosuximide; although no aggression was reported in any of these cases, the patients were described as being "tense" (Fischer *et al.*, 1965). The psychosis occurred in clear time relation to the ethosuximide treatment; the authors suggested that this might have been a manifestation of "forced normalisation".

7. Felbamate

Our searches identified no RCTs with behaviour-specific endpoints. Rates of psychiatric/behavioural AEs were low with felbamate in the large observational study discussed

in section V (part B) (Weintraub *et al.*, 2007). One observational study of headache in 60 epilepsy patients taking felbamate, reported adverse effects of "agitation or restlessness" in 14 patients (23%), which caused discontinuation in six (12%) (Ettinger *et al.*, 1996). A case series of seven epilepsy patients with behavioural changes with add-on felbamate, reported that the changes included marked agitation/irritability in four patients and that the changes resolved on discontinuation in all seven patients (McConnell *et al.*, 1996) (Supplemental table S-1).

8. Gabapentin

Our searches identified no relevant studies with gabapentin in adults with epilepsy, other than the large observational study mentioned earlier (section V part B) – rates of psychiatric/behavioural AEs were significantly lower with gabapentin (0.6%) than the average (p<0.001) (Weintraub *et al.*, 2007).

9. Lacosamide

Our searches identified no relevant studies with lacosamide in adults with epilepsy. A manual search of lacosamide RCTs found no mention of aggression-related behaviours as AEs in individual epilepsy trials, where the threshold for reporting AEs ranged from \geq 5% to \geq 10%, nor in a pooled analysis of lacosamide epilepsy trials (Sake *et al.*, 2010), nor in a meta-analysis of AE data across 10 RCTs in epilepsy and other indications (Zaccara *et al.*, 2013).

10. Lamotrigine

Our searches identified one RCT with behaviour-specific endpoints. In adults with focal seizures treated with adjunctive lamotrigine or levetiracetam, anger and hostility improved (i.e. lessened) from baseline with lamotrigine, with a significant difference *vs* levetiracetam, based on anger-hostility subscale scores of the Profile of Mood States (POMS) scale (Labiner *et al.*, 2009).

Two observational studies designed to look at behaviour present good evidence that lamotrigine is not typically associated with behavioural/aggressive side effects. The large observational study mentioned earlier (section V part B) reported that rates of psychiatric/behavioural AEs were significantly lower with lamotrigine (4.8%, p<0.001) than average (Weintraub *et al.*, 2007). Kato et al. used the Buss-Perry Aggression Questionnaire (BAQ) and showed significant improvement from baseline in aggression overall (and the anger subscale), after 10 weeks of adjunctive lamotrigine in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy (Kato et al., 2011). Other observational studies and case series are detailed in Supplemental table S-1, and the results differ among the different populations and comorbidities. In general lamotrigine has no detrimental effects with respect to aggressive behaviour, although there are some reports of aggressive behaviours in epilepsy patients with intellectual disability (Ettinger et al., 1998). In this population, the possibility of the "release phenomenon" must be considered: releasing the individual from the additional handicap of ongoing seizures can lead to difficult behaviour as their abilities improve (Besag, 2001). Lamotrigine may also have an alerting effect which could lead individuals with intellectual disabilities to become much more reactive to their environment. In both eventualities, appropriate behavioural guidance can lead to longer-term positive outcomes (Besag, 2001).

11. Levetiracetam

RCTs with behaviour-specific endpoints (n=1)

We identified only one RCT that used a behaviour-specific endpoint (the aggression-hostility subscale of the POMS) to explore aggression with levetiracetam (Supplemental table S-1). This prospective study by Labiner *et al.* showed that anger/hostility subscale scores were significantly worse with levetiracetam relative to lamotrigine, after 20 weeks of add-on treatment and throughout the study (Labiner *et al.*, 2009). Scores were worse than baseline with levetiracetam

at 14 of the 20 weeks, whereas scores were improved at every week with lamotrigine (significant difference *vs* levetiracetam at 12 of these weeks, and overall). One RCT of levetiracetam *vs* placebo with a behaviour-specific endpoint was conducted in adolescents, and is reported in section VI (de la Loge *et al.*, 2010).

Observational studies with behaviour-specific endpoints or designed to explore aggression/behaviour (n=10)

Six observational studies explored behavioural effects of levetiracetam using behaviour-specific measures, and three additional observational studies used non-behaviour-specific endpoints (e.g. the Liverpool Adverse Event Profile) with the defined intent to explore adverse behaviour or aggression (Supplemental table S-1).

In a prospective open-label study in 71 epilepsy patients, Lee *et al.* saw significant improvement from baseline in the Beck Anxiety Inventory after adding levetiracetam, and no significant changes in most other measures and subscales (including a hostility subscale). However, five patients (6.5%) discontinued due to psychiatric symptoms (nervousness, irritability, anxiety, hostility, depression, and suicidal ideation or attempt) (J-J Lee *et al.*, 2011).

In the large retrospective chart review already mentioned (Weintraub *et al.*, 2007), levetiracetam had the highest incidence of psychiatric/behavioural AEs (16%), leading to discontinuations in 8% of 521 epilepsy patients taking levetiracetam. These rates were significantly higher than average (p<0.001), and rates of individual AEs (irritability, 9%; behavioural change, 3.5%) were also significantly higher than average (p<0.001).

In an interview-based study, which included carers as well as patients, negative behaviour change was reported in 37% of levetiracetam patients, and positive change in 22%, whereas any

behavioural change was reported in only 9% of patients not taking levetiracetam. Patient reports agreed with carer reports of behaviour change in most cases (85%). Aggression was the most prominent negative feature of the symptom complex, and clustered with increased energy and improved concentration (Helmstaedter *et al.*, 2008). In a gene-association study based on these patients, polymorphisms in three genes related to dopamine activity and signalling were associated with negative psychotropic AEs with levetiracetam, suggesting that reduced dopamine activity may predispose epilepsy patients to developing psychotropic AEs with levetiracetam (Helmstaedter *et al.*, 2013). The mechanisms underlying this association are not yet understood (also see Section IV).

In a very short-term study (1 week), no differences were seen between levetiracetam and pregabalin on performance in several neuropsychological tests and anxiety questionnaires. Some improvements from baseline were seen with levetiracetam (e.g. improved anxiety), but no aggressive-behaviour-specific scales were used (Ciesielski *et al.*, 2006).

In a prospective chart review of 517 patients with various epilepsies treated with adjunctive levetiracetam, 10% developed psychiatric AEs, most commonly aggressive behaviour (3.5%). Risk factors were history of febrile convulsions, previous psychiatric history, and history of status epilepticus (M. Mula *et al.*, 2003). A related study looking just at patients with epilepsy and learning difficulties prescribed levetiracetam (N=118), reported that 15 (12.7%) developed psychiatric AEs (most commonly aggression, 7.6%), and levetiracetam was discontinued in 7.6%. Again, previous psychiatric history was a risk factor for psychiatric AEs (Mula *et al.*, 2004).

In a chart review of 108 patients with epilepsy treated with both levetiracetam and topiramate (at different times), overall 13% had psychiatric AEs with levetiracetam and 30% with topiramate (Mula *et al.*, 2007).

In a case–control study of 553 patients taking levetiracetam, 7% discontinued levetiracetam due to behavioural abnormalities (most commonly depression and irritability), and 10 patients (1.8%) were considered a danger to themselves or others (White *et al.*, 2003).

A study of patient-reported side effects from the UK antiepileptic drug register by Wieshmann and Baker, found that 49% of patients taking levetiracetam reported anger as always or nearly always being a problem, compared with 39% of patients treated with other AEDs, and 7% of controls (people with infrequent seizures and not taking AEDs) (Wieshmann and Baker, 2013). This highlights the high rate of anger when epilepsy patients themselves are asked the question directly, as well as the higher rate with levetiracetam than with other AEDs.

An earlier, smaller, study by the same group using the same registry, reported that of 100 epilepsy patients taking AEDs, 33% of the 12 patients taking levetiracetam said anger was always a problem, compared with 19% of the 21 patients taking valproic acid, 16% of the 36 patients taking carbamazepine, and 15% of the 20 patients taking lamotrigine (Wieshmann *et al.*, 2011).

A more recent observational study in 163 patients taking levetiracetam, reported aggressive behaviour as "always" a problem in 9.8% of the patients. These patients also had a 7-fold increased risk of being depressed as measured with the Neurologic Depression Disorders Inventory – Epilepsy (NDDIE) (Mula *et al.*, 2015).

RCTs with aggression data extracted from overall AE reporting

A recent meta-analysis of 10 RCTs of add-on levetiracetam provides some useful information, although it does not capture all AEs across these studies (Mbizvo *et al.*, 2014). Each individual study reported only AEs occurring in \geq 5% (in some studies \geq 10%) of patients, so any AEs in the individual studies occurring below these thresholds were excluded from the analysis entirely. Hence, agitation was reported as an AE in one study in children (6/101, *vs* 1/97 placebo) and one study in adults (3/28, 11% *vs* 0% with placebo), and any agitation AEs below the reporting thresholds in the other studies were ignored to give an overall incidence of agitation of 9/1092, 0.82% (*vs* 0.14% with placebo). Similarly, one study (in adults) reported irritability as an AE (5/77, 6.5%, *vs* 0 with placebo), giving an overall incidence of irritability across the meta analysis of 0.46% (*vs* 0% with placebo).

Two earlier systematic reviews are more useful, as they included all AE data from the levetiracetam database of adjunctive use in focal seizures (French *et al.*, 2001; Cramer *et al.*, 2003); the French *et al.* review also includes healthy volunteers, elderly patients with cognitive decline, and anxiety patients. French *et al.* reported a rate of behavioural AEs of 13% with levetiracetam (*vs* 6% with placebo) in placebo-controlled epilepsy trials; 6.0% *vs* 4.1% in elderly patients in cognitive studies; and 5.1% *vs* 5.5% in anxiety studies (French *et al.*, 2001). Across all the levetiracetam epilepsy studies analysed by Cramer et al. (short-term placebo-controlled trials and long-term open-label extensions), affective-type behavioural AEs were seen in 25.4% of patients (*vs* 6.2% placebo). These included: agitation 1.6% (*vs* 0.2%); emotional lability 3.0% (*vs* 0.2%); hostility 3.3% (*vs* 0.9%); nervousness 7.3% (*vs* 1.8%) (Cramer *et al.*, 2003). Rates of behavioural AEs were lower in levetiracetam trials in non-epilepsy indications, suggesting that patients with epilepsy are biologically more vulnerable to behavioural/psychiatric AEs (French *et al.*, 2001; Cramer *et al.*, 2003).

The individual levetiracetam RCTs are not discussed here, and any RCTs we found which reported an aggression-related AE are listed in Supplemental table S-1.

Observational/open-label studies with aggression data extracted from side-effect reporting Our searches retrieved eight such studies, which are detailed in Supplemental table S-1. One large, long-term study was comparative (N=828), reporting discontinuation due to behavioural adverse effects in 19% of the 196 patients taking levetiracetam, compared with 2-7% with oxcarbazepine, lamotrigine, topiramate, and zonisamide (Chung et al., 2007). In the other studies we retrieved (see Supplemental table S-1), rates of individual behavioural AEs with levetiracetam ranged from 5% up to 24% – this highest rate being the incidence of irritability in a retrospective chart review of 568 patients treated with levetiracetam mono/polytherapy at a tertiary epilepsy centre (Kang et al., 2013). These studies generally approximated normal clinical use of levetiracetam, although some excluded patients with a history of serious psychiatric disorders, and some expressly included patients with psychiatric history or mental handicap. Discontinuation due to aggression-related adverse effects was reported in 4.1–10% of the overall populations in these studies (4.1%-5.6%), if limited to studies with ~100 patients or more) and discontinuations due to behavioural adverse effects in general was reported in 19% (Kang et al., 2013).

A number of case reports were retrieved, which in general we have excluded from this review. However, we selected one case series and one case study for a brief mention, with all the caveats that apply to interpreting case reports.

Dinkelacker *et al.* described a case series of 33 epilepsy patients who experienced aggressive episodes during levetiracetam adjunctive therapy; the authors estimated that 3.5% of all their

epilepsy patients experienced irritability or aggression attributable to levetiracetam. In 24 of the 33 patients they described, irritability was transient, none of the 24 patients had a history of unprovoked impulsive aggression, and ten patients required dose reduction or discontinuation of levetiracetam. In the remaining nine patients (1 woman, 8 men), the aggressive symptoms were severe (including physical violence), and in two cases necessitated emergency psychiatric treatment. In four of these nine patients, there was a history of irritability or aggression, and one patient had experienced aggressiveness with gabapentin treatment (Dinkelacker *et al.*, 2003).

In a case study of a homicide during post-ictal psychosis, in which the perpetrator had a complex psychiatric and seizure history, the authors stated that AED changes may have had a contributing role. Discontinuation of carbamazepine 9 months before the homicide may have "increased the propensity for post-ictal mood dysregulation", and the addition of levetiracetam at the same time "may have increased impulsiveness" (Eisenschenk *et al.*, 2014).

12. Oxcarbazepine

Two relevant studies in adults were retrieved. In the Weintraub study previously mentioned, 5.6% of oxcarbazepine-treated patients had behavioural/psychiatric AEs, slightly lower than the overall average, and no irritability was seen (Weintraub *et al.*, 2007). In a retention study by Chung *et al.*, only two of 97 patients discontinued oxcarbazepine due to behavioural AEs, the lowest rate of all the AEDs that were included (Chung *et al.*, 2007).

13. Perampanel

Our searches retrieved one of the three perampanel Phase III RCTs in epilepsy, the open-label extension, a meta-analysis of all perampanel double-blind RCTs (epilepsy and other indications), an observational study, and a case study. By searching reference lists (excluding duplicates, data

that had previously been published, or extension studies that had been superseded by more recent follow-up) and recent conferences (and excluding conference abstracts that had since been published in full), we ultimately retrieved 27 relevant articles (see Supplementary table S-1, and below).

RCTs with behaviour-specific endpoints (n=0)

We found no studies in adults with behaviour-specific endpoints (see section 6.2 for a perampanel study in adolescents with behaviour-specific assessments). *Post-hoc* analyses specifically designed to explore aggression in perampanel RCTs are reported later in this section.

Observational studies with behaviour-specific endpoints or designed to explore aggression/behaviour (n=0)

We found no observational studies in adults with behaviour-specific endpoints.

RCTs with aggression data extracted from overall AE reporting (n=13 publications)

Of the five perampanel RCTs in epilepsy (three Phase III, two Phase II), two reported aggression-related AEs (French *et al.*, 2012, 2013), while one Phase III study and the two Phase II studies did not (Krauss *et al.*, 2012). A pooled analysis of all data from the Phase III trials showed that 30 of the 225 patients taking 12 mg perampanel (11.8%) reported irritability as an AE (*vs* 2.9% with placebo, and 3.9–6.7% with 2–8 mg perampanel), and aggression as an AE in 3% of patients taking 12 mg perampanel (*vs* 1% with placebo, 1% with 4 mg and 2% with 8 mg). No other aggression-related AEs occurred in \geq 5% of patients in any treatment group (Steinhoff *et al.*, 2013). Serious psychiatric AEs were seen in 12 patients (1.2%) taking 12 mg perampanel (*vs* 0.9% placebo), with aggression being the most common (3 of 1038 patients taking perampanel, 0.29%, *vs* none with placebo). Because of the interest in aggressive behaviour with AEs, a further analysis was conducted in the pooled Phase III clinical trial population, using both broad and narrow standard medical queries (SMQ) for events suggestive of hostility/aggression. The broad SMQ identified events broadly suggestive of hostility/aggression (e.g. including events like laceration, regardless of cause) in 6% of placebo patients, and 5% (4 mg), 12% (8 mg), and 20% (12 mg) of perampanel patients (Steinhoff et al., 2013). Homicidal ideation and/or threat were exhibited in 0.1% of 4,368 perampanel-treated patients in controlled and open-label studies, including non-epilepsy studies (B Steinhoff et al., 2014). A population PK/PD study using the pooled Phase III epilepsy population confirmed a significant association with perampanel plasma concentration and incidence of aggression (Gidal et al., 2013). A metaanalysis of nine randomised controlled trials including studies in Parkinson disease (Zaccara et al., 2013) reported on a total of 3947 patients, 2627 of whom had been randomised to perampanel. In this analysis, similar terms were merged (e.g. irritability and aggression). No AEs were significantly associated with doses of 2 or 4 mg/day; and the only behavioural AE significantly associated with any dose of perampanel was 'irritability' (which includes aggression) with 12 mg/day perampanel.

Several *post-hoc* analyses of the perampanel epilepsy and non-epilepsy clinical trial databases have been conducted; aggressive/irritable behaviour was seen only in epilepsy populations (Ettinger *et al.*, 2014; LoPresti *et al.*, 2014), and the incidence was not significantly different in patients taking concomitant levetiracetam (*vs* no concomitant levetiracetam) (Fain *et al.*, 2015) – see Supplemental table S-1 for details of these analyses. After our searches were completed, these conference abstracts have been published as a full article (Ettinger *et al.*, 2015).

The most recent analysis of the open-label extension study to the Phase III trials, which followed patients for a median of 1.5 years, reported irritability in 11.5%, and aggression in 5.1% of

patients over the entire exposure period (N=1216). Overall, 3.9% of patients had \geq 1 psychiatric serious AE. Among these were two serious AEs of agitation (0.2%) and abnormal behaviour (0.2%) and 12 serious AEs of aggression (1.0%). Aggression resolved in five patients while remaining on perampanel, and seven patients discontinued (Krauss *et al.*, 2014). Irritability and aggression, respectively, led to the discontinuation of perampanel in 1.3% and 0.4% of patients.

The recently completed Phase III study of perampanel in patients with primary generalised tonic–clonic seizures (PGTC), reported irritability as the only individual AE with an incidence of \geq 5% (11.1% with perampanel, vs 3.7% with placebo). The combined incidence of hostility/aggression-related AEs (as per the broad and narrow SMQ terms) was 18.5% with perampanel, vs 4.9% with placebo, and using just narrow SMQ terms (i.e. AEs very likely to be related to aggression or hostility), the rates were 2.5% with perampanel, and 0% with placebo (French *et al.*, 2015).

Observational/open-label studies with aggression data extracted from side-effect reporting (n=13)

We identified two published observational studies. In one, (a prospective, multi-centre clinical audit of adjunctive perampanel in refractory epilepsy) low rates of aggression (2.8%) and irritability (2.1%) were reported (BJ Steinhoff *et al.*, 2014). In the other (a single-centre case-series of 47 patients), the median dose taken by patients was 8 mg. The most common AEs requiring withdrawal of perampanel were behavioural: aggressive behaviour in two cases (4.3%), suicidal ideation in two cases (4.3%), and aggressive behaviour together with suicidal ideation in one further patient (2.1%) (Coyle *et al.*, 2014). Another 11 observational studies (n=16 to n=111) were reported in conference abstracts, with populations ranging from institutionalised adults with highly-refractory epilepsy, to less severe patients in general neurology practice (See

Supplemental table S-1). Aggression, irritability, and/or behavioural disturbance were reported as AEs in most (but not all) abstracts, ranging in incidence in those reports from 8% to 36% (Supplemental table S-1).

Case studies (n=1)

In a patient with moderate intellectual disability, a history of challenging behaviour, and severely refractory epilepsy, addition of perampanel 8 mg significantly improved seizure frequency and duration, but worsened aggressive behaviour and resulted in the patient being unable to live at home, despite reducing the perampanel dose and the addition of antipsychotics (Dolton and Choudry, 2014).

14. Phenobarbital

Our searches retrieved only one relevant study with phenobarbital – the authors of this case report suggested that phenobarbital may cause behavioural AEs or exacerbate maladaptive behaviours, which may mask or suppress the effectiveness of neuroleptics (in this case chlorpromazine) in treating aggressive behaviour in patients with seizures and comorbidities (Hanzel *et al.*, 1992). Because data with phenobarbital was scarce in patients with epilepsy, data in healthy patients was considered. In 49 healthy adults who underwent a battery of neuropsychological tests, scores in the anger subscale of the POMS were significantly worse (increased anger) than baseline after 1 month taking phenobarbital 15 mg/day (but not with phenytoin [30–100 mg/day] or valproate [250 mg/day] (Meador *et al.*, 1995).

15. Phenytoin

Only one relevant study with phenytoin was retrieved. In this observational study in 43 newly diagnosed epilepsy patients, a small decrease in irritability (assessed with the POMS scale) was seen after phenytoin treatment was commenced (Pulliainen and Jokelainen, 1994).

16. Pregabalin

One study with pregabalin specifically investigated the neuropsychological and psychiatric impact of pregabalin and levetiracetam in 20 epilepsy patients, but only over the course of one week of treatment, so the results have very limited utility. No major neuropsychiatric effects were seen (Ciesielski *et al.*, 2006). Two observational studies in refractory epilepsy – one in inpatients with intellectual disability and one in outpatients, showed infrequent behaviour-related AEs (Huber *et al.*, 2008; Valentin *et al.*, 2009) (Supplemental table S-1).

17. Retigabine

Our searches revealed no relevant retigabine studies in adults. Neither the pivotal trial publications, nor a pooled analysis of these three trials, reported any aggressive or behavioural AEs above the 5% (in one case 10%) reporting thresholds (Porter *et al.*, 2007, 2012; Brodie *et al.*, 2010; French *et al.*, 2011). Searches of epilepsy congress abstracts for retigabine revealed no further relevant data.

18. Stiripentol

Only one relevant study was retrieved – an observational study in Japanese adults and children with Dravet syndrome (Inoue *et al.*, 2009). Irritability was observed in three of the eight patients aged \geq 13 years in the early and intermediate period, but resolved, and no adults discontinued due to irritability.

19. Tiagabine

We retrieved two observational studies that examined behaviour with tiagabine. The largest was the observational study by Weintraub *et al.*, which showed high rates of psychiatric/behavioural AEs (15.8% with tiagabine, *vs* 8.4% average), and irritability (10.5%), depression (5.3%), anxiety (5.3%), and psychosis (5.3%) with tiagabine, but the data are based on only 19 patients (Weintraub *et al.*, 2007). A small controlled study used a mood and behaviour rating scale, and found no significant impact of tiagabine on these scores (Sveinbjornsdottir *et al.*, 1994). Adverse event reporting from this study showed that three of the 19 patients withdrew early due to aggression; aggression/irritability was reported in three of 11 patients taking tiagabine in the double-blind portion of the study, *vs* none of the 11 patients in the placebo period (Sveinbjornsdottir *et al.*, 1994). The only other relevant publication was a report of two cases in which addition of tiagabine controlled postencephalitic seizures and improved behaviour (including aggressive outbursts) (Kaufman *et al.*, 2002).

20. Topiramate

We retrieved no RCTs and four observational studies that focused on behaviour/aggression, as well as five observational studies from which behaviour/aggression rates can be extracted from side-effect reporting (Supplemental table S-1). The Weintraub *et al.* observational study concluded that topiramate had intermediate rates (6.3% overall) of psychiatric/behavioural AEs compared with other AEDs (Weintraub *et al.*, 2007). A retrospective analysis by Mula *et al.* reported psychiatric AEs in 24% of the 431 patients assessed, with aggressive behaviour in 5.6% (Marco Mula *et al.*, 2003). In a chart review of 108 patients with epilepsy treated with both levetiracetam and topiramate (at different times), overall 13% had psychiatric AEs with levetiracetam and 30% with topiramate (Mula *et al.*, 2007). A case series that explored in detail

103 patients who developed psychiatric AEs with topiramate, found that nearly half of the sample had affective disorder, with aggressive behaviour the next most common (23%). The aggression resolved in the majority of patients with discontinuation (or reduction) of topiramate (Mula and Trimble, 2003). Aggressive behaviour was associated with seizure worsening, suggesting it was a direct expression of the epileptic state (ictal, pre-ictal, or post-ictal – see earlier).

In a retention-rate study by Chung *et al.*, topiramate had the lowest retention rate (44.2%), but few of the discontinuations were due to behavioural AEs (5 of 156 patients) (Chung *et al.*, 2007). In the other observational studies we retrieved, irritability was reported in a wide range of patients, from <1% up to 20%, and discontinuation due to irritability/aggression/agitation in 5–12%; see Supplemental table S-1 for details (Tartara *et al.*, 1996; Stephen *et al.*, 2000; Bootsma *et al.*, 2004; Voronkova *et al.*, 2007).

21. Valproic acid

We identified one prospective, controlled study in adults that used aggression-specific endpoints, and one small observational study (Supplemental table S-1). In a prospective study using cognitive and behavioural endpoints, both treated (seizure-free) and untreated (newly diagnosed or never treated) epilepsy patients had worse aggression (total and verbal) compared to healthy controls, and total aggression scores were worse in patients treated with valproic acid compared with carbamazepine (Shehata *et al.*, 2009). In a small observational study (N=55) conducted in 1978, aggressive behaviour was seen in one patient (Ruuskanen *et al.*, 1979).

22. Vigabatrin

Our searches identified one individual RCT with vigabatrin that reported behaviour-related AEs (Loiseau *et al.*, 1986), and one pooled analysis across all vigabatrin trials (randomised, doubleblind, placebo-controlled studies of add-on vigabatrin) that aimed to explore psychiatric AEs (Levinson and Devinsky, 1999). The small cross-over study reported irritability as an AE in two patients during the placebo phase and one during the vigabatrin phase (Loiseau *et al.*, 1986), and the pooled analysis showed an odds ratio of >1 for incidence of aggressive reaction and for agitation, but this was small and not significant (Levinson and Devinsky, 1999). We manually identified a Cochrane Review of vigabatrin clinical trial data up to October 2012 (n=747), and this meta-analysis did not report any behavioural events significantly associated with vigabatrin (Hemming *et al.*, 2013). Therefore, we did not extend our manual searches any further, to evaluate any individual vigabatrin clinical studies.

We identified one small observational study in adults with refractory epilepsy and severe learning difficulties. Aggression was reported in 4/22 (18%) and agitation in 2/22 (9%) of patients treated with add-on vigabatrin (Armour *et al.*, 1992).

Behavioural disturbances and aggression were reported with vigabatrin in a number of case reports soon after its approval – e.g. in seven of 145 patients in one letter to the editor in Lancet, and nine of 119 patients in another – and the outbursts were occasionally extreme and violent (Robinson *et al.*, 1990). A follow-up of 136 patients in whom behavioural problems were reported with vigabatrin to either the authors or the manufacturers, found sufficient detail for 81 of these patients, and found depression in 22 patients and psychosis in 28. There was no mention of aggression-related behaviours in this report (Thomas *et al.*, 1996). A study of cognitive and

behavioural effects in healthy volunteers found no effects of vigabatrin on cognition or mood/behaviour, although this was only with short-term use (Thomas and Trimble, 1996).

23. Zonisamide

Our searches retrieved no studies that used aggression- or behaviour-related endpoints, but one RCT and one meta-analysis reported aggression-related AEs (Sackellares *et al.*, 2004; Carmichael *et al.*, 2013), and two observational studies reported aggression-related AEs (Chung *et al.*, 2007; Weintraub *et al.*, 2007), one of which was specifically designed to explore psychiatric/behavioural effects of AEDs (Supplemental table S-1).

The recent meta-analysis of zonisamide studies (studies published up to February 2013), found a significant association between zonisamide and agitation/irritability (relative effect *vs* placebo 3.25, 95% CI 1.05–5.27). The individual study retrieved by our searches (Sackellares *et al.*, 2004) was included in this meta-analysis, so it is not discussed separately here. The observational studies we retrieved have been discussed earlier in this review. Weintraub *et al.* concluded that zonisamide had an intermediate rate of psychiatric/behavioural AEDs (9% *vs* 8.4% average), and Chung *et al.* reported few discontinuations due to behavioural AEs with zonisamide (9.8%, *vs* 19% with levetiracetam).

C. Conclusions

A previous review of the psychotropic effects of AEDs concluded that "There is a need for largescale, prospective, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled studies that are properly designed to assess psychotropic effects of AEDs so as to control for confounding factors" (Piedad *et al.*, 2012). Our review of the data, focusing just on aggression-related behaviours, must come to a similar conclusion: that few well-designed and reliable studies have been

performed. Although it did not use behaviour-specific assessments and does not include all currently available AEDs, the comparative, observational study by Weintraub *et al.* gives perhaps the most useful information. This found levetiracetam to have the highest rates of behavioural AEs, and gabapentin to have the lowest (Weintraub *et al.*, 2007).

Information from regulatory drug trials should be treated with caution, as the majority do not include behaviour-specific endpoints, and interpreting AE reporting across the spectrum of aggression-related behaviours is fraught with difficulties. More information is available on the newer AEDs, as with each new approval scrutiny of psychotropic side effects is increasing, but equivalent scrutiny is not possible for older AEDs often because the questions were not asked of their regulatory trial data. Another gap in the literature regards the relationship between adverse events (e.g. aggression) and efficacy. Reports suggest that AEDs may have different side-effects when the drug is efficacious (i.e. patients come into remission) and when the drug fails in efficacy (Shih and Ochoa, 2009), but none of the studies we reviewed included any information on the relationship between anti-seizure effects and aggressive behaviours. This relationship is further complicated by the fact that uncontrolled epilepsy may impair behaviour in similar ways to the side effects of AEDs (Baker and Marson, 2001).

Based on available data, levetiracetam, perampanel and topiramate seem to be associated with increased rates of irritability, hostility and/or aggression, particularly in patients with a previous history of psychiatric symptoms. For such patients, these drugs should be used with caution. Product labels are generally consistent with this conclusion, and provide a useful benchmark. From US labels, 13% of adults taking levetiracetam (pooled, all doses) have non-psychotic behavioural symptoms; 12% of patients taking perampanel 8 mg have hostility/aggression-

related AEs (20% with 12 mg); and 2–10% of adults taking topiramate have aggression-related AEs (Table 3).

There are mixed data for vigabatrin, valproic acid, and zonisamide. Early vigabatrin case reports of sometimes violent aggressive behaviour are not supported by evidence of increased rates in pooled analyses, although very high rates of irritability (23%) are reported in the vigabatrin US label (Sabril USPI, 2013). One controlled study with valproic acid showed significantly worse aggression than with carbamazepine, but we found no other data supporting a risk of aggressive effects. Data from zonisamide clinical studies show an increased rate of agitation/irritability *vs* placebo, but low rates in observational studies and no evidence for aggression in studies using behaviour-specific measures.

There are reasonable data supporting no specific risk of aggression-related behaviour with carbamazepine, eslicarbazepine acetate, gabapentin, lamotrigine, oxcarbazepine, and retigabine.

There are insufficient data for any conclusions for clobazam, clonazepam (although the clonazepam US label reports behaviour problems in ~25% of epilepsy patients (Klonopin USPI, 2013), ethosuximide, felbamate, gabapentin, phenobarbital, phenytoin, pregabalin, and tiagabine. Because the developmental AED brivaracetam has only been used in clinical trial populations to date, there is insufficient available evidence, although the incidence of non-psychotic behavioural AEs appears to be ~7% (D'Souza *et al.*, 2012).

VI. Aggression with antiepileptic drugs in children and teenagers with epilepsy.

A. Introduction

The most striking aspect of the literature search in this area is, once again, the lack of highquality data. There are almost no blinded, controlled studies using accepted measures of behavioural disturbance or providing adequate information either on the nature of the aggressive behaviour itself or on factors that would allow a reasonable evaluation of causation. As stated earlier, a more comprehensive discussion of the confounding factors that could lead to false attribution of behavioural disturbance to a specific antiepileptic drug has been published elsewhere (Besag, 2001). The lack of data is surprising, considering the size of the problem. A 1994 questionnaire survey by Brown found that 60% of the 896 children and teenagers surveyed felt that the antiepileptic medication caused tiredness and over 50% viewed it as being responsible for poor concentration. About 50% reported that that they were "cross/irritable" and about 30% as being "angry" as a result of the medication (Brown, 1994). Although this survey was on a highly-selected population (namely members of the British Epilepsy Association), and lacked a control group, the results are striking, and highlight the need for attention to aggressive adverse effects of AEDs.

B. Review of data for each AED

The evidence for aggression associated with each of the antiepileptic drugs (in alphabetical order) is presented. In general, data in very young infants (e.g. those with infantile spasms) is not

included, because AEs of 'irritability' in these babies cannot be interpreted as aggressive behaviours, but where infants formed part of a larger population that cannot be separated, the data are reported (with caveats).

1. Acetazolamide

No evidence found.

2. Carbamazepine

No evidence found.

3. Clobazam

We identified one double-blind, randomised trial with clobazam that included behaviour-specific measures (Paolicchi *et al.*, 2015). Using data from a trial of clobazam to treat Lennox-Gastaut syndrome, Paolicchi et al. carried out a *post-hoc* analysis of all randomised paediatric patients (aged \leq 18 years) treated with at least one dose of study drug or placebo. Of the 146 clobazam-treated patients, aggression-related AEs were seen in 23 (15.8%), compared with 8.3% of placebo patients. In patients taking high- and medium-dose clobazam, most of the aggression-related AEs occurred during the three-week titration period, whereas in the low-dose and placebo group they were evenly distributed during the 15-week study. The aggression-related AEs included the following MedDRA-preferred terms: aggression, irritability, abnormal behaviour, perseveration and negativism (although no patients fell into the perseveration category and only one into the negativism category). Three patients discontinued clobazam because of aggression-related AEs. There was no significant difference between clobazam and placebo in the behaviour item scores on the Achenbach child behaviour checklist (CBCL), although there was a trend towards worsening scores in the aggression domain with clobazam in patients with a history of

aggressive behaviour (Supplemental table S-2). The authors concluded that the overall rate of aggression was low with clobazam, was dose-dependent, resolved by study end and was independent of the history of aggression/behavioural problems (Paolicchi et al., 2015). The other clobazam studies we retrieved did not use behaviour-specific measures, but reported behaviourrelated AEs in varying degrees of detail (Supplemental table S-2). Bawden *et al.*, in a small, randomised, blinded (double dummy) study, compared 24 patients taking clobazam with 17 receiving standard monotherapy (nine carbamazepine and eight phenytoin). Three of the patients taking clobazam exhibited externalising behavioural AEs compared with three on standard monotherapy; three taking clobazam exhibited internalising behavioural AEs compared with two on standard monotherapy (Bawden et al., 1999). The rate of behavioural AEs was very similar between the two groups but it is difficult to draw any conclusions from such small numbers. Sheth and colleagues reported that seven of 63 children (11%) treated with clobazam for refractory epilepsy developed severe behavioural disturbance. "Aggressive agitation" was reported in the seven children, mean age 6.4 years. The aggression was described by parents as being "animal-like" and included biting, kicking, head-banging, tantrums and hyperactivity, all of which were said to be out of character (Sheth et al., 1994, 1995).

Jan *et al.* reported a small, open, uncontrolled study of 31 children with refractory epilepsy, aged 2 months to 15 years, in whom clobazam was added to the existing antiepileptic medication in doses of up to 2 mg/kg/day. Seven of the 31 had adverse effects, including behavioural change in two (Jan and Shaabat, 2000). The clobazam had to be withdrawn in three children because of repeated vomiting or behavioural changes but it was not clear, from the report, whether it had to be withdrawn in both the children with the behavioural change.

Klehm et al. reported a large retrospective chart review in 300 children (mean age 9.1 years) with refractory epilepsy, who were prescribed clobazam. The children had variety of seizure types (many had multiple seizure types), and the vast majority of patients (97%) were taking at least 1 other AED. The median starting dose was 0.2 mg/kg/day and the average dose at last follow-up was 0.73 mg/kg/day (range 0.05–3.3 mg/kg/day). The median seizure reduction was 80%; the 50% responder rate was 67.7%; and 84 patient (28%) were seizure-free at the last follow-up. Twenty-three patients (7.7%) experienced AEs related to mood or behaviour change (Klehm *et al.*, 2014).

4. Clonazepam

None of the clonazepam studies used behaviour-specific measures; two observational studies and two reviews of previous studies were included (Supplemental table S-2). Mikkelsen *et al* carried out a single-blind, placebo-controlled trial of clonazepam in 10 patients with simple absence seizures and 10 patients with myoclonic-atonic seizures (Mikkelsen *et al.*, 1976). Most of the patients (17/20) were under 18 years of age. Clonazepam had to be withdrawn from two of the patients, in one case because of severe irritability, dysphoria and aggressiveness; in the second case because of somnolence, behavioural disturbance and lack of efficacy. Further details in this report were sparse.

Lander *et al.* reported that 22 of 40 patients treated with clonazepam for refractory epilepsy had "undesirable effects" attributable to the clonazepam, the commonest of which were drowsiness, loss of concentration, irritability and aggression (Lander *et al.*, 1979).

Kalachnik *et al.* reviewed behavioural adverse effects of benzodiazepines, including clonazepam, diazepam and lorazepam, commenting that these are easily overlooked and under-recognised

(Kalachnik *et al.*, 2002). They stated that behavioural adverse effects occurred in 13% of 446 individuals with mental retardation prescribed these AEDs for behavioural, psychiatric or medical conditions. The rate of behavioural disturbance in the 208 individuals who had epilepsy was 15.4%.

Browne, in a review of clinical trials of clonazepam, commented that behavioural disturbance occurred in a minority of patients, usually children (Browne, 1976). In some cases this represented an exacerbation of the previous disorder but in others did not. The behaviours were variously described as irritable, aggressive, excitable, irrational, antisocial, temperamental, violent, disobedient, noisy and hard to discipline. In 10 studies, the percentage of behavioural disturbance ranged from 2% to 50% (median 17%). The behavioural disturbance sometimes resolved with a reduction in dosage but in other cases required discontinuation of the clonazepam.

5. Eslicarbazepine acetate

In a prospective, open-label study of 29 children between two and 17 years of age, aggressive behaviour was reported in one child, and one other had "aggression aggravated" (Almeida *et al.*, 2008).

6. Ethosuximide

The only evidence retrieved for ethosuximide was two case studies. Yamamoto *et al.* reported that an 11-year-old boy with refractory myoclonic epilepsy and severe psychomotor delay had complete control of myoclonic seizures with ethosuximide but had "behavioural changes, more of the manic type". This was attributed to the forced-normalisation phenomenon because the EEG was said to be almost normal during the episode (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2001).

A case study by Chien described a 10-year-old boy who developed acute mania with psychotic symptoms and suicidal ideation with ethosuximide (Chien, 2011).

7. Gabapentin

Two observational studies were identified, which reported aggression from AE data, and two case studies (Supplemental table S-2). Khurana *et al.* carried out a chart review of 32 children treated with gabapentin. Behavioural AEs occurred in 15 patients. Physician intervention was required in four children: one became more withdrawn and the other three became more hyperactive and more aggressive with violent outbursts and mood swings (Khurana *et al.*, 1996). In three of the four, the behaviours returned to baseline after the gabapentin was stopped.

Lee *et al.* reported seven children who developed behavioural adverse effects in association with gabapentin. It is not clear how these children were selected from the larger pool of 55 children treated at this centre (Lee *et al.*, 1996). In some cases the behaviours were present before treatment but exacerbated when the child was treated with gabapentin. New behaviours included oppositional defiant disorder (58%) and conduct disorder (33%). Again, because of the small numbers, it is difficult to draw any firm conclusions.

The results of studies carried out by one of the current authors and his colleagues on 14 teenagers, using a standard instrument for monitoring behaviour (the Rutter Behavioural Scales) before and during treatment with gabapentin did not confirm these results. There were no significant behavioural changes with gabapentin: two subjects moved from the "non-disturbed" to the "disturbed" behavioural range and one moved from the "disturbed" to the "non-disturbed" range. In a further behavioural study on the same pool of patients, six female and 10 male subjects were matched for sex, and as closely as possible, for age and other parameters.

Examination of the changes in the Rutter scale scores revealed no significant differences between the gabapentin-treated group and the comparison group (Besag, 1996).

A case study by Tallian *et al.* reported two children who had aggressive behaviour with gabapentin (Tallian *et al.*, 1996). The first case was a 16-year-old boy in whom the seizures were fully controlled but his appetite decreased and he had problems sleeping. He then developed aggressive behaviour with biting, slapping, scratching, growling and "acting like an animal". The gabapentin was discontinued and the behavioural disturbance resolved. When the gabapentin was recommenced and the dose increased, the aggression became marked. When the gabapentin was subsequently discontinued the problem resolved again. The second patient was a 6-year-old girl with intellectual disability and ADHD but no history of aggressive behaviour. When gabapentin was commenced she stopped interacting socially and, when confronted socially, she became physically aggressive, assaulting other children. When the gabapentin dose was decreased a moderate improvement in behaviour occurred; it was continued because her parents judged her behaviour as being tolerable and she remained seizure free.

A case series described by Wolf *et al.* reported behavioural problems in three children with learning disability when treated with gabapentin (Wolf *et al.*, 1995). The behaviours described included unprovoked outbursts of anger in case one, episodes of hyperactivity and oppositional behaviour in case two and outbursts characterised by throwing food, screaming and fighting in case three.

It is difficult to assess the causative role of the gabapentin itself in all of these reports, not only because of the small numbers and open nature of the studies but also because of confounding factors such as drug interactions and changes in seizure control.

8. Lacosamide

Our searches for lacosamide data in children retrieved only small observational studies (Supplemental table S-2).

Gavatha *et al.* reported a study in 18 children (10 male, 8 female, aged 3–18 years) with intellectual disability. No aggression was specifically reported but there were two cases of irritability. No further details were provided (Gavatha *et al.*, 2011).

Guilhoto *et al.* analysed results from a retrospective study of 16 young people with treatmentresistant epilepsy (7 male, 9 female, aged 8–21 years, mean age 14.9 years). Lacosamide was withdrawn in one boy (8.4 years old) because of severe behavioural outbursts (Guilhoto *et al.*, 2011).

Heyman *et al.* carried out a retrospective study of medical records of 17 children (10 male, 7 female, aged 1.5–16 years, mean age 8 years) with epilepsy taking lacosamide. Restlessness was reported in two patients but no other behavioural disturbance was reported (Heyman *et al.*, 2012).

Kim *et al.* described a retrospective study of medical records that included 21 children (16 male, 5 female, aged 1.2–17.9 years, median age 13.9), two of whom discontinued lacosamide because of AEs (aggressive behaviour and depression) (Kim *et al.*, 2014).

9. Lamotrigine

Two observational studies were retrieved (Supplemental table S-2). In a long-term, open-label extension study, Piña-Garza *et al.* followed 204 infants (1 to 24 months of age), treated with lamotrigine following Phase III studies. The only AE that they considered could be reasonably

attributable to lamotrigine in >2% of patients was irritability, which occurred in 10 patients (5%) (Piña-Garza *et al.*, 2008).

Cardenas *et al.* carried out a retrospective review of patients who developed "neurobehavioural adverse reactions to lamotrigine" (Cardenas *et al.*, 2010). They identified nine children (7 male, 2 female, mean age 5 years) who became hyperactive and agitated, over a wide range of doses from 0.7 to 14 mg/kg/day. Five patients developed self-injurious and violent behaviours, two had severe insomnia and the most affected, a six-year-old boy, developed "extremely volatile mood and affect", with visual and auditory hallucinations together with insomnia. All nine patients improved markedly after discontinuation or dose reduction of the lamotrigine. These authors said that severe, reversible neurobehavioural disturbance associated with lamotrigine therapy had not previously been reported in the literature.

It should be noted that lamotrigine is now widely acknowledged as an AED that can improve mood significantly; large studies have established this in adults and the positive psychotropic effects of improving mood/behaviour in young people with or without epilepsy have also been confirmed (Frye *et al.*, 2000; Cramer *et al.*, 2004; Biederman *et al.*, 2010).

10. Levetiracetam

There are several reports of aggression in children with epilepsy treated with levetiracetam, including two RCTs with behaviour-specific measures, but there are also several reports of improved behaviour (Supplemental table S-2).

Our searches identified one study that specifically explored the behavioural effects of levetiracetam in a randomised, placebo-controlled study, using standardised measures – the CBCL and the Child health questionnaire – parent form 50 (CHQ-PF50) (de la Loge *et al.*,

2010). Patients received adjunctive levetiracetam (N=64) or placebo (N=34) for 12 weeks. The CBCL separates scores into a Total Problems Score, and a Total Competence Score. Among the per-protocol population (levetiracetam N=46, placebo N=27), there was no difference between treatment groups in the Total Competence Score, but a significant difference in the Total Problems Score (p=0.020) between levetiracetam (worsening) and placebo (improvement). In the Problems component of the CBCL, there was a significant worsening of aggression with levetiracetam *vs* placebo (p=0.013), which drove the overall difference in the Problems Score. In the Competence component of the CBCL, there was a small improvement with levetiracetam *vs* placebo in the Activities subscale (p=0.049). The CHQ-PF50 score showed little change during treatment, and no significant between-group differences. A long-term extension that included 80 patients who continued from this study, and 23 additional patients, found no significant change from baseline CBCL score (or aggression subscale scores) with levetiracetam (Schiemann-Delgado *et al.*, 2012). From AE reporting in this study, aggression was seen in 7.8%, irritability in 7.8%, and abnormal behaviour in 3.9% of patients.

One other study with levetiracetam specifically studied aggressive behaviour but did not use standardised measures. In 12 children with epilepsy with continuous spikes and waves during slow sleep and pervasive developmental disorder, parents reported the frequency of seizures and frequency of episodes of panic or aggressive behaviour. In the eight patients whose seizures improved with addition of levetiracetam to existing AEDs, six patients also had a \geq 50% reduction in the frequency of episodes of panic or aggression; there was no change in episode frequency in the other two responders (Kanemura *et al.*, 2014).

There have been many RCTs and observational studies with levetiracetam in children and adolescents, and rather than review them all here, the results of a recent systematic review and

meta-analysis of the behavioural effects of levetiracetam are presented (Halma et al., 2014). These authors included studies in children aged from 1 month to 18 years with a diagnosis of epilepsy, taking oral levetiracetam as monotherapy or add-on therapy, with follow-up of at least 2 weeks, and which reported behavioural side effects. They excluded case studies or case series with fewer than 10 patients, studies of neonatal convulsions, and studies that included adults and did not have separate subgroup analyses for patients aged <18 years. Their review identified 13 studies in 727 patients. In the three randomised controlled trials they identified, the most frequent behavioural AEs with add-on levetiracetam (N=165) were hostility (7.3%), nervousness (6.1%) and aggression (4.9%). A meta-analysis of these studies revealed a statistically significant increased risk of behavioural AEs with levetiracetam: risk ratio vs placebo = 2.18 (95% CI 1.42– 3.37). Ten observational studies met their selection criteria and these reported both worsening and improvement of behaviour with levetiracetam. Levetiracetam add-on therapy was associated with behavioural AEs of irritability (4.7%), hyperexcitability (4.4%) and aggression (2.7); monotherapy was associated with behavioural problems in general (19%), and irritability (2.6%). No meta-analysis was possible across the observational studies.

Our searches identified the majority of the studies included by Halma *et al.* in their systematic review and meta-analysis, and also a number of additional studies that were excluded by their selection criteria. Details of all these studies can be found in Supplemental table S-2; the rates of behavioural AEs they report are broadly in line with those reported by Halma et al.

Mbizvo *et al.* performed another meta-analysis of levetiracetam studies, which was also discussed earlier (Section V part B.11; Mbizvo *et al.*, 2014). This meta-analysis only included two RCTs in children/adolescents (whereas Halma *et al.* included three), and when all the captured behavioural AE terms were combined across these two studies for the child/adolescent

populations, an incidence of 40.6% (vs 21.4% with placebo) was found. This seems remarkably high – especially considering the fact that the analysis excluded behavioural AEs that were not reported in the original publications because they were below the reporting thresholds (\geq 5 or \geq 10%); however, it is broadly consistent with the doubling of risk (i.e. a risk ratio of ~2 vs placebo) as reported by Halma *et al.* The terms included by Mbizvo *et al.* were hostility, personality disorder, nervousness, depression, aggression, agitation, emotional lability, psychomotor hyperactivity, irritability, abnormal behaviour, altered mood, anxiety, and dissociation. It was not clear, from their paper, whether they excluded "double-counting", for example, adding together reports of AEs of aggression and agitation when these occurred in the same subject; if they did not exclude double-counting, this could explain the very large percentages of behavioural AEs in both the levetiracetam and placebo groups.

11. Oxcarbazepine

Very little evidence of any aggression-related features was found for oxcarbazepine, just one open-label study (Supplemental table S-2). Northam *et al.* carried out a prospective, open-label study of 24 young patients (aged 2–45 months). Oxcarbazepine was associated with irritability in 5/24 (21%) in the treatment phase (up to 30 days) and in 7/20 (35%) in the six-month extension phase (Northam *et al.*, 2005). The oxcarbazepine was discontinued in one of the patients with irritability (who also had fatigue and ataxia). The usual comments about the reliability of findings from small, open, uncontrolled studies apply.

<u>12. Perampanel</u>

Our searches identified one study with perampanel in adolescents that used standardised measures to assess behaviour, one pooled analysis of Phase III clinical trials, and several observational studies (Supplemental table S-2). Lagae *et al.* reported a Phase II, randomised,

placebo-controlled trial of add-on perampanel in 133 adolescents with refractory focal-onset epilepsy; behaviour was assessed with the CBCL. There was no significant difference between perampanel and placebo in the change from baseline in CBCL Total Problem or Total Competence scores, or in any of the subscales (e.g. aggression). AEs related to hostility or aggression occurred in 17.6% (n=15) of the perampanel-treated subjects (7 aggression, 6 irritability, 2 anger, 1 laceration) and 4.2% (2) of the placebo group (1 aggression, 1 irritability).

Rosenfeld *et al.* reported pooled AE data for the 143 adolescents in the three Phase III trials of perampanel. The most common AEs included aggression in 8.2% of adolescents, *vs* 0% for placebo; this was more frequent than in the overall perampanel-treated population (1.6%). Furthermore, aggression was reported as being one of the most common reasons (6.6%) for interruption or dose adjustment of the perampanel among adolescents during the extension phase (Rosenfeld *et al.*, 2015).

The other perampanel reports come from observational studies. Biró *et al.* published a retrospective analysis of 58 children (mean age 10.3 years, range 2–17 years) treated with perampanel (Biró *et al.*, 2015). Aggression was reported in eight (13.8%). Philip *et al.*, in a retrospective study of 18 patients (age range 4–19 years), reported behavioural change in only one patient (5.6%) (Philip *et al.*, 2014).

13. Phenobarbital

Four studies were identified for phenobarbital (Supplemental table S-2). Willis *et al.* carried out a neuropsychological and EEG study of 11 children with epilepsy aged 7 to 14 years treated with phenobarbital and mephobarbital (Willis *et al.*, 1997). They stated that parents reported clear behavioural changes in six of 11 subjects, including irritability, oppositional attitude and

overactivity. In four of the six the changes were relatively mild and the barbiturate was not discontinued.

In a large observational study that used parent questionnaires, Domizio *et al.* compared 197 children (66 male, 37 female, mean age 5.3 years) treated with phenobarbital, with 103 children (66 male, 37 female, mean age 6.4 years) who were treated with other antiepileptic drugs. In the phenobarbital group, 150 children (76.1%) had one or more behavioural disturbances, compared with 32 (31%) in the other group (p<0.0001). Hyperactivity was the most frequent behavioural disorder (Domizio *et al.*, 1993).

In a randomised study of four antiepileptic drugs: phenobarbital, phenytoin, carbamazepine and sodium valproate, de Silva *et al.* discontinued the phenobarbital arm after six of the first 10 children taking this drug had unacceptable AEs, which were primarily behavioural (de Silva *et al.*, 1996). In contrast, Pal *et al.* found no behavioural effects of phenobarbital (N=47) in a study in 94 children in India (Pal *et al.*, 1998).

14. Phenytoin

Although anecdotally phenytoin is associated with behavioural disturbance in young people, no firm published evidence for this was found (Supplemental table S-2). In the study in India referred to above, Pal *et al.* also found no behavioural effects of phenytoin in 47 children (Pal *et al.*, 1998). Krishnamoorthy *et al.* reported three cases of phenytoin-induced choreoathetosis associated with agitation/restlessness in three young children: two were two years of age and one was 15 months of age (Krishnamoorthy *et al.*, 1983).

15. Pregabalin

No evidence found.

16. Primidone

Despite the fact that primidone is partly metabolised to phenobarbital, no evidence of aggression in children and teenagers with primidone was found.

17. Retigabine

We identified only one study: Groening *et al.* treated 17 patients (1 year 10 months to 19 years) with retigabine for pharmacoresistant seizures (Supplemental table S-2). Results were analysed for 12 patients, and AEs included hallucinations, agitation and personality changes. Further details were not provided in this conference abstract (Groening *et al.*, 2012).

18. Rufinamide

In a recent consensus paper on rufinamide in childhood epilepsy by Coppola *et al.*, aggression and related behaviours were not reported among the adverse effects (Coppola *et al.*, 2014). There have been few other reports of behavioural adverse effects with rufinamide (Supplemental table S-2).

Coppola *et al.*, in a multicentre, prospective, add-on, observational study of rufinamide in 43 children, adolescents and adults with Lennox-Gastaut syndrome (26 male, 17 female, aged 4–34 years, mean 15.9 years), reported irritability/aggressiveness in three patients (6.9%) (Coppola *et al.*, 2010). In a separate observational study, the effects of rufinamide in encephalopathies other than Lennox-Gastaut syndrome were reported in 38 patients (19 male, 19 female, aged 4–34 years, mean age 13.7 years). Irritability/aggressiveness was seen in two patients (5.3%) (Coppola *et al.*, 2011).

Cusmai *et al.*, in a prospective, open-label, add-on trial in refractory epilepsy in 69 children and adolescents, reported irritability in 11 patients (15.9%) (Cusmai *et al.*, 2014). Lee *et al.*, in a

retrospective study in 23 patients in Korea (age range 4–22 years), reported aggressive behaviour in two patients (8.7%) (Lee *et al.*, 2013).

19. Stiripentol

One observational study was identified (Supplemental table S-2). Inoue *et al.* reported clinical results using stiripentol to treat Dravet syndrome in patients aged 1 to 22 years. Of 23 patients, six had hyperactivity/irritability early in treatment, which resolved with continued treatment or dose reduction. One patient (a 15-year-old girl) discontinued stiripentol because of early irritability (Inoue *et al.*, 2009).

20. Tiagabine

No evidence found.

21. Topiramate

Two large retrospective studies, together with several smaller studies and case studies were identified (Supplemental table S-2). Reith *et al.* reported data in 159 patients with epilepsy aged <18 years and taking topiramate. Follow-up was possible in 127 patients (0.5–17.9 years); aggression/psychosis was a treatment-limiting AE in 10 (7.9%) of these patients (Reith *et al.*, 2003). Grosso *et al.* treated 59 children aged \leq 2 years with topiramate for localisation-related and generalised epilepsies. Irritability was listed as one of the most frequent AEs, but precise rates were not given (Grosso *et al.*, 2005). During topiramate treatment, Lee *et al.* reported that four of 28 infants (14.3%) aged 2–18 months with West syndrome developed irritability (GM Lee *et al.*, 2011), and Endoh et al. reported that five of 33 children (15.2%) aged \leq 12 years with epileptic spasms developed irritability (Endoh *et al.*, 2012).

Metabolic acidosis is a known adverse effect of topiramate, and this can be associated with irritability/aggression (Ko and Kong, 2001). In patients taking topiramate who present with hyperpnoea or mental status change, metabolic acidosis must be excluded as a possible cause.

22. Valproic acid

Two studies were identified with sodium valproate in adolescent epilepsy populations (Supplemental table S-2). In a retrospective study of 100 children with epilepsy treated with sodium valproate, Egger and Brett reported aggressive behaviour in four (4%) (Egger and Brett, 1981).

Ronen *et al.* studied eight children (6 male, 2 female, aged 6–12 years), without clinical seizures but with abnormal EEGs and significant developmental learning disorder. While taking sodium valproate, the children were more distractible, had increased delay in response time and had lower memory scores. Their parents also reported higher internalising scores on the CBCL while the children were taking valproate (Ronen *et al.*, 2000). In contrast, sodium valproate and divalproex sodium are used extensively as mood-levelling drugs in both adults and children in non-epilepsy populations; for example, Hollander *et al.* reported that impulsivity and aggression were decreased in 14 patients with autism taking divalproex sodium as a psychotropic medication (Hollander *et al.*, 2000).

23. Vigabatrin

We found no RCTs of vigabatrin with behaviour-specific endpoints, and one observational study in children and adolescents that focused on behaviour (Supplemental table S-2). Sheth *et al.* reported that in 31 patients aged 1–22 years (mean age 12.6 years) with refractory focal and generalised seizures, add-on vigabatrin was associated with negative behaviour change in six

children (based on parent reports), with discontinuation in one patient with severe aggressive agitation, and positive behaviour change in one patient (Sheth *et al.*, 1996).

The remaining studies we identified relied on AE reporting from five observational studies, three case reports, and six studies in babies with infantile spasms (Supplemental table S-2). Gobbi *et al.* carried out a prospective study of vigabatrin monotherapy in the treatment of focal epilepsies in 40 children (mean age at last visit 7.5 years) compared with 40 children treated with carbamazepine monotherapy (Gobbi *et al.*, 1999). They stated that tolerability was good in the vigabatrin group but four of 37 patients had mild irritability at the end of the trial (*vs* none in the carbamazepine group). Raucci *et al.* studied 61 children with various types of epilepsy, treated with vigabatrin, 12 as monotherapy and 49 as add-on therapy (Raucci *et al.*, 1994). Vigabatrin was discontinued in six children because of adverse effects, including irritability.

In the first of three case studies, Weber et al. reported psychosis associated with vigabatrin in an adolescent girl with refractory symptomatic epilepsy following an early middle cerebral artery insult (Weber *et al.*, 2012). The onset of the psychosis was seven weeks after the vigabatrin was commenced, when she had been seizure-free for two weeks. They attributed this to the phenomenon of "forced normalisation", although it should, more accurately, be termed "alternative psychosis" or "reciprocal psychosis" – the situation when the psychosis is likely to occur when the seizure control has improved (see earlier). Two of the teenage patients of one of the current authors also developed psychosis with vigabatrin, which resolved with dose reduction or discontinuation (F Besag, personal communication). Cánovas Martínez *et al.* published a case of a seven-year-old boy with refractory epilepsy who developed an acute psychosis three days after rapid introduction of vigabatrin (Cánovas Martínez *et al.*, 1995). The psychosis resolved within 48 hours of discontinuing the vigabatrin. Re-commencement of the vigabatrin two months

later, using a slower dose escalation, was well tolerated with no return of the psychosis. Chiaretti *et al.* also published a single case report of psychosis with vigabatrin in a child (Chiaretti *et al.*, 1994).

The data in infantile spasms are not presented here, as AEs such as 'irritability' in young infants cannot be interpreted as aggression-related behaviours, but studies are listed in Supplemental table S-2.

24. Zonisamide

We identified one study with behaviour-specific outcomes, and five additional studies reporting behavioural AEs (Supplemental table S-2).

Eun *et al.* studied the neuropsychological and behavioural effects of low-dose and high-dose zonisamide, using a Korean version of the CBCL, in children aged 2–16 years receiving zonisamide monotherapy for newly diagnosed epilepsy (Eun *et al.*, 2011). Data were available on 63 patients (27 on low-dose and 36 on high-dose), and were presented as group data, so it is not possible to determine whether some patients became more aggressive and others less aggressive. Overall, they saw a significant improvement (P<0.05) in various parameters, including aggressive behaviour, in the low-dose group and a non-significant improvement in the high-dose group. No aggression-related or behaviour-related AEs were reported.

Cross *et al.* carried out a pooled analysis of 17 zonisamide studies in patients aged 16 years or younger, including four randomised, double-blind trials (Cross *et al.*, 2014). Irritability was reported in 5.8% of the 391 zonisamide-treated patients but was not among the AEs commonly leading to discontinuation. Irritability was somewhat more common (7.5%) in patients aged 6-11 years than in patients aged 12–16 years (<5%).

A Phase III study by Guerrini *et al.* was included in the meta-analysis by Cross *et al.*, so is not discussed in detail. No aggression-related AEs were reported in the zonisamide-treated group but one patient in the placebo group discontinued due to aggression (Guerrini *et al.*, 2013). In the subsequent long-term extension study, there were no behavioural AEs in patients continuing on zonisamide from the Phase III study but there were two cases of aggression (2.8%) in patients who switched from placebo to zonisamide during the extension (Guerrini *et al.*, 2014).

Coppola *et al.* carried out a prospective, add-on, open-label study of 82 young patients (45 male, 37 female, aged 3–34 years, mean age 13.1 years). Irritability was reported in nine patients (11.0%) but resolved in most cases with dose reduction. No other behavioural adverse effects were reported (Coppola *et al.*, 2009).

Hirai *et al.* treated 27 children who had idiopathic epilepsy with zonisamide in a prospective study, observing behavioural disturbance in two cases (7.4%) (Hirai *et al.*, 2002). One of the cases developed an obsessive-compulsive disorder. The other case, a 14-year-old girl with focal seizures, whose seizures were treated effectively with zonisamide from six years of age, developed selective mutism, violent behaviour and lack of concentration at 10 years of age. Decreasing the zonisamide dose was said to have maintained adequate seizure control while resolving the behavioural disturbance. Because of the long time-interval between the prescription of zonisamide and the development of the violent behaviour, the direct role of the antiepileptic drug is questionable in this case; a more likely explanation might be that the violent behaviour was an interaction between seizure control and developmental factors.

C. Conclusions

In most cases there is inadequate evidence to draw any firm conclusions about the aggressionrelated behavioural AEs associated with AEDs in children and teenagers. From the evidence that is available, however, it is suggested that children and adolescents who are treated with gabapentin, levetiracetam, perampanel (especially at higher doses), phenobarbital, sodium valproate, topiramate, and zonisamide are monitored closely for possible behavioural AEs. The most extensive evidence is for levetiracetam but the reports of both improvement and deterioration with this drug emphasise the need for monitoring each individual patient for positive or adverse effects of AEDs. Although there is credible evidence for psychosis developing with vigabatrin, this is more likely to be the phenomenon of "alternative" or "reciprocal" psychosis that might have occurred with any AED that achieved rapid seizure control and could probably have been avoided by starting at low doses and escalating the dose slowly. This emphasises the importance of excluding the confounding factors that have been described in detail elsewhere (Besag, 2001) before attributing behavioural or aggression-related AEs to an AED.

VII. Avoidance and management of AED-induced aggression

Although there is a limited amount of good-quality clinical data on aggression with AEDs in children, adolescents, and adults with epilepsy, it is becoming clear that there is increased propensity for some patients to develop aggression-related behaviour during treatment with some AEDs. In a recent survey, for example, 49% of 158 people with epilepsy treated with levetiracetam reported aggression as sometimes or always being a problem, whereas 39% of 260

patients taking other AEDs were aware of anger issues, and only 9% of 41 controls admitted to ever losing their temper (Wieshmann and Baker, 2013). Based on the evidence collected in this review (in sections V and VI), we can conclude that there is reasonable evidence of an increased risk of aggressive behaviours occurring in epilepsy patients treated with levetiracetam, perampanel and topiramate, and in children/adolescents that use of gabapentin, phenobarbital, sodium valproate, and zonisamide also carries some risk. What can we do to anticipate, identify and ameliorate aggressive-type behaviours that can occur with these AEDs?

When it comes to anticipating which patients may develop aggressive behaviours with AEDs, the evidence is very limited. Previous psychiatric history is a predictive factor in some studies, but certainly not all patients with a history of psychiatric illness or aggressive behaviour will go on to develop aggressive behaviour with higher-risk AEDs. However, when initiating treatment with any AED, a personal and, if possible, a family history of psychiatric disorders should be explored and documented. All patients should be asked whether or not they have a short temper, how often they lose it and what is the likely outcome. A similar question to accompanying partners and family members often elicits a different response, since some people are not aware that they have this problem or appreciate its extent. Any history of physical violence is of particular concern in this context. If the patient has had serious anger management issues in the past or has regularly demonstrated hostile or aggressive behaviour, it does not necessarily completely preclude using AEDs that have evidence for increased risk of aggressive behaviours, but such AEDs should be used with extreme caution or avoided altogether based on clinical judgement. The decision will involve weighing the risks of aggressive behaviours and their possible impact, against the risks of inadequate seizure control, and will be influenced by the other treatment options available to the patient. Alcohol and other stimulating agents can

exacerbate aggression and their effects should also be discussed with the patient, partner and family (Heinz *et al.*, 2011). Providing patients and/or carers with a medical contact number to call if inappropriate behaviour occurs is a sensible precaution, particularly in patients who admit to frequently losing their temper or to exhibiting aggressive behaviour. Regardless of the individual patient history, the potential for aggressive behaviour should be explained to patient and/or caregivers starting an AED associated with risk to aid early detection of any problems. Finally, documentation of this discussion in the case notes and in the correspondence with the patient's general practitioner should be considered as an integral part of good practice and as an essential precaution. The possibility of later medico-legal repercussions if a serious assault subsequently occurs underlines the importance not only of following good practice but also documenting it.

In general, slow titration should be used when possible, particularly when the patient is considered at risk of aggressive behaviour based on their psychiatric history or selection of AED.

Certain groups of patients require special attention. When introducing AEDs in teenagers, particularly those with juvenile myoclonic epilepsy, be aware that some patients will have a tendency to exhibit impulsive behaviour (Crespel *et al.*, 2013). Particular attention should also be paid to patients with intellectual disability , who cannot easily express their frustrations in an acceptable way, and those with dementia, who may demonstrate unexpected violent behaviour (Newman, 2012). The possibility of 'release phenomena' in patients with intellectual disability should also be considered (Besag, 2001). Some AEDs, such as the sodium channel blockers, carbamazepine, oxcarbazepine and, particularly, lamotrigine (Labiner *et al.*, 2009) or valproic acid, may be better choices in these situations (Comai, Tau, Pavlovic, *et al.*, 2012).

Another possibility to help anticipate aggressive responses is to use questionnaires to screen patients. There are a number of published and validated scoring systems for measuring aggression that could be used in patients with epilepsy (Silver and Yudofsky, 1991; Buss and Perry, 1992; Harris, 1995). An instrument for measuring irritability in people with epilepsy has also recently been published (Piazzini *et al.*, 2011).

If irritability, anger, hostility or aggressive behaviours do develop or worsen, managing these depends on their severity and the extent of the positive pharmacological response to the implicated AED. This consideration is particularly important in patients with severe pharmacoresistant epilepsy where other treatment options may be limited. Dose reduction of the most recently added AED should be considered. Reducing alcohol intake can also be a helpful step in ameliorating aggression. Often, however, the aggressive behaviour can only be stopped by discontinuing the AED. The decision whether or not to maintain AED treatment in this setting should be made in discussion with the patient, partner and family; again, this discussion should be documented in the patient's case notes. If the AED is continued, improvement in anger-related symptoms can occur with time, although this appears to be relatively uncommon, and anger management programmes can also be a helpful addition to the therapeutic regimen particularly in seizure-free patients. It is important to make the patient's general practitioner fully aware of the situation, stating which AED is implicated.

If the AED is continued, and/or the aggressive behaviour continues, then pharmacological management of the behaviour may be warranted. There is, however, no single pharmacological strategy recommended for the management of anger and aggression (Newman, 2012).

Antipsychotic, antidepressant and other psychotropic agents have all been used to ameliorate these behaviours (Alper *et al.*, 2002; Nevels *et al.*, 2010), and there is also evidence that mood stabilisers, such as carbamazepine, oxcarbazepine, phenytoin and lithium, are significantly better than placebo in reducing aggressive behaviour (Jones *et al.*, 2011). Pharmacological management of aggression can be complicated by pro-seizure effects of some psychotropic medications, particularly in higher doses (Varma *et al.*, 2011). Existing treatment for psychiatric comorbidities, particularly depression, anxiety, psychosis, panic attacks, bipolar symptoms and attention deficit disorder should be reviewed.

If the comorbid psychiatric symptoms are chronic and severe, it is advisable that the patient also remains under the care of an experienced psychiatrist. Managing psychiatric comorbidities is not always an attractive option for the neurologist, but this should be attempted if prompt management from a psychiatrist is not available and the symptoms are relatively mild and amenable to standard pharmacological intervention with widely used mood-stabilising drugs.

VIII. Overall summary

One of the major areas of interest in the management of epilepsy is the effect of psychiatric comorbidities on the choice of and response to AED therapy (Hitiris *et al.*, 2007). There is, of course, substantial overlap among their clinical presentations in the setting of newly diagnosed and refractory epilepsy (Lin *et al.*, 2012). There has been particular concern recently regarding the potential for some of these drugs to cause or worsen hostility and aggression with possible medicolegal consequences. This evidence-based review discusses for the first time the relationship between epilepsy, antiepileptic drugs and aggression, covering a wide range of

issues including definitions, psychiatric comorbidities and epilepsy, the neurobiology and pharmacology of aggression, evidence for each AED in causing or exacerbating this problem in children, adolescents and adults, and finally some suggestions for prevention and management. The main conclusion must be that better quality evidence and comparative studies are needed to clarify the link between AEDs and aggressive behaviour in patients with epilepsy. But based on the available evidence, some AEDs seem to be associated with higher risk than others, including clobazam, clonazepam, levetiracetam, perampanel, phenobarbital, tiagabine, topiramate, vigabatrin, and zonisamide, (in alphabetical order). The potential for aggressive behaviour should be explained to every patient starting on any of these drugs, particularly patients with known anger management issues. The AEDs with strongest evidence for a risk of aggressive behaviours are levetiracetam, perampanel and possibly topiramate, but the majority of patients taking these, and any other AEDs, will have no problems with aggressive behaviours. Involvement of partners and families is important, since many people are not aware that they have a short temper or that their demeanour could be perceived as aggressive. These issues should be taken into consideration when making the choice of AED therapy for all patients with newly diagnosed and chronic epilepsy. Future research should clarify the neurobiology of aggression and epilepsy and may help clinical decision-making and treatment selection to avoid problems with aggression in patients with epilepsy.

Acknowledgements

The authors acknowledge support from Kate Carpenter, funded by Eisai Europe Ltd, in conducting and collating searches, checking and extracting data, coordinating reviews, and editing and formatting the document. All authors drafted a portion of the review, reviewed drafts of the entire article, and approved the final version before submission

Authorship contributions

Conceived of the review concept and scope: Brodie. Wrote or contributed to the writing of the manuscript: Brodie (Introduction, Avoidance and management of AED-induced aggression, Overall summary), Ettinger (Aggressive behaviour in epilepsy: definitions), Mula (Aggressive behaviour in epilepsy: clinical aspects), Comai and Gobbi (Neurobiology and psychopharmacology of epilepsy and aggression), Aldenkamp and Steinhoff (Antiepileptic drugs and aggression in adults with epilepsy), Besag (Antiepileptic drugs and aggression in children and teenagers with epilepsy). Reviewed and proof-read the manuscript: Besag.

Disclosures

MJB has received honoraria for activity on scientific advisory boards for Eisai, UCB pharma, GlaxoSmithKline, Lundbeck, Bial, GW Pharmaceuticals and Takeda. He is on the speakers' bureau for Eisai, UCB pharma, GlaxoSmithKline and Lundbeck and has accepted travel grants for scientific meetings from Eisai, UCB pharma and Lundbeck.

ABE has received honoraria for advisory board activity from Eisai and Sunovion Pharmaceuticals.

MM has received honoraria from UCB Pharma, Eisai and Pfizer. He has also received supports from Special Products Ltd and is currently serving as Associate Editor of Epilepsy & Behavior.

GG has received honoraria for speaking engagements from Merck, Lilly and Astra-Zeneca. GG has also received grants from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR), the Canada Foundation for Innovation (CFI), and Fonds de recherche du Québec – Santé (FRQS).

SC has no relevant disclosures.

APA has received speaker fees from UCB pharma.

FB has attended a consensus meeting on rufinamide sponsored by Eisai. In the past (at least two years ago), he has attended and organised conferences supported by unrestricted educational grants from various pharmaceutical companies and has carried out research partly sponsored by a pharmaceutical company producing benzodiazepine drugs and by the company then producing lamotrigine.

BJS has received honoraria for speaking and/or advisory board activity from Braun Melsungen, Desitin, Eisai, GlaxoSmithKline, Marinus Pharmaceuticals, Medtronic, OmniaMed, Pfizer, PPD, UCB Pharma and Viropharm. His institution has participated in clinical trials supported by Bial, Cerbomed, Desitin, Eisai, GlaxoSmithKline, Marinus Pharmaceuticals, Novartis, Pfizer, SK Life Science, and UCB Pharma, and Upsher Smith.

References

- Almeida L, Minciu I, Nunes T, Butoianu N, Falcão A, Magureanu S-A, and Soares-da-Silva P (2008) Pharmacokinetics, efficacy, and tolerability of eslicarbazepine acetate in children and adolescents with epilepsy. *J Clin Pharmacol* 48:966–977.
- Alper KR, Barry JJ, and Balabanov AJ (2002) Treatment of psychosis, aggression, and irritability in patients with epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav EB* **3**:13–18.
- al-Tajir G, Chandler CJ, Starr BS, and Starr MS (1990) Opposite effects of stimulation of D1 and D2 dopamine receptors on the expression of motor seizures in mouse and rat. *Neuropharmacology* 29:657–661.
- American Psychiatric Association (2013) *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (DSM-5), 5th ed., American Psychiatric Association, Washington DC, USA.
- Amiri M, and Hansen CP (2015) The interictal dysphoric disorder in patients with epilepsy: A doubtful disorder lacking diagnostic tools. *Seizure* **24**:70–76.
- Armour DJ, Fidler C, Wright EC, and Balarajan S (1992) Vigabatrin in adults with poorlycontrolled epilepsy and learning disabilities. *Seizure* 1:157–162.
- Asberg M, Träskman L, and Thorén P (1976) 5-HIAA in the cerebrospinal fluid. A biochemical suicide predictor? *Arch Gen Psychiatry* **33**:1193–1197.
- Bach-y-Rita G, Lion JR, Climent CE, and Ervin FR (1971) Episodic dyscontrol: a study of 130 violent patients. *Am J Psychiatry* **127**:1473–1478.
- Baf MH, Subhash MN, Lakshmana KM, and Rao BS (1994) Sodium valproate induced alterations in monoamine levels in different regions of the rat brain. *Neurochem Int* **24**:67–72.
- Baker GA, and Marson AG (2001) Cognitive and behavioural assessments in clinical trials: what type of measure? *Epilepsy Res* **45**:163–167; discussion 169–170.
- Bannon SM, Salis KL, and Daniel O'Leary K (2015) Structural brain abnormalities in aggression and violent behavior. *Aggress Violent Behav* **25, Part B**:323–331.
- Banzel USPI (2015) Banzel US Prescribing Information, Eisai Inc.
- Barefoot J (1992) Developments in the Measurement of Histility, in *Hostility, Coping, and Health* (Friedman H ed) pp 13–31, APA Press, Washington DC, USA.
- Barker-Haliski M, and White HS (2015) Glutamatergic Mechanisms Associated with Seizures and Epilepsy. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med* **5**:a022863.
- Barratt E (2000) Barratt Impulsiveness Scale, Version 11 (BIS-11), in *Handbook of Psychiatric Measures* pp 691–692, American Psychiatric Publishing, Washington DC, USA.

- Bawden HN, Camfield CS, Camfield PR, Cunningham C, Darwish H, Dooley JM, Gordon K, Ronen G, Stewart J, and van Mastrigt R (1999) The cognitive and behavioural effects of clobazam and standard monotherapy are comparable. Canadian Study Group for Childhood Epilepsy. *Epilepsy Res* 33:133–143.
- Bean BP (2007) The action potential in mammalian central neurons. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **8**:451–465.
- Beaulieu J-M (2012) A role for Akt and glycogen synthase kinase-3 as integrators of dopamine and serotonin neurotransmission in mental health. *J Psychiatry Neurosci* **37**:7–16.
- Belozertseva IV, and Bespalov AY (1999) Effects of NMDA receptor channel blockade on aggression in isolated male mice. *Aggress Behav* **25**:381–396.
- Ben-Ari Y, and Holmes GL (2006) Effects of seizures on developmental processes in the immature brain. *Lancet Neurol* **5**:1055–1063.
- Berg AT, Berkovic SF, Brodie MJ, Buchhalter J, Cross JH, van Emde Boas W, Engel J, French J, Glauser TA, Mathern GW, Moshé SL, Nordli D, Plouin P, and Scheffer IE (2010)
 Revised terminology and concepts for organization of seizures and epilepsies: report of the ILAE Commission on Classification and Terminology, 2005-2009. *Epilepsia* 51:676–685.
- Besag FM (2001) Behavioural effects of the new anticonvulsants. Drug Saf 24:513-536.
- Besag FMC (1996) Gabapentin use with paediatric patients. *Rev Contemp Pharmacother* 7:233–238.
- Biederman J, Joshi G, Mick E, Doyle R, Georgiopoulos A, Hammerness P, Kotarski M, Williams C, and Wozniak J (2010) A prospective open-label trial of lamotrigine monotherapy in children and adolescents with bipolar disorder. *CNS Neurosci Ther* 16:91–102.
- Biró A, Stephani U, Tarallo T, Bast T, Schlachter K, Fleger M, Kurlemann G, Fiedler B, Leiz S, Nikanorova M, Wolff M, Müller A, Selch C, Staudt M, and Kluger G (2015)
 Effectiveness and tolerability of perampanel in children and adolescents with refractory epilepsies: first experiences. *Neuropediatrics* 46:110–116.
- Biton V, Berkovic SF, Abou-Khalil B, Sperling MR, Johnson ME, and Lu S (2014) Brivaracetam as adjunctive treatment for uncontrolled partial epilepsy in adults: a phase III randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Epilepsia* **55**:57–66.
- Biton V, Shneker B, Carreno M, Ben-Menachem E, Rocha F, Gama H, Blum D, and Claus R (2014) Analysis of psychiatric adverse events in three phase III controlled trials of eslicarbazepine acetate as adjunctive therapy for refractory partial onset seizures (Abstract 2.278). *Epilepsy Curr* 15:316.

- Bjork JM, Moeller FG, Kramer GL, Kram M, Suris A, Rush AJ, and Petty F (2001) Plasma GABA levels correlate with aggressiveness in relatives of patients with unipolar depressive disorder. *Psychiatry Res* **101**:131–136.
- Blumer D (1997) Antidepressant and double antidepressant treatment for the affective disorder of epilepsy. *J Clin Psychiatry* **58**:3–11.
- Blumer D, Montouris G, and Davies K (2004) The interictal dysphoric disorder: recognition, pathogenesis, and treatment of the major psychiatric disorder of epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav* **5**:826–840.
- Bonnycastle DD, Giarman NJ, and Paasonen MK (1957) Anticonvulsant compounds and 5hydroxytryptamine in rat brain. *Br J Pharmacol Chemother* **12**:228–231.
- Bootsma HPR, Coolen F, Aldenkamp AP, Arends J, Diepman L, Hulsman J, Lambrechts D, Leenen L, Majoie M, Schellekens A, and de Krom M (2004) Topiramate in clinical practice: long-term experience in patients with refractory epilepsy referred to a tertiary epilepsy center. *Epilepsy Behav* **5**:380–387.
- Born L, and Steiner M (1999) Irritability: the forgotten dimension of female-specific mood disorders. *Arch Womens Ment Health* **2**:153–167.
- Bouwknecht JA, Hijzen TH, van der Gugten J, Maes RAA, Hen R, and Olivier B (2001) Absence of 5-HT1B receptors is associated with impaired impulse control in male 5-HT1B knockout mice. *Biol Psychiatry* **49**:557–568.
- Bradford HF (1995) Glutamate, GABA and epilepsy. Prog Neurobiol 47:477-511.
- Brodie MJ (2010) Antiepileptic drug therapy the story so far. Seizure 19:650-655.
- Brodie MJ, Barry SJE, Bamagous GA, Norrie JD, and Kwan P (2012) Patterns of treatment response in newly diagnosed epilepsy. *Neurology* **78**:1548–1554.
- Brodie MJ, Lerche H, Gil-Nagel A, Elger C, Hall S, Shin P, Nohria V, Mansbach H, and RESTORE 2 Study Group (2010) Efficacy and safety of adjunctive ezogabine (retigabine) in refractory partial epilepsy. *Neurology* **75**:1817–1824.
- Brodkin ES, Goforth SA, Keene AH, Fossella JA, and Silver LM (2002) Identification of Quantitative Trait Loci That Affect Aggressive Behavior in Mice. *J Neurosci* 22:1165– 1170.
- Browne TR (1976) Clonazepam. A review of a new anticonvulsant drug. *Arch Neurol* **33**:326–332.
- Brown GL, Goodwin FK, Ballenger JC, Goyer PF, and Major LF (1979) Aggression in humans correlates with cerebrospinal fluid amine metabolites. *Psychiatry Res* 1:131–139.

Brown SW (1994) Quality of life--a view from the playground. Seizure 3 Suppl A:11–15.

Buss AH, and Perry M (1992) The aggression questionnaire. J Pers Soc Psychol 63:452-459.

- Campbell R (2009) *Campbell's Psychiatryc Dictionary*, 9th ed., Oxford University Press, Oxford, UK; New York, USA.
- Cánovas Martínez A, Ordovás Baines JP, Beltrán Marqués M, Escrivá Aparisi A, and Delgado Cordón F (1995) Vigabatrin-associated reversible acute psychosis in a child. *Ann Pharmacother* **29**:1115–1117.
- Caprara G, Barbaranelli C, and Comrey A (1992) A personological approach to the study of irritability and aggression. *Ind Diff* **13**:77–84.
- Cardenas JF, Rho JM, and Ng Y (2010) Reversible lamotrigine-induced neurobehavioral disturbances in children with epilepsy. *J Child Neurol* **25**:182–187.
- Carmichael K, Pulman J, Lakhan SE, Parikh P, and Marson AG (2013) Zonisamide add-on for drug-resistant partial epilepsy. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* **12**:CD001416.
- Cases O, Seif I, Grimsby J, Gaspar P, Chen K, Pournin S, Müller U, Aguet M, Babinet C, Shih JC, and De Maeyer E (1995) Aggressive Behavior and Altered Amounts of Brain Serotonin and Norepinephrine in Mice Lacking MAOA. *Science* **268**:1763–1766.
- Checknita D, Maussion G, Labonté B, Comai S, Tremblay RE, Vitaro F, Turecki N, Bertazzo A, Gobbi G, Côté G, and Turecki G (2015) Monoamine oxidase A gene promoter methylation and transcriptional downregulation in an offender population with antisocial personality disorder. *Br J Psychiatry* **206**:216–222.
- Chiaretti A, Castorina M, Tortorolo L, Piastra M, and Polidori G (1994) [Acute psychosis and vigabatrin in childhood]. *Pediatr Medica E Chir Med Surg Pediatr* **16**:489–490.
- Chien J (2011) Ethosuximide-induced mania in a 10-year-old boy. *Epilepsy Behav* 21:483–485.
- Cho C-H (2011) Frontier of Epilepsy Research mTOR signaling pathway. *Exp Mol Med* **43**:231–274.
- Chung S, Wang N, and Hank N (2007) Comparative retention rates and long-term tolerability of new antiepileptic drugs. *Seizure* **16**:296–304.
- Ciesielski A-S, Samson S, and Steinhoff BJ (2006) Neuropsychological and psychiatric impact of add-on titration of pregabalin versus levetiracetam: a comparative short-term study. *Epilepsy Behav* 9:424–431.
- Clonazepam SPC (2014) Clonazepam Summary of Product Characteristics., Rosement Pharmaceuticals Ltd.
- Coccaro EF, Harvey PD, Kupsaw-Lawrence E, Herbert JL, and Bernstein DP (1991) Development of neuropharmacologically based behavioral assessments of impulsive aggressive behavior. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci* **3**:S44–51.

- Coccaro EF, Lee R, and Vezina P (2013) Cerebrospinal fluid glutamate concentration correlates with impulsive aggression in human subjects. *J Psychiatr Res* **47**:1247–1253.
- Coccaro EF, Siever LJ, Klar HM, and et al (1989) Serotonergic studies in patients with affective and personality disorders: Correlates with suicidal and impulsive aggressive behavior. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* **46**:587–599.
- Coccaro E, Harvey P, Kupsaw-Lawrence E, and Bernstein D (2000) Anger, Irritability, and Assault Questionnaire, in *Handbook of Psychiatric Measures* pp 694–697, American Psychiatric Publishing, Washington DC, USA.
- Comai S, Tau M, and Gobbi G (2012) The psychopharmacology of aggressive behavior: a translational approach: part 1: neurobiology. *J Clin Psychopharmacol* **32**:83–94.
- Comai S, Tau M, Pavlovic Z, and Gobbi G (2012) The psychopharmacology of aggressive behavior: a translational approach: part 2: clinical studies using atypical antipsychotics, anticonvulsants, and lithium. *J Clin Psychopharmacol* **32**:237–260.
- Connor DF, Barkley RA, and Davis HT (2000) A pilot study of methylphenidate, clonidine, or the combination in ADHD comorbid with aggressive oppositional defiant or conduct disorder. *Clin Pediatr (Phila)* **39**:15–25.
- Connor DF, Fletcher KE, and Swanson JM (1999) A meta-analysis of clonidine for symptoms of attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry* **38**:1551–1559.
- Coppola G, Besag F, Cusmai R, Dulac O, Kluger G, Moavero R, Nabbout R, Nikanorova M, Pisani F, Verrotti A, von Stülpnagel C, and Curatolo P (2014) Current role of rufinamide in the treatment of childhood epilepsy: literature review and treatment guidelines. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol* **18**:685–690.
- Coppola G, Grosso S, Franzoni E, Veggiotti P, Zamponi N, Parisi P, Spalice A, Habetswallner F, Fels A, Capovilla G, Verrotti A, Mangano S, Balestri A, Curatolo P, and Pascotto A (2010) Rufinamide in children and adults with Lennox-Gastaut syndrome: first Italian multicenter experience. *Seizure* 19:587–591.
- Coppola G, Grosso S, Franzoni E, Veggiotti P, Zamponi N, Parisi P, Spalice A, Habetswallner F, Fels A, Verrotti A, D'Aniello A, Mangano S, Balestri A, Curatolo P, and Pascotto A (2011) Rufinamide in refractory childhood epileptic encephalopathies other than Lennox-Gastaut syndrome. *Eur J Neurol* 18:246–251.
- Coppola G, Grosso S, Verrotti A, Parisi P, Luchetti A, Franzoni E, Mangano S, Pelliccia A, Operto FF, Iannetti P, Curatolo P, Balestri P, and Pascotto A (2009) Zonisamide in children and young adults with refractory epilepsy: an open label, multicenter Italian study. *Epilepsy Res* **83**:112–116.
- Coyle H, Clough P, Cooper P, and Mohanraj R (2014) Clinical experience with perampanel: focus on psychiatric adverse effects. *Epilepsy Behav* **41**:193–196.

- Cramer JA, De Rue K, Devinsky O, Edrich P, and Trimble MR (2003) A systematic review of the behavioral effects of levetiracetam in adults with epilepsy, cognitive disorders, or an anxiety disorder during clinical trials. *Epilepsy Behav* **4**:124–132.
- Cramer JA, Hammer AE, and Kustra RP (2004) Improved mood states with lamotrigine in patients with epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav* **5**:702–707.
- Crawley JN, and Contrera JF (1976) Intraventricular 6-hydroxydopamine lowers isolationinduced fighting behavior in male mice. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* **4**:381–384.
- Crépel V, and Mulle C (2015) Physiopathology of kainate receptors in epilepsy. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* **20**:83–88.
- Crespel A, Gelisse P, Reed RC, Ferlazzo E, Jerney J, Schmitz B, and Genton P (2013) Management of juvenile myoclonic epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav* **28 Suppl 1**:S81–86.
- Cross JH, Auvin S, Patten A, and Giorgi L (2014) Safety and tolerability of zonisamide in paediatric patients with epilepsy. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol* **18**:747–758.
- Currie S, Heathfield KW, Henson RA, and Scott DF (1971) Clinical course and prognosis of temporal lobe epilepsy. A survey of 666 patients. *Brain* **94**:173–190.
- Cusmai R, Verrotti A, Moavero R, Curatolo P, Battaglia D, Matricardi S, Spalice A, Vigevano F, Pruna D, Parisi P, D'Aniello A, Di Gennaro G, and Coppola G (2014) Rufinamide for the treatment of refractory epilepsy secondary to neuronal migration disorders. *Epilepsy Res* **108**:542–546.
- Dascal N (2001) Ion-channel regulation by G proteins. Trends Endocrinol Metab 12:391-398.
- Davidson RJ, Putnam KM, and Larson CL (2000) Dysfunction in the neural circuitry of emotion regulation--a possible prelude to violence. *Science* **289**:591–594.
- de Almeida RMM, Ferrari PF, Parmigiani S, and Miczek KA (2005) Escalated aggressive behavior: dopamine, serotonin and GABA. *Eur J Pharmacol* **526**:51–64.
- de Boer HM, Mula M, and Sander JW (2008) The global burden and stigma of epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav* **12**:540–546.
- de la Loge C, Hunter SJ, Schiemann J, and Yang H (2010) Assessment of behavioral and emotional functioning using standardized instruments in children and adolescents with partial-onset seizures treated with adjunctive levetiracetam in a randomized, placebocontrolled trial. *Epilepsy Behav* **18**:291–298.
- Delgado-Escueta AV, Mattson RH, King L, Goldensohn ES, Spiegel H, Madsen J, Crandall P, Dreifuss F, and Porter RJ (1981) Special report. The nature of aggression during epileptic seizures. *N Engl J Med* **305**:711–716.

Depakene USPI (2015) Depakene US Prescribing Information, Abbevie Inc.

- de Silva M, MacArdle B, McGowan M, Hughes E, Stewart J, Neville BG, Johnson AL, and Reynolds EH (1996) Randomised comparative monotherapy trial of phenobarbitone, phenytoin, carbamazepine, or sodium valproate for newly diagnosed childhood epilepsy. *Lancet* **347**:709–713.
- Devinsky O (2003) Psychiatric comorbidity in patients with epilepsy: implications for diagnosis and treatment. *Epilepsy Behav EB* **4 Suppl 4**:S2–10.
- Devinsky O, and Bear D (1984) Varieties of aggressive behavior in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Am J Psychiatry* **141**:651–656.
- Dezsi G, Ozturk E, Stanic D, Powell KL, Blumenfeld H, O'Brien TJ, and Jones NC (2013) Ethosuximide reduces epileptogenesis and behavioral comorbidity in the GAERS model of genetic generalized epilepsy. *Epilepsia* **54**:635–643.
- Diacomit SPC (2014) Diacomit Summary of Product Characteristics., Biocodex.
- DiGiuseppe R, and Tafrate R (2007) *Understanding anger disorders*, Oxford University Press, New York, USA.
- Dinkelacker V, Dietl T, Widman G, Lengler U, and Elger CE (2003) Aggressive behavior of epilepsy patients in the course of levetiracetam add-on therapy: report of 33 mild to severe cases. *Epilepsy Behav EB* **4**:537–547.
- Dollard J, Doob L, Miller N, Mowrer O, and Sears R (1939) *Frustration and Aggression*, Institute of Human Relations, Yale University, CT, USA.
- Dolton E, and Choudry A (2014) Perampanel and challenging behaviour in intellectual disability and epilepsy: a management dilemma. *Case Rep Psychiatry* **2014**:409209.
- Domizio S, Verrotti A, Ramenghi LA, Sabatino G, and Morgese G (1993) Anti-epileptic therapy and behaviour disturbances in children. *Childs Nerv Syst* **9**:272–274.
- D'Souza J, Johnson M, and Borghs S (2012) Meta-analysis of non-psychotic behavioural treatment-emergent adverse events in brivaracetam and levetiracetam development programmes (abstract P402). *Epilepsia* **53 (Suppl. 5)**:118.
- Duncan GE, Moy SS, Perez A, Eddy DM, Zinzow WM, Lieberman JA, Snouwaert JN, and Koller BH (2004) Deficits in sensorimotor gating and tests of social behavior in a genetic model of reduced NMDA receptor function. *Behav Brain Res* 153:507–519.
- During MJ, and Spencer DD (1993) Extracellular hippocampal glutamate and spontaneous seizure in the conscious human brain. *Lancet* **341**:1607–1610.
- Edwards VE (1974) Side effects of clonazepam therapy. Proc Aust Assoc Neurol 11:199–202.
- Egger J, and Brett EM (1981) Effects of sodium valproate in 100 children with special reference to weight. *Br Med J* 283:577–581.

- Eisenschenk S, Krop H, and Devinsky O (2014) Homicide during postictal psychosis. *Epilepsy* Behav Case Rep 2:118–120.
- Elliott FA (1990) Neurology of aggression and episodic dyscontrol. Semin Neurol 10:303-312.
- Elliott FA (1984) The episodic dyscontrol syndrome and aggression. Neurol Clin 2:113–125.
- El Mestikawy S, Wallén-Mackenzie A, Fortin GM, Descarries L, and Trudeau L-E (2011) From glutamate co-release to vesicular synergy: vesicular glutamate transporters. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **12**:204–216.
- Elst LT van, Baeumer D, Lemieux L, Woermann FG, Koepp M, Krishnamoorthy S, Thompson PJ, Ebert D, and Trimble MR (2002) Amygdala pathology in psychosis of epilepsy. *Brain* **125**:140–149.
- Endler NS, and Hunt JM (1968) S-R inventories of hostility and comparisons of the proportions of variance from persons, responses, and situations for hostility and anxiousness. *J Pers Soc Psychol* **9**:309–315.
- Endoh F, Kobayashi K, Hayashi Y, Shibata T, Yoshinaga H, and Ohtsuka Y (2012) Efficacy of topiramate for intractable childhood generalized epilepsy with epileptic spasms: with special reference to electroencephalographic changes. *Seizure* **21**:522–528.
- Engel J, Pedley TA, and Aicardi J (2007) *Epilepsy: A Comprehensive Textbook*, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Epilim SPC (2013) Epilim Summary of Product Characteristics., Aventis Pharma Ltd.
- Ettinger AB (2006) Psychotropic effects of antiepileptic drugs. Neurology 67:1916–1925.
- Ettinger AB, Jandorf L, Berdia A, Andriola MR, Krupp LB, and Weisbrot DM (1996) Felbamate-induced headache. *Epilepsia* **37**:503–505.
- Ettinger AB, LoPresti A, Yang H, Williams B, Zhou S, Fain R, and Laurenza A (2015) Psychiatric and behavioral adverse events in randomized clinical studies of the noncompetitive AMPA receptor antagonist perampanel. *Epilepsia* **56**:1252–1263.
- Ettinger AB, Weisbrot DM, Saracco J, Dhoon A, Kanner A, and Devinsky O (1998) Positive and negative psychotropic effects of lamotrigine in patients with epilepsy and mental retardation. *Epilepsia* **39**:874–877.
- Ettinger AB, Yang H, Williams B, Zhou S, Fain R, and Laurenza A (2014) Review of psychiatric and behavioural events in perampanel clinical studies (abstract 1.146). *Epilepsy Curr* **14 (S1)**:67.
- Eun S-H, Kim HD, Eun B-L, Lee IK, Chung HJ, Kim JS, Kang H-C, Lee Y-M, Suh ES, Kim DW, Eom S, Lee JS, and Moon HK (2011) Comparative trial of low- and high-dose zonisamide as monotherapy for childhood epilepsy. *Seizure* 20:558–563.

- Fain R, Chung S, Yang H, Xing D, Williams B, and Laurenza A (2015) Aggression adverse events with concomitant levetiracetam use in perampanel phase III partial-onset seizure clinical studies (Abstract 2.288). *Epilepsy Curr* 15 (S1):321.
- Fava M (1997) Psychopharmacologic treatment of pathologic aggression. *Psychiatr Clin North Am* **20**:427–451.
- Feindel W, and Penfield W (1954) Localization of discharge in temporal lobe automatism. *AMA Arch Neurol Psychiatry* **72**:603–630.
- Felbatol USPI (2012) Felbatol US Prescribing Information, Meda Pharmaceuticals Inc.
- Fenwick P (1989) The nature and management of aggression in epilepsy. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci* 1:418–425.
- Feshbach S (1964) The function of aggression and the regulation of aggressive drives. *Psychol Rev* **71**:257–272.
- Fischer M, Korskjaer G, and Pedersen E (1965) Psychotic episodes in Zarondan treatment. Effects and side-effects in 105 patients. *Epilepsia* **6**:325–334.
- Flor-Henry P (1983) Determinants of psychosis in epilepsy: laterality and forced normalization. *Biol Psychiatry* **18**:1045–1057.
- French JA, Abou-Khalil BW, Leroy RF, Yacubian EMT, Shin P, Hall S, Mansbach H, Nohria V, and RESTORE 1/Study 301 Investigators (2011) Randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial of ezogabine (retigabine) in partial epilepsy. *Neurology* **76**:1555–1563.
- French JA, Costantini C, Brodsky A, von Rosenstiel P, and N01193 Study Group (2010) Adjunctive brivaracetam for refractory partial-onset seizures: a randomized, controlled trial. *Neurology* **75**:519–525.
- French JA, Krauss GL, Biton V, Squillacote D, Yang H, Laurenza A, Kumar D, and Rogawski MA (2012) Adjunctive perampanel for refractory partial-onset seizures: randomized phase III study 304. *Neurology* **79**:589–596.
- French JA, Krauss GL, Steinhoff BJ, Squillacote D, Yang H, Kumar D, and Laurenza A (2013) Evaluation of adjunctive perampanel in patients with refractory partial-onset seizures: results of randomized global phase III study 305. *Epilepsia* **54**:117–125.
- French JA, Krauss GL, Wechsler RT, Wang X-F, DiVentura B, Brandt C, Trinka E, O'Brien TJ, Laurenza A, Patten A, and Bibbiani F (2015) Perampanel for tonic-clonic seizures in idiopathic generalized epilepsy A randomized trial. *Neurology* 85:950–957.
- French J, Edrich P, and Cramer JA (2001) A systematic review of the safety profile of levetiracetam: a new antiepileptic drug. *Epilepsy Res* **47**:77–90.

Friedman DL, Kastner T, Plummer AT, Ruiz MQ, and Henning D (1992) Adverse behavioral effects in individuals with mental retardation and mood disorders treated with carbamazepine. *Am J Ment Retard* **96**:541–546.

Frisium SPC (2014) Frisium Summary of Product Characteristics., Aventis Pharma Ltd.

- Frye MA, Ketter TA, Kimbrell TA, Dunn RT, Speer AM, Osuch EA, Luckenbaugh DA, Cora-Ocatelli G, Leverich GS, and Post RM (2000) A placebo-controlled study of lamotrigine and gabapentin monotherapy in refractory mood disorders. *J Clin Psychopharmacol* 20:607–614.
- Fujiwara-Tsukamoto Y, Isomura Y, Nambu A, and Takada M (2003) Excitatory GABA input directly drives seizure-like rhythmic synchronization in mature hippocampal CA1 pyramidal cells. *Neuroscience* 119:265–275.

Fycompa SPC (2015) Fycompa Summary of Product Characteristics., Eisai Europe Ltd.

Fycompa USPI (2014) Fycompa US Prescribing Information, Eisai Inc.

Gabitril SPC (2014) Gabitril Summary of Product Characteristics., Cephalon Ltd.

Gabitril USPI (2010) Gabitril US Prescribing Information, Cephalon Inc.

- Galanopoulou AS (2008) GABAA Receptors in Normal Development and Seizures: Friends or Foes? *Curr Neuropharmacol* **6**:1–20.
- Gallagher D, and Herrmann N (2014) Antiepileptic drugs for the treatment of agitation and aggression in dementia: do they have a place in therapy? *Drugs* **74**:1747–1755.
- Gavatha M, Ioannou I, and Papavasiliou AS (2011) Efficacy and tolerability of oral lacosamide as adjunctive therapy in pediatric patients with pharmacoresistant focal epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav* **20**:691–693.
- Gedye A (1989) Episodic rage and aggression attributed to frontal lobe seizures. *J Ment Defic Res* **33 (Pt 5)**:369–379.
- Geerts A, Arts WF, Stroink H, Peeters E, Brouwer O, Peters B, Laan L, and van Donselaar C (2010) Course and outcome of childhood epilepsy: a 15-year follow-up of the Dutch Study of Epilepsy in Childhood. *Epilepsia* **51**:1189–1197.
- George DT, Rawlings RR, Williams WA, Phillips MJ, Fong G, Kerich M, Momenan R, Umhau JC, and Hommer D (2004) A select group of perpetrators of domestic violence: evidence of decreased metabolism in the right hypothalamus and reduced relationships between cortical/subcortical brain structures in position emission tomography. *Psychiatry Res* **130**:11–25.

- Gharedaghi MH, Seyedabadi M, Ghia J-E, Dehpour AR, and Rahimian R (2014) The role of different serotonin receptor subtypes in seizure susceptibility. *Exp Brain Res* **232**:347–367.
- Ghasemi M, and Schachter SC (2011) The NMDA receptor complex as a therapeutic target in epilepsy: a review. *Epilepsy Behav* **22**:617–640.
- Giancola PR (1995) EVidence for dorsolateral and orbital prefrontal cortical involvement in the expression of aggressive behavior. *Aggress Behav* **21**:431–450.
- Gidal BE, Ferry J, Majid O, and Hussein Z (2013) Concentration-effect relationships with perampanel in patients with pharmacoresistant partial-onset seizures. *Epilepsia* **54**:1490–1497.
- Giorgi FS, Pizzanelli C, Biagioni F, Murri L, and Fornai F (2004) The role of norepinephrine in epilepsy: from the bench to the bedside. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* **28**:507–524.
- Gobbi G, and Debonnel G (2003) What is a recommended treatment for aggression in a patient with schizophrenia? *J Psychiatry Neurosci* **28**:320.
- Gobbi G, Pini A, Bertani G, Menegati E, Tiberti A, Valseriati D, Besana D, Rasmini P, Guerrini R, Belmonte A, Veggiotti P, Resi C, Lanzi G, Capovilla G, Galeone D, and Milani S (1999) Prospective study of first-line vigabatrin monotherapy in childhood partial epilepsies. *Epilepsy Res* 35:29–37.
- Goddard GV, McIntyre DC, and Leech CK (1969) A permanent change in brain function resulting from daily electrical stimulation. *Exp Neurol* **25**:295–330.
- Gollan JK, Lee R, and Coccaro EF (2005) Developmental psychopathology and neurobiology of aggression. *Dev Psychopathol* **17**:1151–1171.
- Grafman J, Schwab K, Warden D, Pridgen A, Brown HR, and Salazar AM (1996) Frontal lobe injuries, violence, and aggression: a report of the Vietnam Head Injury Study. *Neurology* 46:1231–1238.
- Gregg TR, and Siegel A (2001) Brain structures and neurotransmitters regulating aggression in cats: implications for human aggression. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* **25**:91–140.
- Groening K, Dreiwes C, Stephani U, and Boor R (2012) Retigabine in children and adolescents with pharmacoresistant epilepsies documentation with the electronic treatment diary Epi-Vista(R). *Epilepsia* **53**:119–120.
- Grosso S, Galimberti D, Farnetani MA, Cioni M, Mostardini R, Vivarelli R, Di Bartolo RM, Bernardoni E, Berardi R, Morgese G, and Balestri P (2005) Efficacy and safety of topiramate in infants according to epilepsy syndromes. *Seizure* 14:183–189.

- Guerrini R, Rosati A, Bradshaw K, and Giorgi L (2014) Adjunctive zonisamide therapy in the long-term treatment of children with partial epilepsy: results of an open-label extension study of a phase III, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Epilepsia* 55:568–578.
- Guerrini R, Rosati A, Segieth J, Pellacani S, Bradshaw K, and Giorgi L (2013) A randomized phase III trial of adjunctive zonisamide in pediatric patients with partial epilepsy. *Epilepsia* **54**:1473–1480.
- Guilhoto LMFF, Loddenkemper T, Gooty VD, Rotenberg A, Takeoka M, Duffy FH, Coulter D, Urion D, Bourgeois BF, and Kothare SV (2011) Experience with lacosamide in a series of children with drug-resistant focal epilepsy. *Pediatr Neurol* **44**:414–419.
- Halma E, de Louw AJA, Klinkenberg S, Aldenkamp AP, IJff DM, and Majoie M (2014) Behavioral side-effects of levetiracetam in children with epilepsy: a systematic review. *Seizure* 23:685–691.
- Hanzel TE, Kalachnik JE, and Harder SR (1992) A case of phenobarbital exacerbation of a preexisting maladaptive behavior partially suppressed by chlorpromazine and misinterpreted as chlorpromazine efficacy. *Res Dev Disabil* **13**:381–392.
- Harris JA (1995) Confirmatory factor analysis of The Aggression Questionnaire. *Behav Res Ther* **33**:991–993.
- Hassel B, Taubøll E, Shaw R, Gjerstad L, and Dingledine R (2010) Region-specific changes in gene expression in rat brain after chronic treatment with levetiracetam or phenytoin. *Epilepsia* **51**:1714–1720.
- Heinz AJ, Beck A, Meyer-Lindenberg A, Sterzer P, and Heinz A (2011) Cognitive and neurobiological mechanisms of alcohol-related aggression. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 12:400– 413.
- Heisler LK, Chu HM, and Tecott LH (1998) Epilepsy and obesity in serotonin 5-HT2C receptor mutant mice. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **861**:74–78.
- Helmstaedter C, Fritz NE, Kockelmann E, Kosanetzky N, and Elger CE (2008) Positive and negative psychotropic effects of levetiracetam. *Epilepsy Behav* 13:535–541.
- Helmstaedter C, Mihov Y, Toliat MR, Thiele H, Nuernberg P, Schoch S, Surges R, Elger CE, Kunz WS, and Hurlemann R (2013) Genetic variation in dopaminergic activity is associated with the risk for psychiatric side effects of levetiracetam. *Epilepsia* **54**:36–44.
- Hemming K, Maguire MJ, Hutton JL, and Marson AG (2013) Vigabatrin for refractory partial epilepsy. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 1:CD007302.
- Hermann B, Jones J, Dabbs K, Allen CA, Sheth R, Fine J, McMillan A, and Seidenberg M (2007) The frequency, complications and aetiology of ADHD in new onset paediatric epilepsy. *Brain* **130**:3135–3148.

- Herzberg JL, and Fenwick PB (1988) The aetiology of aggression in temporal-lobe epilepsy. *Br J Psychiatry* **153**:50–55.
- Hesdorffer DC, Ishihara L, Mynepalli L, Webb DJ, Weil J, and Hauser WA (2012) Epilepsy, suicidality, and psychiatric disorders: a bidirectional association. *Ann Neurol* **72**:184–191.
- Heyman E, Lahat E, Levin N, Berkovitch M, and Gandelman-Marton R (2012) Preliminary efficacy and safety of lacosamide in children with refractory epilepsy. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol* **16**:15–19.
- Hirai K, Kimiya S, Tabata K, Seki T, Jozaki K, and Kumagai N (2002) Selective mutism and obsessive compulsive disorders associated with zonisamide. *Seizure* **11**:468–470.
- Hitiris N, Mohanraj R, Norrie J, Sills GJ, and Brodie MJ (2007) Predictors of pharmacoresistant epilepsy. *Epilepsy Res* **75**:192–196.
- Hollander E, Cohen L, and Simon L (2000) Impulse-Control Disorders, in *Handbook of Psychiatric Measures* pp 687–693, American Psychiatric Publishing, Washington DC, USA.
- Houser CR, Huang CS, and Peng Z (2008) Dynamic seizure-related changes in extracellular signal-regulated kinase activation in a mouse model of temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neuroscience* **156**:222–237.
- Houser CR, Zhang N, and Peng Z (2012) Alterations in the Distribution of GABAA Receptors in Epilepsy, in *Jasper's Basic Mechanisms of the Epilepsies* (Noebels JL et al. eds), National Center for Biotechnology Information (US), Bethesda (MD).
- Huband N, Ferriter M, Nathan R, and Jones H (2010) Antiepileptics for aggression and associated impulsivity. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* CD003499.
- Huber B, Bocchicchio M, Feuerbaum E, May T, Meinert T, Robertson E, Schorlemmer H, Wagner W, Wilking E, and Seidel M (2008) Efficacy and tolerability of pregabalin in patients with difficult-to-treat epilepsy and intellectual disability. *Epilepsy Behav* 13:397– 401.
- Hughes J, Devinsky O, Feldmann E, and Bromfield E (1993) Premonitory symptoms in epilepsy. *Seizure* **2**:201–203.
- Ikemoto S, and Panksepp J (1999) The role of nucleus accumbens dopamine in motivated behavior: a unifying interpretation with special reference to reward-seeking. *Brain Res Brain Res Rev* **31**:6–41.
- Inoue Y, Ohtsuka Y, Oguni H, Tohyama J, Baba H, Fukushima K, Ohtani H, Takahashi Y, and Ikeda S (2009) Stiripentol open study in Japanese patients with Dravet syndrome. *Epilepsia* **50**:2362–2368.

Inovelon SPC (2013) Inovelon Summary of Product Characteristics., Eisai Europe Ltd.

- Janjua NA, Itano T, Kugoh T, Hosokawa K, Nakano M, Matsui H, and Hatase O (1992) Familial increase in plasma glutamic acid in epilepsy. *Epilepsy Res* **11**:37–44.
- Jan MM, and Shaabat AO (2000) Clobazam for the treatment of intractable childhood epilepsy. *Neurosci Riyadh Saudi Arab* **5**:159–161.
- Jessberger S, Nakashima K, Clemenson GD, Mejia E, Mathews E, Ure K, Ogawa S, Sinton CM, Gage FH, and Hsieh J (2007) Epigenetic modulation of seizure-induced neurogenesis and cognitive decline. *J Neurosci* **27**:5967–5975.
- Jinde S, Zsiros V, and Nakazawa K (2013) Hilar mossy cell circuitry controlling dentate granule cell excitability. *Front Neural Circuits* 7:14.
- Jones RM, Arlidge J, Gillham R, Reagu S, van den Bree M, and Taylor PJ (2011) Efficacy of mood stabilisers in the treatment of impulsive or repetitive aggression: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Br J Psychiatry* **198**:93–98.
- Kalachnik JE, Hanzel TE, Sevenich R, and Harder SR (2002) Benzodiazepine behavioral side effects: review and implications for individuals with mental retardation. *Am J Ment Retard* **107**:376–410.
- Kandel E, Schwartz J, and Jessell T (2000) *Principles of Neural Science, Fourth Edition*, McGraw-Hill.
- Kanemoto K, Tadokoro Y, and Oshima T (2010) Violence and postictal psychosis: a comparison of postictal psychosis, interictal psychosis, and postictal confusion. *Epilepsy Behav* **19**:162–166.
- Kanemura H, Sano F, Ohyama T, Sugita K, and Aihara M (2014) Effect of levetiracetam on behavioral problems in pervasive developmental disorder children with epilepsy. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol* **18**:482–488.
- Kang BS, Moon HJ, Kim Y-S, Lee S-T, Jung K-H, Chu K, and Lee SK (2013) The long-term efficacy and safety of levetiracetam in a tertiary epilepsy centre. *Epileptic Disord* **15**:302–310.
- Kanner AM, Byrne R, Chicharro A, Wuu J, and Frey M (2009) A lifetime psychiatric history predicts a worse seizure outcome following temporal lobectomy. *Neurology* **72**:793–799.
- Kato H, Fukatsu N, Noguchi T, Oshima T, Tadokoro Y, and Kanemoto K (2011) Lamotrigine improves aggression in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav* **21**:173–176.
- Kaufman KR, Kugler SL, and Sachdeo RC (2002) Tiagabine in the Management of Postencephalitic Epilepsy and Impulse Control Disorder. *Epilepsy Behav EB* **3**:190–194.

Keppra SPC (2010) Keppra Summary of Product Characteristics., UCB Pharma.

Keppra USPI (2014) Keppra US Prescribing Information, UCB Inc.

- Khurana DS, Riviello J, Helmers S, Holmes G, Anderson J, and Mikati MA (1996) Efficacy of gabapentin therapy in children with refractory partial seizures. *J Pediatr* **128**:829–833.
- Kim JS, Kim H, Lim BC, Chae J-H, Choi J, Kim KJ, Hwang YS, and Hwang H (2014) Lacosamide as an adjunctive therapy in pediatric patients with refractory focal epilepsy. *Brain Dev* **36**:510–515.
- Klehm J, Thome-Souza S, Sánchez Fernández I, Bergin AM, Bolton J, Harini C, Kadish NE, Libenson M, Peters J, Poduri A, Rotenberg A, Takeoka M, Bourgeois B, and Loddenkemper T (2014) Clobazam: effect on frequency of seizures and safety profile in different subgroups of children with epilepsy. *Pediatr Neurol* 51:60–66.
- Kligman D, and Goldberg DA (1975) Temporal lobe epilepsy and aggression. *J Nerv Ment Dis* **160**:324–341.
- Klonopin USPI (2013) Klonopin US Prescribing Information, Genentech Inc.
- Klüver H, and Bucy P (1937) "Psychic blindness" and other symptoms following bilateral temporal lobectomy in Rhesus monkeys. *Am J Physiol* **119**:352–353.
- Kobow K, and Blümcke I (2014) Epigenetic mechanisms in epilepsy. *Prog Brain Res* **213**:279–316.
- Kobow K, and Blümcke I (2012) The emerging role of DNA methylation in epileptogenesis. *Epilepsia* **53**:11–20.
- Ko CH, and Kong CK (2001) Topiramate-induced metabolic acidosis: report of two cases. *Dev Med Child Neurol* **43**:701–704.
- Krakowski M (2003) Violence and serotonin: influence of impulse control, affect regulation, and social functioning. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci* **15**:294–305.
- Krauss GL, Bar M, Biton V, Klapper JA, Rektor I, Vaiciene-Magistris N, Squillacote D, and Kumar D (2012) Tolerability and safety of perampanel: two randomized dose-escalation studies. *Acta Neurol Scand* **125**:8–15.
- Krauss GL, Perucca E, Ben-Menachem E, Kwan P, Shih JJ, Clément J-F, Wang X, Bagul M, Gee M, Zhu J, and Squillacote D (2014) Long-term safety of perampanel and seizure outcomes in refractory partial-onset seizures and secondarily generalized seizures: results from phase III extension study 307. *Epilepsia* 55:1058–1068.
- Krishnamoorthy KS, Zalneraitis EL, Young RS, and Bernad PG (1983) Phenytoin-induced choreoathetosis in infancy: case reports and a review. *Pediatrics* **72**:831–834.
- Kugaya A, and Sanacora G (2005) Beyond monoamines: glutamatergic function in mood disorders. *CNS Spectr* **10**:808–819.

- Kwan P, Sills GJ, and Brodie MJ (2001) The mechanisms of action of commonly used antiepileptic drugs. *Pharmacol Ther* **90**:21–34.
- Kwan P, Trinka E, Van Paesschen W, Rektor I, Johnson ME, and Lu S (2014) Adjunctive brivaracetam for uncontrolled focal and generalized epilepsies: results of a phase III, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled, flexible-dose trial. *Epilepsia* **55**:38–46.
- Labiner DM, Ettinger AB, Fakhoury TA, Chung SS, Shneker B, Tatum Iv WO, Mitchell Miller J, Vuong A, Hammer AE, and Messenheimer JA (2009) Effects of lamotrigine compared with levetiracetam on anger, hostility, and total mood in patients with partial epilepsy. *Epilepsia* **50**:434–442.
- Lamictal SPC (2014) Lamictal Summary of Product Characteristics., GSK Ltd.
- Lamictal USPI (2014) Lamictal US Prescribing Information, GlaxoSmithKline.
- Lander CM, Donnan GA, Bladin PF, and Vajda FJ (1979) Some aspects of the clinical use of clonazepam in refractory epilepsy. *Clin Exp Neurol* **16**:325–332.
- Landolt H (1953) Some clinical electroencephalographical correlations in epileptic psychoses (twilight states). *Electroencephalogr Clin Neurophysiol* **5**:121–121.
- Leccese AP, Marquis KL, Mattia A, and Moreton JE (1986) The convulsant and anticonvulsant effects of phencyclidine (PCP) and PCP analogues in the rat. *Behav Brain Res* **19**:163–169.
- Lee DO, Steingard RJ, Cesena M, Helmers SL, Riviello JJ, and Mikati MA (1996) Behavioral side effects of gabapentin in children. *Epilepsia* **37**:87–90.
- Lee EH, Yum M-S, and Ko T-S (2013) Effectiveness and tolerability of rufinamide in children and young adults with Lennox-Gastaut syndrome: a single center study in Korea. *Clin Neurol Neurosurg* **115**:926–929.
- Lee GM, Lee KS, Lee EH, and Chung S (2011) Short term outcomes of topiramate monotherapy as a first-line treatment in newly diagnosed West syndrome. *Korean J Pediatr* **54**:380–384.
- Lee GP, Bechara A, Adolphs R, Arena J, Meador KJ, Loring DW, and Smith JR (1998) Clinical and physiological effects of stereotaxic bilateral amygdalotomy for intractable aggression. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci* **10**:413–420.
- Lee J-J, Song H-S, Hwang Y-H, Lee H-W, Suh C-K, and Park S-P (2011) Psychiatric symptoms and quality of life in patients with drug-refractory epilepsy receiving adjunctive levetiracetam therapy. *J Clin Neurol Seoul Korea* 7:128–136.
- Lee R, Petty F, and Coccaro EF (2009) Cerebrospinal fluid GABA concentration: relationship with impulsivity and history of suicidal behavior, but not aggression, in human subjects. J Psychiatr Res 43:353–359.

- Leicester J (1982) Temper tantrums, epilepsy and episodic dyscontrol. *Br J Psychiatry* **141**:262–266.
- Levinson DF, and Devinsky O (1999) Psychiatric adverse events during vigabatrin therapy. *Neurology* **53**:1503–1511.
- Lin JJ, Mula M, and Hermann BP (2012) Uncovering the neurobehavioural comorbidities of epilepsy over the lifespan. *Lancet* **380**:1180–1192.
- Li N, Lee B, Liu R-J, Banasr M, Dwyer JM, Iwata M, Li X-Y, Aghajanian G, and Duman RS (2010) mTOR-dependent synapse formation underlies the rapid antidepressant effects of NMDA antagonists. *Science* **329**:959–964.
- Linnoila M, Virkkunen M, Scheinin M, Nuutila A, Rimon R, and Goodwin FK (1983) Low cerebrospinal fluid 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid concentration differentiates impulsive from nonimpulsive violent behavior. *Life Sci* **33**:2609–2614.
- Loiseau P, Hardenberg JP, Pestre M, Guyot M, Schechter PJ, and Tell GP (1986) Double-blind, placebo-controlled study of vigabatrin (gamma-vinyl GABA) in drug-resistant epilepsy. *Epilepsia* **27**:115–120.
- Lopes MW, Soares FMS, de Mello N, Nunes JC, de Cordova FM, Walz R, and Leal RB (2012) Time-dependent modulation of mitogen activated protein kinases and AKT in rat hippocampus and cortex in the pilocarpine model of epilepsy. *Neurochem Res* **37**:1868– 1878.
- LoPresti A, Ettinger AB, Yang H, Williams B, Zhou S, Fain R, and Laurenza A (2014) Analysis of aggression in perampanel phase III epilepsy clinical trials (abstract 2.050). *Epilepsy Curr* **14** (**S1**):172–173.
- Löscher W, Klitgaard H, Twyman RE, and Schmidt D (2013) New avenues for anti-epileptic drug discovery and development. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* **12**:757–776.
- Loup F, Wieser HG, Yonekawa Y, Aguzzi A, and Fritschy JM (2000) Selective alterations in GABAA receptor subtypes in human temporal lobe epilepsy. *J Neurosci* **20**:5401–5419.
- Lynch BA, Lambeng N, Nocka K, Kensel-Hammes P, Bajjalieh SM, Matagne A, and Fuks B (2004) The synaptic vesicle protein SV2A is the binding site for the antiepileptic drug levetiracetam. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **101**:9861–9866.

Lyrica SPC (2015) Lyrica Summary of Product Characteristics., Pfizer Ltd.

- Lyrica USPI (2014) Lyrica US Prescribing Information, Pfizer Inc.
- Machnes ZM, Huang TCT, Chang PKY, Gill R, Reist N, Dezsi G, Ozturk E, Charron F, O'Brien TJ, Jones NC, McKinney RA, and Szyf M (2013) DNA methylation mediates persistent epileptiform activity in vitro and in vivo. *PloS One* **8**:e76299.

Maletzky BM (1973) The episodic dyscontrol syndrome. Dis Nerv Syst 34:178-185.

- Maletzky BM, and Klotter J (1974) Episodic dyscontrol: a controlled replication. *Dis Nerv Syst* **35**:175–179.
- Manuck SB, Flory JD, Ferrell RE, Mann JJ, and Muldoon MF (2000) A regulatory polymorphism of the monoamine oxidase-A gene may be associated with variability in aggression, impulsivity, and central nervous system serotonergic responsivity. *Psychiatry Res* **95**:9–23.
- Marsh L, and Krauss GL (2000) Aggression and violence in patients with epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav* **1**:160–168.
- Matsumoto K, Cai B, Satoh T, Ohta H, and Watanabe H (1991) Desipramine enhances isolationinduced aggressive behavior in mice. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* **39**:167–170.
- Matthies S, Rüsch N, Weber M, Lieb K, Philipsen A, Tuescher O, Ebert D, Hennig J, and van Elst LT (2012) Small amygdala-high aggression? The role of the amygdala in modulating aggression in healthy subjects. World J Biol Psychiatry Off J World Fed Soc Biol Psychiatry 13:75–81.
- Mbizvo GK, Dixon P, Hutton JL, and Marson AG (2014) The adverse effects profile of levetiracetam in epilepsy: a more detailed look. *Int J Neurosci* **124**:627–634.
- McConnell H, Snyder PJ, Duffy JD, Weilburg J, Valeriano J, Brillman J, Cress K, and Cavalier J (1996) Neuropsychiatric side effects related to treatment with felbamate. *J* Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 8:341–346.
- Meador KJ, Loring DW, Moore EE, Thompson WO, Nichols ME, Oberzan RE, Durkin MW, Gallagher BB, and King DW (1995) Comparative cognitive effects of phenobarbital, phenytoin, and valproate in healthy adults. *Neurology* **45**:1494–1499.
- Miczek KA, and Fish EW (2005) Monoamines, GABA, Glutamate, and Aggression, in *Biology* of Aggression (Nelson RJ ed) pp 114–149, Oxford University Press.
- Miczek KA, Fish EW, De Bold JF, and De Almeida RMM (2002) Social and neural determinants of aggressive behavior: pharmacotherapeutic targets at serotonin, dopamine and gamma-aminobutyric acid systems. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)* **163**:434–458.
- Mikkelsen B, Birket-Smith E, Bradt S, Holm P, BParm null, Lung M, Thorn I, Vestermark S, and Olsen PZ (1976) Clonazepam in the treatment of epilepsy. A controlled clinical trial in simple absences, bilateral massive epileptic myoclonus, and atonic seizures. *Arch Neurol* 33:322–325.
- Moldrich RX, Chapman AG, De Sarro G, and Meldrum BS (2003) Glutamate metabotropic receptors as targets for drug therapy in epilepsy. *Eur J Pharmacol* **476**:3–16.

- Monaco F, and Mula M (2011) Cesare Lombroso and epilepsy 100 years later: an unabridged report of his original transactions. *Epilepsia* **52**:679–688.
- Moshé SL, Perucca E, Ryvlin P, and Tomson T (2015) Epilepsy: new advances. *Lancet* **385**:884–898.
- Mpakopoulou M, Gatos H, Brotis A, Paterakis KN, and Fountas KN (2008) Stereotactic amygdalotomy in the management of severe aggressive behavioral disorders. *Neurosurg Focus* **25**:E6.
- Mula M, Agrawal N, Mustafa Z, Mohanalingham K, Cock HR, Lozsadi DA, and von Oertzen TJ (2015) Self-reported aggressiveness during treatment with levetiracetam correlates with depression. *Epilepsy Behav* 45:64–67.
- Mula M, and Trimble MR (2003) The importance of being seizure free: topiramate and psychopathology in epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav EB* **4**:430–434.
- Mula M, Trimble MR, Lhatoo SD, and Sander JWAS (2003) Topiramate and psychiatric adverse events in patients with epilepsy. *Epilepsia* 44:659–663.
- Mula M, Trimble MR, and Sander JW (2007) Are psychiatric adverse events of antiepileptic drugs a unique entity? A study on topiramate and levetiracetam. *Epilepsia* **48**:2322–2326.
- Mula M, Trimble MR, and Sander JWAS (2004) Psychiatric adverse events in patients with epilepsy and learning disabilities taking levetiracetam. *Seizure* **13**:55–57.
- Mula M, Trimble MR, Yuen A, Liu RSN, and Sander JW a. S (2003) Psychiatric adverse events during levetiracetam therapy. *Neurology* **61**:704–706.
- Nelson RJ, and Chiavegatto S (2001) Molecular basis of aggression. *Trends Neurosci* 24:713–719.
- Neurontin SPC (2013) Neurontin Summary of Product Characteristics., Pfizer Ltd.

Neurontin USPI (2013) Neurontin US Prescribing Information, Pfizer Inc.

- Nevels RM, Dehon EE, Alexander K, and Gontkovsky ST (2010) Psychopharmacology of aggression in children and adolescents with primary neuropsychiatric disorders: a review of current and potentially promising treatment options. *Exp Clin Psychopharmacol* **18**:184–201.
- New AS, Gelernter J, Goodman M, Mitropoulou V, Koenigsberg H, Silverman J, and Siever LJ (2001) Suicide, impulsive aggression, and HTR1B genotype. *Biol Psychiatry* **50**:62–65.
- Newman WJ (2012) Psychopharmacologic management of aggression. *Psychiatr Clin North Am* **35**:957–972.

- Niciu MJ, Ionescu DF, Richards EM, and Zarate CA (2014) Glutamate and its receptors in the pathophysiology and treatment of major depressive disorder. *J Neural Transm Vienna Austria 1996* **121**:907–924.
- Nicoletti F, Bruno V, Ngomba RT, Gradini R, and Battaglia G (2015) Metabotropic glutamate receptors as drug targets: what's new? *Curr Opin Pharmacol* **20**:89–94.
- Nomura S, Fujii M, Inoue T, He Y, Maruta Y, Koizumi H, Suehiro E, Imoto H, Ishihara H, Oka F, Matsumoto M, Owada Y, Yamakawa T, and Suzuki M (2014) Changes in glutamate concentration, glucose metabolism, and cerebral blood flow during focal brain cooling of the epileptogenic cortex in humans. *Epilepsia* **55**:770–776.
- Norden AD, and Blumenfeld H (2002) The role of subcortical structures in human epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav* **3**:219–231.
- Northam RS, Hernandez AW, Litzinger MJ, Minecan DN, Glauser TA, Mangat S, Zheng C, Souppart C, and Sturm Y (2005) Oxcarbazepine in infants and young children with partial seizures. *Pediatr Neurol* **33**:337–344.
- Olsen RW, and Tobin AJ (1990) Molecular biology of GABAA receptors. *FASEB J* **4**:1469–1480.
- Onfi USPI (2014) Onfi US Prescribing Information, Lundbeck.
- Onyike C, and Lyketsos C (2011) Aggression and Violence, in *Txtbook of Psychosomatic Medicine: Psychiatric Care of the Medically Ill* (Levenson J ed) pp 153–174, American Psychiatric Publishing, Washington DC, USA.
- Pal DK, Das T, Chaudhury G, Johnson AL, and Neville BG (1998) Randomised controlled trial to assess acceptability of phenobarbital for childhood epilepsy in rural India. *Lancet* **351**:19–23.
- Pandya NS, Vrbancic M, Ladino LD, and Téllez-Zenteno JF (2013) Epilepsy and homicide. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat* **9**:667–673.
- Paolicchi JM, Ross G, Lee D, Drummond R, and Isojarvi J (2015) Clobazam and Aggression-Related Adverse Events in Pediatric Patients With Lennox-Gastaut Syndrome. *Pediatr Neurol* **53**:338–342.
- Pardini DA, Raine A, Erickson K, and Loeber R (2014) Lower amygdala volume in men is associated with childhood aggression, early psychopathic traits, and future violence. *Biol Psychiatry* **75**:73–80.
- Pasini A, Tortorella A, and Gale K (1992) Anticonvulsant effect of intranigral fluoxetine. *Brain Res* **593**:287–290.

- Peng Z, Huang CS, Stell BM, Mody I, and Houser CR (2004) Altered expression of the delta subunit of the GABAA receptor in a mouse model of temporal lobe epilepsy. *J Neurosci* 24:8629–8639.
- Perez-Rodriguez MM, Hazlett EA, Rich EL, Ripoll LH, Weiner DM, Spence N, Goodman M, Koenigsberg HW, Siever LJ, and New AS (2012) Striatal activity in borderline personality disorder with comorbid intermittent explosive disorder: sex differences. J Psychiatr Res 46:797–804.
- Petrovski S, Szoeke CEI, Jones NC, Salzberg MR, Sheffield LJ, Huggins RM, and O'Brien TJ (2010) Neuropsychiatric symptomatology predicts seizure recurrence in newly treated patients. *Neurology* 75:1015–1021.
- Phenobarbital SPC (2013) Phenobarbital Summary of Product Characteristics., Actavis UK Ltd.
- Philip S, Concannon B, Morris D, Seri S, and Agrawal S (2014) Efficacy and tolerability of perampanel in pharmacoresistant epilepsy in children and young people (abstract p126). *Epilepsia* 55 (Supp. 2):47.
- Piazzini A, Turner K, Edefonti V, Bravi F, Canevini MP, LICE Irritability Group, and Ferraroni M (2011) A new Italian instrument for the assessment of irritability in patients with epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav* 21:275–281.
- Piedad J, Rickards H, Besag FMC, and Cavanna AE (2012) Beneficial and adverse psychotropic effects of antiepileptic drugs in patients with epilepsy: a summary of prevalence, underlying mechanisms and data limitations. *CNS Drugs* **26**:319–335.
- Piña-Garza JE, Elterman RD, Ayala R, Corral M, Mikati MA, Piña-Garza MJ, Warnock CR, Conklin HS, and Messenheimer JA (2008) Long-term tolerability and efficacy of lamotrigine in infants 1 to 24 months old. *J Child Neurol* 23:853–861.
- Pitkänen A, Tuunanen J, Kälviäinen R, Partanen K, and Salmenperä T (1998) Amygdala damage in experimental and human temporal lobe epilepsy. *Epilepsy Res* **32**:233–253.
- Porter RJ, Burdette DE, Gil-Nagel A, Hall ST, White R, Shaikh S, and DeRossett SE (2012) Retigabine as adjunctive therapy in adults with partial-onset seizures: integrated analysis of three pivotal controlled trials. *Epilepsy Res* **101**:103–112.
- Porter RJ, Partiot A, Sachdeo R, Nohria V, Alves WM, and 205 Study Group (2007) Randomized, multicenter, dose-ranging trial of retigabine for partial-onset seizures. *Neurology* **68**:1197–1204.
- Potiga USPI (2013) Potiga US Prescribing Information, GlaxoSmithKline.
- Pulliainen V, and Jokelainen M (1994) Effects of phenytoin and carbamazepine on cognitive functions in newly diagnosed epileptic patients. *Acta Neurol Scand* **89**:81–86.

- Qureshi IA, and Mehler MF (2010) Epigenetic mechanisms underlying human epileptic disorders and the process of epileptogenesis. *Neurobiol Dis* **39**:53–60.
- Raine A, Ishikawa SS, Arce E, Lencz T, Knuth KH, Bihrle S, LaCasse L, and Colletti P (2004) Hippocampal structural asymmetry in unsuccessful psychopaths. *Biol Psychiatry* 55:185– 191.
- Raol YH, Zhang G, Budreck EC, and Brooks-Kayal AR (2005) Long-term effects of diazepam and phenobarbital treatment during development on GABA receptors, transporters and glutamic acid decarboxylase. *Neuroscience* **132**:399–407.
- Ratner RA, and Shapiro D (1979) The episodic dyscontrol syndrome and criminal responsibility. *Bull Am Acad Psychiatry Law* 7:422–431.
- Raucci U, Spalice A, Basile LA, Guardalà C, Nasta L, Terenzi S, and Iannetti P (1994) [New drugs in the treatment of childhood epilepsy: vigabatrin (study of 61 subjects)]. *Pediatr Medica E Chir Med Surg Pediatr* 16:575–578.
- Razafsha M, Khaku A, Azari H, Alawieh A, Behforuzi H, Fadlallah B, Kobeissy FH, Wang KK, and Gold MS (2015) Biomarker identification in psychiatric disorders: from neuroscience to clinical practice. *J Psychiatr Pract* 21:37–48.
- Reith D, Burke C, Appleton DB, Wallace G, and Pelekanos J (2003) Tolerability of topiramate in children and adolescents. *J Paediatr Child Health* **39**:416–419.
- Ring HA, Trimble MR, Costa DC, Moriarty J, Verhoeff NP, and Ell PJ (1994) Striatal dopamine receptor binding in epileptic psychoses. *Biol Psychiatry* **35**:375–380.
- Robinson MK, Richens A, and Oxley R (1990) Vigabatrin and behaviour disturbances. *Lancet* **336**:504.
- Rodin EA (1973) Psychomotor epilepsy and aggressive behavior. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* **28**:210–213.
- Rogawski MA (2011) Revisiting AMPA receptors as an antiepileptic drug target. *Epilepsy Curr* Am Epilepsy Soc 11:56–63.
- Rogawski MA, and Löscher W (2004) The neurobiology of antiepileptic drugs. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **5**:553–564.
- Ronen GM, Richards JE, Cunningham C, Secord M, and Rosenbloom D (2000) Can sodium valproate improve learning in children with epileptiform bursts but without clinical seizures? *Dev Med Child Neurol* **42**:751–755.
- Rosenfeld W, Conry J, Lagae L, Rozentals G, Yang H, Fain R, Williams B, Kumar D, Zhu J, and Laurenza A (2015) Efficacy and safety of perampanel in adolescent patients with drug-resistant partial seizures in three double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase III randomized clinical studies and a combined extension study. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol* **19**:435–445.

- Ruuskanen I, Kilpeläinen HO, and Riekkinen PJ (1979) Side effects of sodium valproate during long-term treatment in epilepsy. *Acta Neurol Scand* **60**:125–128.
- Ryvlin P, Werhahn KJ, Blaszczyk B, Johnson ME, and Lu S (2014) Adjunctive brivaracetam in adults with uncontrolled focal epilepsy: results from a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Epilepsia* **55**:47–56.
- Sabril SPC (2014) Sabril Summary of Product Characteristics., Aventis Pharma Ltd.
- Sabril USPI (2013) Sabril US Prescribing Information, Lundbeck.
- Sackellares JC, Ramsay RE, Wilder BJ, Browne TR, and Shellenberger MK (2004) Randomized, controlled clinical trial of zonisamide as adjunctive treatment for refractory partial seizures. *Epilepsia* **45**:610–617.
- Sake J-K, Hebert D, Isojärvi J, Doty P, De Backer M, Davies K, Eggert-Formella A, and Zackheim J (2010) A pooled analysis of lacosamide clinical trial data grouped by mechanism of action of concomitant antiepileptic drugs. *CNS Drugs* **24**:1055–1068.
- Schachter S (2007) Aggression in epilepsy, in *Psychiatric Issues in Epilepsy A Practical Guide* to Diagnosis and Treatment pp 306–320, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, Philadelphia, USA.
- Scharfman HE (2007) The neurobiology of epilepsy. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep 7:348–354.
- Schiemann-Delgado J, Yang H, Loge C de la, Stalvey TJ, Jones J, Legoff D, and Mintz M (2012) A long-term open-label extension study assessing cognition and behavior, tolerability, safety, and efficacy of adjunctive levetiracetam in children aged 4 to 16 years with partial-onset seizures. *J Child Neurol* 27:80–89.
- Schlesinger K, Boggan W, and Freedman DX (1968) Genetics of audiogenic seizures: II. Effects of pharmacological manipulation of brain serotonin, norepinephrine and gamma-aminobutyric acid. *Life Sci* **7**:437–447.
- Schmitz B, and Trimble M (1992) Epileptic equivalents in psychiatry: some 19th century views. *Acta Neurol Scand Suppl* **140**:122–126.
- Schmitz D, Mellor J, and Nicoll RA (2001) Presynaptic kainate receptor mediation of frequency facilitation at hippocampal mossy fiber synapses. *Science* **291**:1972–1976.
- Seidenwurm D, Pounds TR, Globus A, and Valk PE (1997) Abnormal temporal lobe metabolism in violent subjects: correlation of imaging and neuropsychiatric findings. *Am J Neuroradiol* **18**:625–631.
- Shehata GA, Bateh AEM, Hamed SA, Rageh TA, and Elsorogy YB (2009) Neuropsychological effects of antiepileptic drugs (carbamazepine versus valproate) in adult males with epilepsy. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat* **5**:527–533.

- Sheth RD, Buckley D, Penney S, and Hobbs GR (1996) Vigabatrin in childhood epilepsy: comparable efficacy for generalized and partial seizures. *Clin Neuropharmacol* **19**:297–304.
- Sheth RD, Goulden KJ, and Ronen GM (1994) Aggression in children treated with clobazam for epilepsy. *Clin Neuropharmacol* **17**:332–337.
- Sheth RD, Ronen GM, Goulden KJ, Penney S, and Bodensteiner JB (1995) Clobazam for intractable pediatric epilepsy. *J Child Neurol* **10**:205–208.
- Shih JJ, and Ochoa JG (2009) A systematic review of antiepileptic drug initiation and withdrawal. *The Neurologist* **15**:122–131.
- Shouse MN, Scordato JC, Farber PR, and de Lanerolle N (2007) The alpha2 adrenoreceptor agonist clonidine suppresses evoked and spontaneous seizures, whereas the alpha2 adrenoreceptor antagonist idazoxan promotes seizures in amygdala-kindled kittens. *Brain Res* **1137**:58–68.
- Siever LJ (2008) Neurobiology of aggression and violence. Am J Psychiatry 165:429-442.
- Silver JM, and Yudofsky SC (1991) The Overt Aggression Scale: overview and guiding principles. *J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci* **3**:S22–29.
- Sloviter RS (1994) The functional organization of the hippocampal dentate gyrus and its relevance to the pathogenesis of temporal lobe epilepsy. *Ann Neurol* **35**:640–654.
- Sokolov BP, and Cadet JL (2006) Methamphetamine causes alterations in the MAP kinaserelated pathways in the brains of mice that display increased aggressiveness. *Neuropsychopharmacology* **31**:956–966.
- Spielberger C (1988) State-Trait Anger Expression Inventory Research Edition: Professional Manual, Psychological Assessment Resources, Odessa, FL, USA.
- Spielberger C (1996) *State-Trait Anger Expression Inventory: STAXI Professional Manual*, Psychological Assessment Resources, Odessa, FL, USA.
- Starr MS (1996) The role of dopamine in epilepsy. Synap N Y N 22:159–194.
- Stefulj J, Bordukalo-Niksic T, Hecimovic H, Demarin V, and Jernej B (2010) Epilepsy and serotonin (5HT): variations of 5HT-related genes in temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neurosci Lett* 478:29–31.
- Steinhoff BJ, Ben-Menachem E, Ryvlin P, Shorvon S, Kramer L, Satlin A, Squillacote D, Yang H, Zhu J, and Laurenza A (2013) Efficacy and safety of adjunctive perampanel for the treatment of refractory partial seizures: a pooled analysis of three phase III studies. *Epilepsia* 54:1481–1489.

- Steinhoff BJ, Hamer H, Trinka E, Schulze-Bonhage A, Bien C, Mayer T, Baumgartner C, Lerche H, and Noachtar S (2014) A multicenter survey of clinical experiences with perampanel in real life in Germany and Austria. *Epilepsy Res* **108**:986–988.
- Steinhoff B, Laurenza A, Yang H, and Satlin A (2014) Safety profile of perampanel as an adjunctive treatment for partial-onset seizures. *J Signs Symptoms* **3**:64–70.
- Stephen LJ, Sills GJ, and Brodie MJ (2000) Topiramate in refractory epilepsy: a prospective observational study. *Epilepsia* **41**:977–980.
- Stone JL, McDaniel KD, Hughes JR, and Hermann BP (1986) Episodic dyscontrol disorder and paroxysmal EEG abnormalities: successful treatment with carbamazepine. *Biol Psychiatry* **21**:208–212.
- Sumer MM, Atik L, Unal A, Emre U, and Atasoy HT (2007) Frontal lobe epilepsy presented as ictal aggression. *Neurol Sci* **28**:48–51.
- Sveinbjornsdottir S, Sander JW, Patsalos PN, Upton D, Thompson PJ, and Duncan JS (1994) Neuropsychological effects of tiagabine, a potential new antiepileptic drug. *Seizure* **3**:29–35.
- Swanson JW, Holzer CE, Ganju VK, and Jono RT (1990) Violence and psychiatric disorder in the community: evidence from the Epidemiologic Catchment Area surveys. *Hosp Community Psychiatry* **41**:761–770.
- Szczurowska E, and Mareš P (2013) NMDA and AMPA receptors: development and status epilepticus. *Physiol Res Acad Sci Bohemoslov* **62 Suppl 1**:S21–38.
- Takahashi A, Quadros IM, de Almeida RMM, and Miczek KA (2011) Brain serotonin receptors and transporters: initiation vs. termination of escalated aggression. *Psychopharmacology* (*Berl*) **213**:183–212.
- Takaya S, Ikeda A, Mitsueda-Ono T, Matsumoto R, Inouchi M, Namiki C, Oishi N, Mikuni N, Ishizu K, Takahashi R, and Fukuyama H (2014) Temporal lobe epilepsy with amygdala enlargement: a morphologic and functional study. *J Neuroimaging* **24**:54–62.
- Tallian KB, Nahata MC, Lo W, and Tsao CY (1996) Gabapentin associated with aggressive behavior in pediatric patients with seizures. *Epilepsia* **37**:501–502.
- Tartara A, Sartori I, Manni R, Galimberti CA, Di Fazio M, and Perucca E (1996) Efficacy and safety of topiramate in refractory epilepsy: a long-term prospective trial. *Ital J Neurol Sci* 17:429–432.
- Tegretol SPC (2014) Tegretol Summary of Product Characteristics., Novartis Pharmaceuticals Ltd.
- Tegretol USPI (2014) Tegretol US Prescribing Information, Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation.

- Terzian H, and Ore GD (1955) Syndrome of Klüver and Bucy; reproduced in man by bilateral removal of the temporal lobes. *Neurology* **5**:373–380.
- Teskey GC, Radford KS, Seif I, and Dyck RH (2004) MAO(A) knockout mice are more susceptible to seizures but show reduced epileptogenesis. *Epilepsy Res* **59**:25–34.
- Tharp BR (1972) Orbital frontial seizures. An unique electroencephalographic and clinical syndrome. *Epilepsia* **13**:627–642.
- Thoa NB, Eichelman B, Richardson JS, and Jacobowitz D (1972) 6-Hydroxydopa Depletion of Brain Norepinephrine and the Facilitation of Aggressive Behavior. *Science* **178**:75–77.
- Thomas L, and Trimble M (1996) The effects of vigabatrin on attention, concentration and mood: an investigation in healthy volunteers. *Seizure* **5**:205–208.
- Thomas L, Trimble M, Schmitz B, and Ring H (1996) Vigabatrin and behaviour disorders: a retrospective survey. *Epilepsy Res* **25**:21–27.
- Toczek MT, Carson RE, Lang L, Ma Y, Spanaki MV, Der MG, Fazilat S, Kopylev L, Herscovitch P, Eckelman WC, and Theodore WH (2003) PET imaging of 5-HT1A receptor binding in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neurology* **60**:749–756.
- Topamax SPC (2013) Topamax Summary of Product Characteristics., Janssen-Cilag Ltd.
- Topamax USPI (2014) Topamax US Prescribing Information, Janssen Pharmaceuticals Inc.
- Tran V, Hatalski CG, Yan XX, and Baram TZ (1999) Effects of blocking GABA degradation on corticotropin-releasing hormone gene expression in selected brain regions. *Epilepsia* 40:1190–1197.
- Treiman DM (1986) Epilepsy and violence: medical and legal issues. *Epilepsia* **27 Suppl 2**:S77–104.
- Treven M, Koenig X, Assadpour E, Gantumur E, Meyer C, Hilber K, Boehm S, and Kubista H (2015) The anticonvulsant retigabine is a subtype selective modulator of GABAA receptors. *Epilepsia* **56**:647–657.
- Trileptal SPC (2013) Trileptal Summary of Product Characteristics., Novartis Ltd.
- Trileptal USPI (2014) Trileptal US Prescribing Information, Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation.
- Trimble MR, and Schmitz B (1998) *Forced normalization and alternative psychoses of epilepsy.*, Wrightson Biomedical Publishing.

Trobalt SPC (2014) Trobalt Summary of Product Characteristics., Glaxo Group Ltd.

- Turski L, Cavalheiro EA, Bortolotto ZA, Ikonomidou-Turski C, Kleinrok Z, and Turski WA (1988) Dopamine-sensitive anticonvulsant site in the rat striatum. *J Neurosci* 8:4027–4037.
- Ueda Y, Tokashiki S, Kanemaru A, and Kojima T (2012) Effect of zonisamide co-administration with levodopa on global gene expression in the striata of rats with Parkinson's disease. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **428**:401–404.
- Valentin A, Moran N, Hadden R, Oakes A, Elwes R, Delamont R, Mullatti N, and Nashef L (2009) Pregabalin as adjunctive therapy for partial epilepsy: an audit study in 96 patients from the South East of England. *Seizure* **18**:450–452.
- van Elst LT, Woermann FG, Lemieux L, Thompson PJ, and Trimble MR (2000) Affective aggression in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy: a quantitative MRI study of the amygdala. *Brain* **123** (**Pt 2**):234–243.
- van Gelder NM, Janjua NA, Metrakos K, MacGibbon B, and Metrakos JD (1980) Plasma amino acids in 3/sec spike-wave epilepsy. *Neurochem Res* **5**:659–671.
- Van Liefferinge J, Jensen CJ, Albertini G, Bentea E, Demuyser T, Merckx E, Aronica E, Smolders I, and Massie A (2015) Altered vesicular glutamate transporter expression in human temporal lobe epilepsy with hippocampal sclerosis. *Neurosci Lett* **590**:184–188.
- Van Paesschen W, Hirsch E, Johnson M, Falter U, and von Rosenstiel P (2013) Efficacy and tolerability of adjunctive brivaracetam in adults with uncontrolled partial-onset seizures: a phase IIb, randomized, controlled trial. *Epilepsia* 54:89–97.
- Varma S, Bishara D, Besag FMC, and Taylor D (2011) Clozapine-related EEG changes and seizures: dose and plasma-level relationships. *Ther Adv Psychopharmacol* 1:47–66.
- Vekovischeva OY, Aitta-Aho T, Echenko O, Kankaanpää A, Seppälä T, Honkanen A, Sprengel R, and Korpi ER (2004) Reduced aggression in AMPA-type glutamate receptor GluR-A subunit-deficient mice. *Genes Brain Behav* **3**:253–265.
- Vimpat SPC (2014) Vimpat Summary of Product Characteristics., UCB Pharma.

Vimpat USPI (2014) Vimpat US Prescribing Information, UCB Inc.

- Virkkunen M, Nuutila A, Goodwin FK, and Linnoila M (1987) Cerebrospinal fluid monoamine metabolite levels in male arsonists. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* **44**:241–247.
- Vogl C, Tanifuji S, Danis B, Daniels V, Foerch P, Wolff C, Whalley BJ, Mochida S, and Stephens GJ (2015) Synaptic vesicle glycoprotein 2A modulates vesicular release and calcium channel function at peripheral sympathetic synapses. *Eur J Neurosci* 41:398– 409.
- Volavka J, Czobor P, Nolan K, Sheitman B, Lindenmayer J-P, Citrome L, McEvoy JP, Cooper TB, and Lieberman JA (2004) Overt aggression and psychotic symptoms in patients with

schizophrenia treated with clozapine, olanzapine, risperidone, or haloperidol. *J Clin Psychopharmacol* **24**:225–228.

- Vollrath M (2006) *Handbook of Personality and Health*, John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, UK; Hoboken, NJ, USA.
- Voronkova KV, Pylaeva OA, and Petrukhin AS (2007) Efficacy of topiramate (Topamax) in epileptic patients of different ages. *Neurosci Behav Physiol* **37**:547–551.
- Wang D, Szyf M, Benkelfat C, Provençal N, Turecki G, Caramaschi D, Côté SM, Vitaro F, Tremblay RE, and Booij L (2012) Peripheral SLC6A4 DNA methylation is associated with in vivo measures of human brain serotonin synthesis and childhood physical aggression. *PloS One* 7:e39501.
- Weber P, Dill P, and Datta AN (2012) Vigabatrin-induced forced normalization and psychosisprolongated termination of behavioral symptoms but persistent antiepileptic effect after withdrawal. *Epilepsy Behav* 24:138–140.
- Weintraub D, Buchsbaum R, Resor SR, and Hirsch LJ (2007) Psychiatric and behavioral side effects of the newer antiepileptic drugs in adults with epilepsy. *Epilepsy Behav* **10**:105–110.
- White JR, Walczak TS, Leppik IE, Rarick J, Tran T, Beniak TE, Matchinsky DJ, and Gumnit RJ (2003) Discontinuation of levetiracetam because of behavioral side effects: a case-control study. *Neurology* **61**:1218–1221.
- Wieshmann UC, and Baker GA (2013) Self-reported feelings of anger and aggression towards others in patients on levetiracetam: data from the UK antiepileptic drug register. *BMJ Open* **3**.
- Wieshmann UC, Tan GM, and Baker G (2011) Self-reported symptoms in patients on antiepileptic drugs in monotherapy. *Acta Neurol Scand* **124**:355–358.
- Willis J, Nelson A, Black FW, Borges A, An A, and Rice J (1997) Barbiturate anticonvulsants: a neuropsychological and quantitative electroencephalographic study. *J Child Neurol* 12:169–171.
- Woermann FG, van Elst LT, Koepp MJ, Free SL, Thompson PJ, Trimble MR, and Duncan JS (2000) Reduction of frontal neocortical grey matter associated with affective aggression in patients with temporal lobe epilepsy: an objective voxel by voxel analysis of automatically segmented MRI. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 68:162–169.
- Wolf SM, Shinnar S, Kang H, Gil KB, and Moshé SL (1995) Gabapentin toxicity in children manifesting as behavioral changes. *Epilepsia* **36**:1203–1205.
- Yamamoto T, Pipo JR, Akaboshi S, and Narai S (2001) Forced normalization induced by ethosuximide therapy in a patient with intractable myoclonic epilepsy. *Brain Dev* 23:62–64.

- Yang Y, Guo Y, Kuang Y, Wang S, Jiang Y, Ding Y, Wang S, and Ding M (2014) Serotonin 1A receptor inhibits the status epilepticus induced by lithium-pilocarpine in rats. *Neurosci Bull* **30**:401–408.
- Zaccara G, Giovannelli F, Cincotta M, Verrotti A, and Grillo E (2013) The adverse event profile of perampanel: meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Eur J Neurol* **20**:1204–1211.

Zarontin SPC (2014) Zarontin Summary of Product Characteristics., Pfizer Ltd.

Zarontin USPI (2012) Zarontin US Prescribing Information, Pfizer Inc.

Zebinix SPC (2014) Zebinix Summary of Product Characteristics., BIAL.

- Zetzsche T, Preuss UW, Frodl T, Schmitt G, Seifert D, Münchhausen E, Tabrizi S, Leinsinger G, Born C, Reiser M, Möller H-J, and Meisenzahl EM (2007) Hippocampal volume reduction and history of aggressive behaviour in patients with borderline personality disorder. *Psychiatry Res* **154**:157–170.
- Zhao F, Kang H, You L, Rastogi P, Venkatesh D, and Chandra M (2014) Neuropsychological deficits in temporal lobe epilepsy: A comprehensive review. *Ann Indian Acad Neurol* 17:374–382.

Zonegran SPC (2014) Zonegran Summary of Product Characteristics., Eisai Europe Ltd.

Zonegran USPI (2014) Zonegran US Prescribing Information, Concordia Inc.

Tables

<u>Table 1. Classification of aggressive symptoms according to their temporal relationship with</u> <u>seizures.</u>

| | Pre-ictal | Not reported | |
|-------------|----------------------|---|--|
| Peri-ictal | Ictal | Aggressive conduct in 1/1000 seizures recorded in monitorin | |
| | Post-ictal | units (Delgado-Escueta <i>et al.</i> , 1981) Post-ictal delirium/confusion | |
| | | Post-ictal psychoses (22.8% present with aggressive behaviours) | |
| Para-ictal | Forced normalisation | Rarely reported | |
| Inter-ictal | Inter-ictal | Up to 7% in unselected groups but due to the underlying psychiatric comorbidity | |

Table 2. AED targets and impact on aggression in non-epilepsy patients

| AED | Main system | Other possible | Epigenetic | Anti-aggressive |
|-----------------|--------------------------------------|----------------------------|-----------------|----------------------------------|
| | targeted | systems targeted | mechanisms/ | in psychiatric |
| | | | gene expression | patients ^{<i>a,b,c</i>} |
| Carbamazepine | Na ⁺ channels | | X | X |
| Eslicarbazepine | Na ⁺ channels | | X ^d | |
| acetate | | | | |
| Lacosamide | Na ⁺ channels | | | |
| Lamotrigine | Na ⁺ channels | Glutamate (AMPA | X | X |
| | | R) | | |
| Oxcarbazepine | Na ⁺ channels | | | X |
| Phenytoin | Na ⁺ channels | | X ^e | Х |
| Rufinamide | Na ⁺ channels | | | |
| Zonisamide | Na ⁺ and Ca ²⁺ | GABA | X ^f | |
| | channels | | | |
| Ethosuximide | T-type Ca ²⁺ channels | | | |
| Gabapentin | Ca ²⁺ channels | GABA, glutamate | | X |
| | | (NMDA R s) | | |
| Pregabalin | Ca ²⁺ channels | GABA | | |
| Retigabine | K ⁺ channels | GABA ^h | | |
| Felbamate | Mixed | Ca ²⁺ channels, | | |
| | | NMDA Rs, GABA | | |
| | | Rs | | |
| Topiramate | Mixed | GABA _A Rs, | X | X |
| | | AMPA/kainate Rs, | | |

| | | Na^+/Ca^{2+} channels | | |
|---------------|-----------------------------|------------------------------|----------------|---|
| Phenobarbital | GABA | | | |
| Clobazam/ | GABA (GABA _A -R) | | | Х |
| clonazepam | | | | |
| Vigabatrin | GABA | | X ^g | |
| Tiagabine | GABA | | | Х |
| Stiripentol | GABA | | | |
| Levetiracetam | Neurotransmitter | | Х | X |
| | release (via SV2A) | | | |
| Brivaracetam | Neurotransmitter | | | |
| | release (via SV2A) | | | |
| Perampanel | Glutamate (AMPA | | | |
| | Rs) | | | |
| Valproic acid | Mixed | GABA, Glutamate | Х | X |
| | | (NMDA, AMPA, and | | |
| | | kainate Rs), Na ⁺ | | |
| | | channels | | |

R: receptor.

Missing data from the table does not necessarily imply that there is no action on a specific target. In particular, research on the effects of novel and recent AEDs on epigenetic regulation and/or gene expression is still ongoing.

Unless otherwise specified, mechanism of action details may be found in the text of this review, in review articles (Rogawski and Löscher, 2004; Brodie, 2010; Comai, Tau, Pavlovic, *et al.*, 2012), and/or in the Summary of Product Characteristics for each individual AED.

^{*a*}(Comai, Tau, Pavlovic, *et al.*, 2012); ^{*b*}(Gallagher and Herrmann, 2014), ^{*c*}(Huband *et al.*, 2010); ^{*d*}(Dezsi *et al.*,

2013); ^e(Hassel et al., 2010); ^f(Ueda et al., 2012); ^g(Tran et al., 1999); ^h(Treven et al., 2015)

Table 3. Summary of aggression-related behaviour incidence and warnings, from AED labels

AEDs are listed in alphabetical order.

| AED | Aggression-related AEs (and incidence) | Other related text, warnings, or precautions | Epilepsy- | Source |
|---------------|--|---|-----------|---------------------|
| | | | specific? | |
| Carbamazepine | Aggression, agitation (rare: 0.01–0.1%) | "The possibility of activation of a latent psychosis and, in | No | (Tegretol SPC, |
| | | elderly patients, of confusion and agitation should be borne in | | 2014; Tegretol |
| | | mind" | | USPI, 2014) |
| Clobazam | | "aggressive behaviour towards self and others may be | No | (Frisium SPC, 2014; |
| | | precipitated" | | Onfi USPI, 2014) |
| | Irritability (7% with clobazam vs 5% with placebo) | | Yes (LGS) | (Onfi USPI, 2014) |
| | Aggression (8% with clobazam vs 5%) | | | |
| | Aggression (1 of the 6 AEs leading to clobazam | | | |
| | discontinuation) | | | |

| AED | Aggression-related AEs (and incidence) | Other related text, warnings, or precautions | Epilepsy- specific? | Source |
|-----------------|--|---|------------------------|---|
| Clonazepam | No incidence reported for aggression-related AEs | "Clonazepam generally has a beneficial effect on behaviour disturbances in epileptic patients. In certain cases, paradoxical effects such as aggressiveness , excitability, nervousness, hostility , anxiety, sleep disturbances, nightmares, vivid dreams, irritability , agitation , psychotic disorders and activation of new types of seizures may be precipitated." | Yes | (Clonazepam SPC, 2014) |
| | No incidence reported for aggression-related AEs | "131ehaviour problems have been noted in approximately 25% of patients" | Yes | (Klonopin USPI, 2013) |
| Eslicarbazepine | Agitation, irritability (uncommon: 0.1–1%) | | Yes | (Zebinix SPC, 2014) |
| Ethosuximide | Aggression, irritability (uncommon: 0.1–1%), psychiatric AEs are seen "particularly in patients who have previously exhibited psychological abnormalities" | | Yes | (Zarontin USPI, 2012; Zarontin SPC, 2014) |
| Felbamate | Aggressive behaviour , agitation (common: ≥1%) | | Yes | (Felbatol USPI, 2012) |

| AED | Aggression-related AEs (and incidence) | Other related text, warnings, or precautions | Epilepsy- | Source |
|---------------|---|--|-----------|--------------------|
| | | | specific? | |
| Gabapentin | Hostility (common: 1–10%) | | Yes | (Neurontin SPC, |
| | In children, aggressive behaviour is also common (1–10%) | | | 2013; Neurontin |
| | | | | USPI, 2013) |
| Lacosamide | Irritability (common: 1–10%) | | Yes | (Vimpat SPC, 2014; |
| | Aggression, agitation (uncommon: 0.1–1%) | | | Vimpat USPI, 2014) |
| Lamotrigine | Aggression, irritability (common: 1%–10%) | | No | (Lamictal SPC, |
| | | | | 2014) |
| | Irritability (3%, vs 2% with placebo, adjunctive use) | | Yes | (Lamictal USPI, |
| | Irritability (2–5%, monotherapy) | | | 2014) |
| Levetiracetam | Hostility/aggression, nervousness/irritability (common: 1– | | Yes | (Vimpat SPC, |
| | 10%) | | | 2014)(Keppra SPC, |
| | Anger, agitation (uncommon: 0.1–1%) | | | 2010) |
| | Behavioural AEs were more common in children/adolescents | | | |
| | than adults: agitation (3.4%); aggression (8.2%); irritability | | | |
| | (11.7%, children aged <4 years) | | | |

| AED | Aggression-related AEs (and incidence) | Other related text, warnings, or precautions | Epilepsy- | Source |
|---------------|--|--|-----------|-----------------|
| | | | specific? | |
| | Non-psychotic behavioural symptoms (LEV vs placebo): | Warnings and precautions: | Yes | (Keppra USPI, |
| | Adults (13.3 vs 6.2%) | "Behavioral abnormalities including psychotic symptoms, | | 2014) |
| | Paediatric (37.6 vs 18.6%) | suicidal ideation, irritability, and aggressive 133ehaviour have | | |
| | | been observed. Monitor patients for psychiatric signs and | | |
| | | symptoms" | | |
| Oxcarbazepine | Agitation (1–2%, vs 1% placebo) | | Yes | (Trileptal SPC, |
| | | | | 2013; Trileptal |
| | | | | USPI, 2014) |
| Perampanel | Adjunctive perampanel, occurrence in epilepsy clinical trials: | "Aggressive and hostile behaviour has been reported in | Yes | (Fycompa SPC, |
| | Aggression, anger, irritability (common: 1–10%) | patients receiving perampanel therapy. In perampanel-treated | | 2015) |
| | | patients in clinical trials, aggression, anger and irritability | | |
| | | were reported more frequently at higher doses. Most of the | | |
| | | reported events were either mild or moderate and patients | | |
| | | recovered either spontaneously or with dose adjustment. | | |
| | | However, thoughts of harming others, physical assault or | | |
| | | threatening behaviour were observed in some patients (< 1% in | | |
| | | perampanel clinical studies)." | | |

| AED | Aggression-related AEs (and incidence) | Other related text, warnings, or precautions | Epilepsy- | Source |
|---------------|--|--|-----------|---------------------|
| | | | specific? | |
| | Adjunctive perampanel, occurrence with 12 mg vs placebo in | "Serious or life-threatening psychiatric and 134ehaviour1341 | Yes | (Fycompa USPI, |
| | epilepsy clinical trials: | adverse reactions including aggression, hostility, irritability, | | 2014) |
| | Irritability: 12% vs 3% | anger, and homicidal ideation and threats have been reported | | |
| | Aggression: 3% vs 1% | in patients taking FYCOMPA. These reactions occurred in | | |
| | Anger: 3% <i>vs</i> <1% | patients with and without prior psychiatric history, prior | | |
| | | aggressive behaviour, or concomitant use of medications | | |
| | Total incidence of hostility- and aggression-related adverse | associated with hostility and aggression" | | |
| | reactions: | | | |
| | 20% with 12 mg; 12% with 8 mg; 6% with placebo | | | |
| Phenobarbital | AE rates are not given. The listing of undesirable effects | | Yes | (Phenobarbital SPC, |
| | includes: | | | 2013) |
| | "paradoxical reaction (unusual excitement)" | | | |
| | "behavioural disturbances in children" | | | |
| Phenytoin | No mention of aggression-related behaviour in the SPC or USP | I | | |
| Pregabalin | Irritability (common: 1–10%) | | No | (Lyrica SPC, |
| | Agitation, aggression, hostility (uncommon: 0.1–1%) | | | 2015)(Lyrica USPI, |
| | | | | 2014) |

| AED | Aggression-related AEs (and incidence) | Other related text, warnings, or precautions | Epilepsy- | Source |
|-------------|---|---|------------|---------------------|
| | | | specific? | |
| Retigabine | Aggression-related behaviours reported only in overdose | | Yes | (Potiga USPI, 2013; |
| | | | | Trobalt SPC, 2014) |
| Rufinamide | No aggression-related behaviours or adverse reactions are | | Yes | (Inovelon SPC, |
| | listed in the SPC | | | 2013) |
| | Aggression (3%, vs 2% with placebo) | | Yes | (Banzel USPI, |
| | | | | 2015) |
| Stiripentol | Aggressiveness, irritability (common: 1–10%) | | Yes | (Diacomit SPC, |
| | | | (children) | 2014) |
| Tiagabine | Hostility (2–5% vs 1–2% with placebo) | | Yes | (Gabitril USPI, |
| | Agitation (1% <i>vs</i> 0%) | | | 2010; Gabitril SPC, |
| | | | | 2014) |
| Topiramate | Irritability (>5%) | Aggression was more common in children than in adults | Mostly* | (Topamax SPC, |
| | Aggression, agitation, anger, abnormal behaviour, | | | 2013) |
| | irritability (common: 1–10%) | | | |

| AED | Aggression-related AEs (and incidence) | Other related text, warnings, or precautions | Epilepsy- | Source |
|---------------|--|--|-------------|--------------------|
| | | | specific? | |
| | Aggression, agitation (3%, vs 2% with placebo, clinical study | | Yes | (Topamax USPI, |
| | in adults) | | (individual | 2014) |
| | Aggression (2% vs 0% with placebo, clinical study in adults) | | epilepsy | |
| | Aggression (9%vs 4%, paediatric trials) | | clinical | |
| | | | trial data) | |
| Valproic acid | Aggression, agitation (common: 1–10%), predominantly in | | Yes | (Epilim SPC, 2013) |
| | children | | | |
| | No terms of interest are listed in the epilepsy clinical study | | Yes | (Depakene USPI, |
| | tables in the USPI. | | | 2015) |
| | Aggression, hostility, and irritability are listed as adverse | | | |
| | reactions reported in post-marketing experience (no incidence | | | |
| | given) | | | |

| AED | Aggression-related AEs (and incidence) | Other related text, warnings, or precautions | Epilepsy- | Source |
|------------|--|--|-----------|---------------------|
| | | | specific? | |
| Vigabatrin | <u>Paediatric:</u> Agitation (very common: ≥10%) | "Vigabatrin should be used with caution in patients with a | Yes | (Sabril SPC, 2014) |
| | <u>Adults:</u> Aggression, agitation, and irritability (common: 1– | history of psychosis, depression or behavioural problems. | | |
| | 10%) | Psychiatric events (e.g., agitation, depression, abnormal | | |
| | | thinking, paranoid reactions) have been reported during | | |
| | | vigabatrin treatment. These events occurred in patients with and | | |
| | | without a psychiatric history, and were usually reversible when | | |
| | | vigabatrin doses were reduced or gradually discontinued." | | |
| | <u>Adults:</u> Irritability (23% with 6000 mg vs 7% with placebo) | | Yes | (Sabril USPI, 2013) |
| | Adolescents: Aggression (5% vs 0% with placebo) | | | |
| | Infantile spasm: Irritability (16–23%) | | | |
| Zonisamide | Adjunctive use: | | Yes | (Zonegran SPC, |
| | Agitation, irritability (very common: >10%) | | | 2014) |
| | Anger, aggression (uncommon, 0.1–1%) | | | |
| | <u>Monotherapy:</u> | | | |
| | Agitation (common: 1–10%); aggression (uncommon) | | | |
| | Adjunctive use: | | Yes | (Zonegran USPI, |
| | Agitation/irritability (9% vs 4% with placebo) | | | 2014) |

| AED | Aggression-related AEs (and incidence) | Other related text, warnings, or precautions | Epilepsy- | Source | |
|--|--|--|-----------|--------|--|
| | | | specific? | | |
| *Predominantly epilepsy studies, but a minority of studies in migraine prophylaxis | | | | | |

Figure legends

Figure 1. Schematic representation of brain targets common to the neurobiology and pharmacology of epilepsy and aggression.

All of the targets illustrated in the figure are described in the main text. (A) Example of a prototypical excitatory (glutamate)/inhibitory (GABA) synapse modulating the activity of a forebrain postsynaptic neuron. Postsynaptic targets include glutamate (NMDA, AMPA and kainite receptors) and GABA_A receptors. SV2A is a membrane glycoprotein that regulates neurotransmitter release from secretory vesicles. Voltage-gated K⁺, Na⁺, Ca²⁺ channels modulate the action potential and resting membrane potential thus controlling neuronal firing activity. GABA transaminase catabolizes GABA into succinic semialdehyde.

(B) Schematic representation of synaptic interactions between serotonin, norepinephrine, and dopamine neurons with their projections to the forebrain postsynaptic neurons. On the presynaptic level, the autoreceptors mediating the inhibitory action of these three neurotransmitters are indicated. Notably, autoreceptors are targets for aggression treatment. The α_2 -adrenoceptor agonist clonidine is used to manage aggression; the D₂ autoreceptor antagonist haloperidol is an antipsychotic with anti-aggressive properties, and the 5-HT_{1A} autoreceptor agonist eltoprazine has demonstrated potent antiaggressive properties in preclinical studies. The enzyme monoamine oxidase (MAO), which catabolizes the monoamines dopamine, norepinephrine, and serotonin, is located on the outer membrane of mitochondria, and MAO inhibitors are widely used in mood disorders. On the postsynaptic level, the monoaminergic receptor subtypes implicated in the pathophysiology and pharmacology of epilepsy and aggression are indicated.

C) A schematic simplification of the Akt/GSK3 and mTOR signaling pathways is shown; these pathways are regulated by G-protein-coupled receptors, which may be involved in the neurobiology and in the treatment of both aggression and seizures. Furthermore, processes in the nucleus have also been implicated in aggression and epilepsy: DNA transcription, and epigenetic modifications of DNA such as methylation (Me) of the C-5 position of the cytosine ring, and histone modification (deacetylation of histones by histone deacetylases [HDAC]).

Figure 2. Brain regions that are important in both epilepsy and aggression

Schematic rendering of brain regions and nuclei involved in the neurobiology of both epilepsy and aggression. The role of each highlighted brain region/nuclei in epilepsy and aggression is discussed in the main text.